

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

UAB Theses & Dissertations

2022

Relationship Between Neighborhood Deprivation and Epigenetic Age Acceleration with Pain in Adults with Musculoskeletal Pain

Pamela Jackson University Of Alabama At Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Part of the Nursing Commons

Recommended Citation

Jackson, Pamela, "Relationship Between Neighborhood Deprivation and Epigenetic Age Acceleration with Pain in Adults with Musculoskeletal Pain" (2022). *All ETDs from UAB*. 181. https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/181

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN NEIGHBORHOOD DEPRIVATION AND EPIGENETIC AGE ACCELERATION WITH PAIN IN ADULTS WITH MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

by

PAMELA JACKSON

EDWIN N. AROKE, COMMITTEE CHAIR BUREL R. GOODIN BERTHA HIDALGO MIRJAM-COLETTE KEMPF PENG LI

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the graduate faculty of The University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN NEIGHBORHOOD DEPRIVATION AND EPIGENETIC AGE ACCELERATION WITH PAIN IN ADULTS WITH MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

PAMELA JACKSON

NURSING

ABSTRACT

Residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods shoulder a greater burden of agerelated health conditions, including experiencing worse chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes, compared to residents of more affluent neighborhoods. Advancing age is a risk factor for chronic health conditions, which epigenetic modifications may explain. Epigenetic age acceleration occurs when an individual's epigenetic age is older than their chronological age, and that discordance has been identified as a strong predictor of agerelated conditions. Epigenetic age acceleration has also been correlated with neighborhood deprivation. However, the mechanisms for neighborhood disparities in chronic musculoskeletal pain remain unclear. The purpose of this dissertation study was to examine the relationship between neighborhood deprivation, chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes, and epigenetic age acceleration in adults. This purpose was accomplished through three manuscripts: 1) a scoping review of neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age acceleration, 2) a secondary analysis, methodological study comparing a measure of neighborhood deprivation with other measures of socioeconomic status among adults with chronic low back pain, and 3) a secondary analysis which explored whether epigenetic age acceleration mediated the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity in adults with knee osteoarthritis pain. In the main findings of this dissertation study (manuscript three), we found that increased neighborhood

ii

deprivation was associated with increased pain severity and that epigenetic age acceleration may explain that relationship. These findings support future work on epigenetics and epigenetic age acceleration as a mechanism for the link between neighborhood and chronic musculoskeletal pain.

Keywords: neighborhood disparities, epigenetic aging, age-related health conditions, chronic musculoskeletal pain

DEDICATION

То

Emmy and Pavel

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

"The things to do are: the things that need doing, that *you* see need to be done, and that no one else seems to see need to be done." ~ Buckminster Fuller

Thank you to my ancestors. You did what you knew to do. I promise to do the same. And to my chosen family Norman and Andrew, for seeing me through the dark times.

Thanks to The Coalition, especially Shameka, T'Anya, Kristin, and TC, for your shining examples. I will try to do you proud, my sista-friends! To my ARC family. You welcomed me back when I needed it most. My PhD journey would not have been possible otherwise.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Yenisel Cruz-Almeida for your generosity during a critical time. Dr. Ladores, thank you for encouraging me to take the leap. You saw potential and I am grateful.

To Docena, Rindge Towers, and Ensley for helping me see what needs to be done.

Finally, this dissertation would not have been possible without the guidance of my mentors Drs. Goodin, Kempf, Li, Hidalgo, and especially Dr. Aroke.

v

Acknowledgment of Financial Support

This program of research was supported in part by the NIH/NIA (1R36AG077084; Jackson), the University of Alabama at Birmingham School of Nursing, the Alabama Nurses Foundation, and the Birmingham Black Nurses Association. The parent trial ERASED was supported by NIH/NIMHD (R01MD010441; Goodin), NIH/NIAMS (R01AR079178; Aroke), as well as the American Association of Nurse Anesthetists (2018-FS-4; Aroke). The parent trial UPLOAD was supported by the NIH/NIA (R01AG059809, R01AG067757; Cruz-Almeida and R37AG033906; Fillingim). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH or other funders.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
INTRODUCTION	1
Problem Statement	5
Background and Significance	6
Chronic Low Back Pain Classification	6
Knee Osteoarthritis Pain Classification	7
Neighborhood Deprivation and Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain	7
Epigenetics and Epigenetic Modifications	9
Epigenetics and Chronic Pain	10
Epigenetics of Chronic Low Back Pain and Knee Osteoarthritis	12
Epigenetic Age and Epigenetic Age Acceleration	14
Epigenetic Age and Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain	15
Epigenetic Age Acceleration and Neighborhood Deprivation	15
Summary	16
Purpose	17
Conceptual Framework	17
Overview of the Three Manuscripts	19
Manuscript 1– Neighborhood Environment and Epigenetic Age:	
A Scoping Review	19
Manuscript 2 – The Area Deprivation Index Corresponds Effectively	
With Other Measures of Objective Socioeconomic Status in Adults	
With Chronic Low Back Pain	20
Manuscript 3 – Epigenetic Age Acceleration Mediates the Relationship	
Between Neighborhood Deprivation and Pain Severity in Adults	
with Knee Osteoarthritis	21
Summary	

Key Terms	23
NEIGHBORHOOD ENVIRONMENT AND EPIGENETIC AGE: A SCOPING	
DEVIEW	27
THE AREA DEPRIVATION INDEX CORRESPONDS EFFECTIVELY	
WITH OTHER MEASURES OF OBJECTIVE SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS	
IN ADULTS WITH CHRONIC LOW BACK PAIN	65
EPIGENETIC AGE ACCELERATION MEDIATES THE RELATIONSHIP	
BETWEEN NEIGHBORHOOD DEPRIVATION AND PAIN SEVERITY	
IN ADULTS WITH KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS PAIN	99
CONCLUSIONS	130
Overview of Study Findings	130
Manuscript 1– Neighborhood Environment and Epigenetic Age:	
A Scoping Review	130
Manuscript 2 – The Area Deprivation Index Corresponds Effectively	
With Other Measures of Objective Socioeconomic Status in Adults	
With Chronic Low Back Pain	131
Manuscript 3 – Epigenetic Age Acceleration Mediates the Relationship	
Between Neighborhood Deprivation and Pain Severity in Adults	
with Knee Osteoarthritis	133
Integrated Interpretation of Findings	135
Strengths and Limitations	140
Implications for Future Research and Practice	141
Conclusions	143
	144
UENERAL LISI UF KEFEKENCES	144
APPENDIX	

Α	UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA AT BIRMINGHAM INSTITUTIONAL	
	REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL LETTER	164
В	DATA TRANSFER AND USE AGREEMENT	166

LIST OF TABLES

Table Page
NEIGHBORHOOD ENVIRONMENT AND EPIGENETIC AGE: A SCOPING REVIEW
1 General Characteristics of Reviewed Articles
THE AREA DEPRIVATION INDEX CORRESPONDS EFFECTIVELY WITH OTHER MEASURES OF OBJECTIVE SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS IN ADULTS WITH CHRONIC LOW BACK PAIN
1 Characteristics of Participants ($N = 104$)
2 Spearman Correlations Between Measures77
EPIGENETIC AGE ACCELERATION MEDIATES THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN NEIGHBORHOOD DEPRIVATION AND PAIN SEVERITY IN ADULTS WITH KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS PAIN
1 Characteristics of Participants ($N = 128$)
2 Spearman Correlations

LIST OF FIGURES

Fi	igure Page
	INTRODUCTION
1	Chronic Low Back Pain Weathering Hypothesis Theoretical Framework
	NEIGHBORHOOD ENVIRONMENT AND EPIGENETIC AGE: A SCOPING REVIEW
1	Study Search and Selection Process
2	Neighborhood-Level Variables Included in Relationship With Epigenetic Age43
3	Multivariate vs. Univariate Measurement of Neighborhood Characteristics
4	Distribution of Epigenetic Clocks
	THE AREA DEPRIVATION INDEX CORRESPONDS EFFECTIVELY WITH OTHER MEASURES OF OBJECTIVE SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS IN ADULTS WITH CHRONIC LOW BACK PAIN
1	Relationship of Objective and Subjective SES Measures and Chronic Low Back Pain
2	AIC and BIC Scores for SES Pain Severity and Pain Interference With SES Measures
3	Degree of Agreement Between ADI Deciles for 2013 and 2015
	EPIGENETIC AGE ACCELERATION MEDIATES THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN NEIGHBORHOOD DEPRIVATION AND PAIN SEVERITY IN ADULTS WITH KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS PAIN
1	Schematic of Mediation Model Including Neighborhood Deprivation (X), EpAA (M) and Pain Severity (Y)109

INTRODUCTION

Aging is a significant risk factor for many diseases, including chronic pain. In fact, age-related health conditions are the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the United States (U.S.) (Xu et al., 2020). Age-related health conditions are ailments whose prevalence increases as chronological age increases, typically emerging in middle age or older (Prasad et al., 2012). Chronic musculoskeletal pain is an age-related condition affecting about 1.7 billion people worldwide (Cieza et al., 2021; World Health Organization, 2022). Chronic low back pain (cLBP) and knee osteoarthritis (KOA) are common chronic musculoskeletal pain conditions estimated to impact 67% and 16% of older adults in the U.S., respectively (Deshpande et al., 2016; de Souza et al., 2019).

Chronic low back pain is defined as pain (either intermittent or continuous) that lasts 12 weeks or longer (Treede et al., 2015) and is associated with decreased productivity, major depression, and years lived with disability (Andersson, 1999; Gore et al., 2012; Hung et al., 2015; Stewart et al., 2003). Chronic low back pain also disrupts daily work and family activities and decreases the quality of life (Husky et al., 2018; Montgomery et al., 2016; Mutubuki et al., 2020). As cLBP severity increases, such disruptions likewise increase, with disability becoming more likely. Knee osteoarthritis is a degenerative joint disease (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022), with pain as the primary symptom (Favero et al., 2015; Neogi, 2013). Due to pain and concomitant stiffness, KOA is a major cause of disability (Litwic et al., 2013) that lowers the quality of life for those who

suffer from it (Kawano et al., 2015). In addition to tremendous suffering, cLBP and KOA produce combined annual expenses of over \$340 billion in the U.S. in treatment costs and lost wages (Arthritis Foundation, 2019; Lo et al., 2021).

Like other age-related chronic conditions (Christine et al., 2017; Durfey et al., 2019; Mujahid et al., 2011; Mujahid et al., 2008; Xiao et al., 2018), chronic pain disproportionately affects residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods (Fuentes et al., 2007; Green & Hart-Johnson, 2012; Jordan et al., 2008), including a greater risk for KOA pain (Reyes et al., 2015). High-deprivation neighborhoods have a high concentration of poverty and lack socioeconomic resource-based indicators such as high levels of employment and good-quality housing. These neighborhoods also lack many characteristics of the built environment that are needed to live a healthy life—like safety (Clark et al., 2013; Loh et al., 2018) and walkability (Bereitschaft, 2017), as well as access to healthcare (Tsui et al., 2020), healthy foods (Hallum et al., 2020), and organized physical activities (Cohen et al., 2012). In addition to the influence of such neighborhood characteristics on health behaviors and access to care, the chronic stress of living in a low-resource community may exert a physiological toll that results in worse chronic pain outcomes (Bonathan et al., 2013).

Epigenetic modifications have been proposed as a possible mechanism for developing and maintaining chronic pain (Aroke et al., 2019; Buchheit et al., 2012; Denk & McMahon, 2012; Descalzi et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2015). Epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation (DNAm), are a way in which the external or internal environment may turn genes "on" or "off," altering gene expression (Portela & Esteller, 2010). While differential DNAm plays a critical role in normal homeostasis, DNAm also

contributes to disease states (Robertson, 2005). So, variation in DNAm may explain variability in disease susceptibility (Aristizabal et al., 2020; Calvanese et al., 2009).

Differential DNAm has been shown to play a role in the pathophysiology of chronic pain (Descalzi et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2015). Several investigators have reported that differential DNAm of several genes has been associated with various pain conditions (Polli, Godderis, et al., 2020). For instance, *OPRM1* hypermethylation decreases opioid receptor expression. It predicts chronic postoperative pain (Chidambaran et al., 2017), while genes that control neuronal signaling (e.g., *BDNF*) and inflammation (e.g., *IL-17, TNF-* α) are differentially methylated in patients with fibromyalgia (Livshits et al., 2017; Polli, Ghosh, et al., 2020). Additionally, exposure to stressful environments such as situations of trauma, violence, and genocide has been associated with differential methylation, which explains susceptibility to pathological conditions such as depression and post-traumatic stress disorder (Morrison et al., 2019). This is salient because there is much overlap between stress and chronic pain (Abdallah & Geha, 2017), and residents of poor neighborhoods are exposed to more stress (Matheson et al., 2006; Steptoe & Feldman, 2001).

Age is a risk factor for chronic pain conditions (Kennedy et al., 2014), including cLBP (de Souza et al., 2019; Wong et al., 2017) and KOA (Blagojevic et al., 2010). In the U.S., the prevalence of cLBP among older adults ranges from 21%-70% (de Souza et al., 2019), and an estimated 37% of adults 60 years or older have KOA (Lawrence et al., 2008). However, chronological age may not represent the aging process precisely. While chronological age proceeds at a consistent rate for everyone (Beard & Bloom, 2015), individuals experience the aging process in different ways (Kotter-Grühn et al., 2015) and

at different rates (Ecker & Beck, 2019). Some septuagenarians may require assistance with activities of daily living (e.g., bathing, dressing), while others remain independent (Jylhävä et al., 2017). Compared to chronological age, which refers merely to the passage of time (Baker & Sprott, 1988; Hamczyk et al., 2020), biological age refers to physiological characteristics that indicate functional decline of the body. Biological age is postulated to be a more robust predictor of the health dimensions associated with advancing age (Ferrucci et al., 2020) and may predict the risk for age-related health conditions better than chronological age (Levine, 2013; Soriano-Tárraga et al., 2017).

Epigenetic age is an indicator of biological aging, capturing the impact of environmental factors across time on cellular and molecular function and potential disease risk (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath, 2013). Several DNAm-based approaches have been used to estimate an individual's epigenetic age. Depending on the approach, epigenetic age is estimated based on the extent of methylation at dozens or even hundreds of cytosine-phosphate-guanine (CpG) sites across the genome. The estimated epigenetic age usually correlates with chronological age. However, sometimes there is a difference between epigenetic age and chronological age. Epigenetic age acceleration (EpAA) describes an individual's biological age advancing faster than their chronological age (Mendelson, 2018). Epigenetic age acceleration has been identified as a strong predictor of all-cause mortality (Marioni et al., 2015; Yan Zhang et al., 2017) and age-related health conditions (Hillary et al., 2020; Perna et al., 2016), including chronic pain (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2019). Additionally, EpAA is exhibited among people with a lower social position in society (Austin et al., 2018; Fiorito et al., 2019; Fiorito et al., 2017; Quach et al., 2017; Simons et al., 2016). Though EpAA has been observed in many age-related

diseases, it remains unclear whether EpAA can explain the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and outcomes in chronic musculoskeletal pain.

Problem Statement

Aging is an important risk factor for many chronic musculoskeletal pain conditions, including cLBP and KOA pain (Vos et al., 2012; World Health Organization, 2022). Over 60% of older adults in the U.S. experience cLBP (de Souza et al., 2019), and KOA pain impacts an estimated 16% of the older American population (Deshpande et al., 2016). People living in some neighborhoods experience more cLBP and KOA pain, with residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods exhibiting more severe and disabling chronic pain (Fuentes et al., 2007; Green & Hart-Johnson, 2012; Jordan et al., 2008). However, the physiological pathways for these disparities are not well understood. This lack of understanding limits effective pain management, increasing the burden of pain and the associated costs. While advancing age is known to increase the risk for chronic musculoskeletal pain (Vos et al., 2012; World Health Organization, 2022), people do not age at the same pace (Ecker & Beck, 2019; Kotter-Grühn et al., 2015). Studies of chronic pain outcomes and investigations on exposure to stress have revealed DNAm variation, supporting the notion that differential DNAm may play a role in interacting with these phenomena. Epigenetic age acceleration is a measure of biological age based on DNAm that correlates strongly with age-related diseases, including chronic pain. However, it remains unclear if EpAA explains the higher rates of chronic musculoskeletal pain in individuals living in high-deprivation neighborhoods.

Background and Significance

Chronic Low Back Pain Classification

Chronic low back pain is defined as pain in the lower back that lasts 12 weeks or longer and results in pain on at least half the days in the past 6 months (Deyo et al., 2014; Treede et al., 2015). While advancing age is a significant risk factor for cLBP, psychosocial factors such as level of education and anxiety are also known risk factors in the development of cLBP (Patrick et al., 2014). Chronic low back pain can be classified as either specific or non-specific, distinguished by the presence of a known pathophysiologic mechanism (e.g., disc herniation, osteoporosis) or the absence of such (Ronai & Sorace, 2013). Thus, non-specific cLBP is lower back pain that cannot be attributable to a known pathoanatomical condition. Diagnosis of non-specific cLBP is primarily based on history and clinical examination; imaging studies are not recommended because of inconsistency in findings (Balagué et al., 2012). The development of non-specific cLBP is not thought to arise from mechanical factors (i.e., strain from lifting or pulling); rather, genetic factors likely play a role (Balagué et al., 2012), and epigenetic modifications have been implicated as a biological mechanism underlying the genesis and maintenance of chronic pain (Liang et al., 2015). Older age is a risk factor for cLBP (Chou, 2021). In a systematic review evaluating 35 studies from 135,059 participants worldwide, de Souza and colleagues (2019) found that an estimated 21%-70% of older adults suffer from low back pain, including 67% of U.S. older adults. While chronological age is one of the most significant known risk factors for developing cLBP (Wong et al., 2017), whether EpAA plays a role in its pathology remains unexplored.

Knee Osteoarthritis Pain Classification

Knee osteoarthritis is a degenerative joint disease characterized by progressive wearing away of the articular cartilage and associated subchondral bone (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022; Litwic et al., 2013). Pain is the primary symptom of KOA (Favero et al., 2015; Neogi, 2013), which tends to develop gradually and worsen over time (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022). Diagnosis can be made based on patient history and clinical features such as pain, morning stiffness, and crepitus with movement (Heidari, 2011a). Radiographic studies or magnetic resonance imaging may also be useful to determine the extent of the disease, such as the degree of joint involvement (e.g., bony enlargement) (Heidari, 2011a). Associated with the pain and stiffness characteristic of the disease, KOA is a major cause of disability (Cross et al., 2014), resulting in reduced quality of life for its sufferers (Kawano et al., 2015). Knee osteoarthritis is most likely to occur in older adults (Heidari, 2011b; Hsu & Siwiec, 2022), affecting approximately 16% of older U.S. adults. However, while chronological age as a risk factor is well known, recent evidence suggests that EpAA may also be a factor. In a comparison of adults with and without KOA pain, Cruz-Almeida et al. (2022) found that, on average, participants suffering from KOA pain exhibit significantly increased EpAA compared to the individuals without pain $(5.34 \pm 0.41 \text{ vs.} 1.12 \pm 0.30, p = 0.007).$

Neighborhood Deprivation and Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain

To explore the relationship between neighborhood deprivation, chronic musculoskeletal pain, and EpAA, an understanding of neighborhood deprivation is needed. A neighborhood refers to a spatially defined area that constitutes an individual's immediate residential environment created by a context of shared needs and opportunities (Chaskin, 1997; Diez Roux, 2001). Neighborhood deprivation refers to unfavorable physical and perceived characteristics of a neighborhood, such as low access to greenspace, physical activity facilities, and healthy food outlets, as well as decreased safety, poor quality housing, and a concentration of people with low socioeconomic status (SES) (Mouratidis, 2020; Ribeiro et al., 2018). Neighborhood deprivation has been linked to worse health outcomes, including central obesity (Hu et al., 2021), diabetes (Hu et al., 2021), breast cancer (Saini et al., 2019), the incidence of hypertension (Claudel et al., 2018), and the management of chronic conditions (Durfey et al., 2019).

Investigations of the impact of neighborhood deprivation on chronic musculoskeletal pain are a reasonably recent phenomenon, with the first study located in the literature published in 2002 (Brekke et al., 2002). The consensus across studies on musculoskeletal pain is that neighborhood deprivation is associated with worse pain outcomes (Giummarra et al., 2018; Jonsdottir et al., 2019; Jordan et al., 2008; Leue et al., 2012). For example, Ulirsch et al. (2014) found that, among 948 U.S. adults who had been involved in a motor vehicle accident, living in higher-deprivation neighborhoods was associated with greater musculoskeletal pain and interference with daily activities. Similarly, in a population-based study of 74,217 adults who had survived a vehicular crash, Giummarra et al. (2018) found that those living in higher-deprivation areas had greater rates of developing chronic pain than those living in lower-deprivation areas. This relationship holds for cLBP and KOA specifically as well. Yu and colleagues (2021) reported that among 72,009 individuals who were part of population-based general practices in the UK, a higher percentage of adults who sought treatment for moderate to

severe cLBP resided in high-deprivation neighborhoods (36.3%) in comparison to residents of the least deprived neighborhoods (24.8%). Similarly, in a population-based study including records for over 5 million residents of Catalonia, Spain, Reyes and colleagues (2015) reported that those living in the most deprived neighborhoods had an increased risk of KOA (Incidence Rate Ratio 1.51 [1.45-1.57]) compared to those living in the least deprived neighborhoods.

Epigenetics and Epigenetic Modifications

Epigenetics is the study of heritable changes in chromatin and gene expression without alterations in the underlying DNA sequence (Dupont et al., 2009). It examines how environmental stimuli change chromatin structure and function of cells to retain memories of past exposures. While there are several epigenetic changes (e.g., miRNA, long non-coding RNA, histone modifications), DNA methylation is the most well-studied epigenetic change (Lowe et al., 2015). DNA methylation refers to the covalent addition of a methyl group to the cytosine nucleotide of a DNA molecule. While some cytosine nucleotides on some genes (or segments of genes) are normally methylated, exposure to internal and external stimuli can change the level of DNA methylation, resulting in hyper or hypomethylated regions (Meaney, 2010). When hyper- or hypomethylation occurs at CpG sites (especially at CpG islands in the promotor region of a gene), these changes in DNAm may alter gene expression, thereby affecting gene function, with subsequent changes in the production of proteins controlled by the associated genes (Brockie et al., 2013). In this way, changes in the profile of DNA methylation may alter health outcomes (Brockie et al., 2013) and could help explain health disparities.

Differential DNA methylation has been shown to play a role in the mechanisms of chronic pain (Descalzi et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2015), and emerging evidence also suggests there are environmental differences in DNA methylation (Buchheit et al., 2012), which may explain neighborhood disparities in pain (Green & Hart-Johnson, 2012; Maly & Vallerand, 2018). Several investigators have reported differential DNAm of candidate genes as well as epigenome-wide differences in individuals with chronic pain (Achenbach et al., 2019; Bell et al., 2014; Chidambaran et al., 2017; Ciampi de Andrade et al., 2017; Gombert et al., 2019; Li Yim et al., 2016; Menzies et al., 2013; Sukenaga et al., 2016; Takenaka et al., 2020), including cLBP and KOA. This topic is discussed in more detail below.

Epigenetics and Chronic Pain

A growing body of literature is uncovering epigenetic mechanisms for the pathogenesis of chronic pain, particularly about DNAm differences. With regards to candidate gene studies, findings suggest that differences in the DNAm of specific genes related to pain are associated with pain conditions (Achenbach et al., 2019; Chidambaran et al., 2017; Gombert et al., 2019; Sukenaga et al., 2016; Takenaka et al., 2020). To date, most candidate gene studies on chronic pain have focused on two candidate genes, in particular: transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 (*TRPA1*) and mu-opioid receptor 1 (*OPRM1*), which play a role in pain modulation and analgesia (Peciña et al., 2015; Souza Monteiro de Araujo et al., 2020). The consensus among studies about DNAm of the *TRPA1* gene and pain is that pain is associated with hypermethylation of CpG sites of the *TRPA1* gene (Achenbach et al., 2019; Gombert et al., 2019; Sukenaga et al., 2019; Sukenaga et al., 2016;

Takenaka et al., 2020). For example, Sukenaga et al. (2016) found an increase in DNAm of the *TRPA1* gene at the cg01610488, chr8: 72987870 CpG island is significantly associated with an increase in the number of neuropathic pain symptoms (r = 0.82, p = 0.001). Similarly, Chidambaran et al. (2017) found that methylation of the *OPRM1* gene at CpG sites 13 (r = 0.067) and 22 (r = 0.036) is associated with chronic post-surgical pain (p < 0.05). However, not all studies agree. Hatfield et al. (2018) reported no difference in DNAm at the 5' end of the *OPRM1* gene when comparing healthy infants with infants exposed to painful stimuli (as part of treatment during admission to the neonatal intensive care unit).

Epigenome-wide association studies reveal differences in DNAm when comparing participants with a pain condition and healthy controls (Bell et al., 2014; Burri et al., 2016; Ciampi de Andrade et al., 2017; Li Yim et al., 2016; Menzies et al., 2013). For example, when comparing patients with Crohn's disease and age and gender-matched healthy controls, Li Yim et al. (2016) identified 4,287 differentially methylated positions (Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p < 0.05) located on genes that are enriched to immune response processes and inflammatory pathways. Another study by Ciampi de Andrade et al. (2017) found 1,610 differentially methylated positions (FDR < 0.05, delta-beta > 5%) between patients with fibromyalgia and healthy controls. These differentially methylated positions are associated with genes enriched in stress response pathways. Since chronic pain and stress are linked (Abdallah & Geha, 2017), enrichment of genes in stress response pathways supports the premise that the stress associated with living in highdeprivation neighborhoods could result in DNAm differences that impact pain outcomes.

Epigenetics of Chronic Low Back Pain and Knee Osteoarthritis

Regarding cLBP, in an epigenome-wide association study investigating DNAm differences in 50 adults with cLBP in comparison to 49 healthy controls, our team found 159 differentially methylated regions (q < 0.01, methylation difference > 10%) and that most of these regions are located in genes that function in biological processes associated with immune signaling, endochondral ossification (which is involved in bone formation during fracture healing), and G-protein coupled transmissions (G-proteins are involved in pain modulation) (Aroke et al., 2020). Another epigenome-wide study (n = 32) detected DNAm differences between groups of individuals with pain compared to pain-free controls, with 2,496 differentially methylated CpG sites found in women and 419 in men (Grégoire et al., 2021). Gene enrichment analysis of the differentially methylated sites revealed the associated genes had functions related to the histocompatibility complex (which plays a major role in the immune system) and DNA methyltransferases (enzymes that mediate the addition of a methyl group to a cytosine molecule (Grégoire et al., 2021; Lanata et al., 2018). In a candidate gene study, Tajerian and colleagues (2011) found that patients with severe low back exhibited increased methylation in the promoter region of the secreted protein, acidic, rich in cysteine (SPARC) gene compared to pain-free controls (p < 0.05). The SPARC protein functions in bone formation and wound healing (Bradshaw & Sage, 2001) and may be important in the pathogenesis of cLBP.

Hundreds of studies have been conducted on epigenetics and KOA in the last 5 years alone (Peffers et al., 2018; Reynard & Barter, 2020; Young et al., 2022). So, the following discussion on the epigenetics of KOA will be limited to an introduction to studies on DNAm. Most studies of DNAm and KOA have been conducted using

cartilage, subchondral bone, or synovium (Visconti et al., 2021). For example, Zhang and colleagues (2016) detected differentially methylated positions in the subchondral bone from knee joints of individuals with early-stage versus late-stage KOA. In their comparison, 397 significantly differentially methylated positions covering 135 genes were identified, 41.8% hypomethylated and 58.2% hypermethylated (Yanfei Zhang et al., 2016). Another study, by Aref-Eshghi et al. (2015), reported 72 differentially methylated regions in comparing knee cartilage from participants with KOA and cartilage from osteoarthritis-free controls. The identified regions were located in genes significantly enriched in skeletal system morphogenesis and development, suggesting a role in KOA pathophysiology (Aref-Eshghi et al., 2015). However, since this dissertation work examined the relationship between KOA pain and EpAA using epigenetic age estimated from DNA derived from peripheral whole blood, special attention was placed on locating studies that did *not* investigate DNAm differences in other tissues (e.g., cartilage).

Interestingly, there has been a lack of studies using peripheral blood to examine DNAm in KOA compared to osteoarthritis-free or knee pain-free participants. The first investigation appeared in the literature in 2019 (Dunn et al., 2019). In this study, based on a sample of 58 adults with progressively worsening KOA and 58 matched controls with KOA that was not progressing (as classified by radiograph), Dunn and colleagues (2019) determined that a DNAm-based model could distinguish between the progressors and non-progressors (Odds Ratio = 11 ± 2). While this study supports a link between KOA and DNAm, as the sole report, it can only demonstrate promise for future studies that will increase our understanding of KOA pathophysiology through investigating DNAm

differences. A discussion of the more specific relationship between epigenetic age and KOA is presented later.

Epigenetic Age and Epigenetic Age Acceleration

Even though chronological age is a risk factor for chronic pain (Kennedy et al., 2014), including cLBP (de Souza et al., 2019; Wong et al., 2017) and KOA (Heidari, 2011b), biological age is postulated to be a more robust predictor of the health dimensions associated with advancing age (Ferrucci et al., 2020), including morbidity and mortality (Levine, 2013; Soriano-Tárraga et al., 2017). Epigenetic age is an indicator of biological aging that captures the impact of environmental factors across time on cellular and molecular function and potential disease risk (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath, 2013). Several approaches (also called "clocks") have been developed that use levels of DNAm at selected CpG sites to estimate an individual's epigenetic age. Sometimes there is a difference between epigenetic age and chronological age. Epigenetic age acceleration describes a phenomenon where an individual's biological age is higher than their chronological age, whereas the opposite signifies inverse or slower epigenetic age acceleration (Mendelson, 2018). Studies have suggested that EpAA is a strong predictor of all-cause mortality (Marioni et al., 2015; Yan Zhang et al., 2017) and age-related health conditions (Hillary et al., 2020; Horvath & Raj, 2018; Irvin et al., 2018; Perna et al., 2016), including chronic pain (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2019). Additionally, EpAA was reported to be associated with a lower social position in society (Austin et al., 2018; Fiorito et al., 2017; Simons et al., 2016).

Epigenetic Age and Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain

To date, few studies have investigated epigenetic age and chronic musculoskeletal pain, with only one study specifically involving KOA (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2022) and none examining cLBP. Studies that have examined EpAA and musculoskeletal pain have had conflicting results. In a study of 29 older adults with and without chronic pain, Cruz-Almeida et al. (2019) found that participants with chronic pain (n = 20) had "older" epigenetic age than participants without chronic pain (n = 9, p < 0.05). Another study by researcher Cruz-Almeida (2022) reported a link between EpAA and KOA pain outcomes in a larger, more diverse sample of participants (n = 213). Specifically, participants with more disabling knee pain on average were epigenetically older by 3.6 years compared to those with less disabling knee pain and 4.2 years older than pain-free controls, using the GrimAge clock (p < 0.01). In contrast, Kwiatkowska et al. (2020) found no statistically significant difference in EpAA between participants with various pain conditions (fibromyalgia, migraine, and medication overuse headache) compared to healthy controls. Interestingly, these investigators used five different epigenetic clocks, including the Horvath clock (Kwiatkowska et al., 2020).

Epigenetic Age Acceleration and Neighborhood Deprivation

While the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age is a burgeoning area of study, overall, the evidence suggests that there is an association between EpAA and neighborhood deprivation in adults (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). In a study of 100 Black women, Lei et al. (2019) found that neighborhood deprivation is significantly

associated with EpAA ($\beta = 0.237$, p = 0.023). Likewise, Lawrence et al. (2020) reported that among 2,630 White women, those with the greatest neighborhood deprivation (>75th percentile) had higher EpAA compared to those with the least (25th percentile) neighborhood deprivation ($\beta = 0.23$; 95% CI 0.01 – 0.45). Another recent study by Ward-Caviness et al. (2020) added to the evidence, reporting an 0.15 effect estimate (95% CI 0.06 – 0.25, p = 0.002), whereby neighborhood characteristics such as the presence of abandoned cars, streets in poor condition, non-art graffiti, and alcohol advertising were associated with an increase in residents' epigenetic aging score.

Summary

People living in high-deprivation neighborhoods experience more severe and disabling chronic musculoskeletal pain (Giummarra et al., 2018; Jonsdottir et al., 2019). Chronic low back pain and KOA pain are chronic musculoskeletal pain conditions commonly affecting older adults (Deshpande et al., 2016; de Souza et al., 2019). Low back pain is considered chronic when it lasts 12 weeks or longer and results in pain on at least half the days in the past 6 months (Treede et al., 2015). Knee osteoarthritis is a degenerative joint disease characterized by progressive wearing away of the articular cartilage and associated subchondral bone (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022; Litwic et al., 2013). Both cLBP and KOA are often diagnosed based on patient history and clinical examination (Balagué et al., 2012; Heidari, 2011a). Epigenetic mechanisms for the pathogenesis of chronic pain (Descalzi et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2015), including cLBP (Aroke et al., 2020) and KOA (Peffers et al., 2018; Reynard & Barter, 2020; Young et al., 2022) are being revealed. Epigenetic age is an indicator of biological aging that captures the impact of environmental factors on epigenetic changes and potential disease risk

(Horvath & Raj, 2018). As such, the pace of epigenetic aging may reflect the impact of neighborhood environmental exposures on chronic musculoskeletal pain. Epigenetic age acceleration is a phenomenon where an individual's biological age is older than their chronological age (Mendelson, 2018). Epigenetic age acceleration is a strong predictor of all-cause mortality and age-related health conditions (Hillary et al., 2020; Marioni et al., 2015; Perna et al., 2016), including chronic pain (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2019). Epigenetic age acceleration is also associated with neighborhood deprivation in adults (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022). However, whether EpAA may explain the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes remains unexplored.

Purpose

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine the relationship between neighborhood deprivation, chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes, and EpAA in adults. This was achieved through the production of three papers that include a scoping review of neighborhood characteristics and EpAA, a methodological paper comparing a measure of neighborhood deprivation with other measures of SES among adults with cLBP, and a paper reporting a mediation analysis study of the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity by EpAA.

Conceptual Framework

This dissertation is guided by Geronimus' Weathering Hypothesis, which asserts that social marginalization exerts "wear and tear" on the body, leading to health

deterioration (Geronimus et al., 2010) and so may explain accelerated aging. Originally developed to explain disparate health outcomes in young African American mothers, the Weathering Hypothesis has since been tested in studies on inflammation (Schmeer & Tarrence, 2018; Simons, Lei, Klopack, Zhang, et al., 2021), disability (Chinn & Hummer, 2016; Lin & Kelley-Moore, 2017), and epigenetic age (Brody et al., 2016; Simons et al., 2016; Simons, Lei, Klopack, Beach, et al., 2021) and in different populations (Collins et al., 2012; Wildsmith, 2002). Underlying both our central hypothesis and Geronimus' Weathering Hypothesis is the concept of the social determinants of health (SDOH). The World Health Organization (n.d.) defines SDOH as the conditions in which people live, work, play, and grow. These conditions deeply influence health outcomes by shaping health behaviors and determining daily exposures to environmental stressors (Artiga & Hinton, 2018; Braveman & Gottlieb, 2014). Our central hypothesis (Figure 1) asserts that, due to social marginalization, residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods frequently experience higher levels of stress from person-environment interactions. The experience of interacting with high deprivation and/or discriminatory environment leads to physiological responses (Allen et al., 2019; Hackman et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020; Leite et al., 2019; Sawyer et al., 2012). Epigenetic modifications (such as DNAm) induce changes at the cellular and molecular levels (Tammen et al., 2013; Tollefsbol, 2004). Over time, this chronic stress exerts "wear and tear" on the body through epigenetically induced physiologic adaptation and maladaptation, resulting in EpAA and subsequent worse chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes.

Figure 1

Chronic Low Back Pain Weathering Hypothesis Theoretical Framework



Overview of the Three Manuscripts

Manuscript 1 – Neighborhood Environment and Epigenetic Age: A Scoping Review

The purpose of manuscript one was to appraise the scientific literature on the relationship between the neighborhood environment and epigenetic age. Neighborhoods are multidimensional in nature, composed of social and physical characteristics, including environmental exposures (Diez-Roux, 2016). Accordingly, various neighborhood characteristics have been studied and associated with several age-related health conditions, including chronic pain. To capture the breadth of the neighborhood environment that may be influencing epigenetic age, the goal of manuscript one was to explore the relationship between the neighborhood environment and epigenetic age

without limiting the type of neighborhood characteristic. A scoping review methodology, as described by Arksey and O'Malley (2005), was used to address the following specific aim and research questions:

Specific Aim 1: Examine the literature about the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age.

<u>Research Question 1a</u>. What does the current literature reveal about the presence of a relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age?

<u>Research Question 1b</u>. How have neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age been measured in studies on the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age?

<u>Research Question 1c</u>. What are the current gaps in the literature on the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age?

Scoping reviews are most appropriate when the literature is heterogenous in nature or when the review's goal includes identifying gaps in the research (Peters et al., 2015). Considering that (a) this review encompassed a range of neighborhood characteristics, (b) there are multiple epigenetic clocks available to measure epigenetic age (Horvath & Raj, 2018), and (c) one of the research questions was to identify gaps in the research, a scoping review was the ideal methodology.

Manuscript 2 – The Area Deprivation Index Corresponds Effectively With Other Measures of Objective Socioeconomic Status in Adults With Chronic Low Back Pain

The purpose of manuscript two was to compare neighborhood deprivation with other measures of SES in predicting pain severity and interference in adults with cLBP. This methodological study employed a secondary analysis of data collected for an ongoing study: Examining Racial and SocioEconomic Disparities in Chronic Low Back Pain (ERASED) (R01MD010441). The ERASED project aims to characterize racial differences in cLBP outcomes using a socioeconomic framework. Manuscript two employed a correlational design to examine the relationships under study. Multiple correlational designs allow for the assessment of relationships between several variables that are not amenable to manipulation (Polit & Beck, 2017). Since SES characteristics are not immediately amenable to experimental manipulation, a correlational design was best for this study. The specific aim and research questions included:

Specific Aim 2: Compare the Area Deprivation Index (ADI) with income, education, and subjective social status in predicting pain severity and interference in adults with cLBP. <u>Research Question 2a</u>: How well does the area-level measure of SES (ADI) predict cLBP severity and interference compared to individual-level measures of SES (income, education, subjective social status)?

<u>Research Question 2b</u>: How well do objective measures of SES (ADI, income, education) predict cLBP severity and interference compared to a subjective measure of SES (subjective social status)?

Manuscript 3 – Epigenetic Age Acceleration Mediates the Relationship Between Neighborhood Deprivation and Pain Severity in Adults with Knee Osteoarthritis

The purpose of manuscript three was to examine the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity in KOA and the influence of EpAA on that relationship. This study used a correlational and causal mediation design based on a secondary analysis of data collected as part of the Understanding Pain and Limitations in Osteoarthritic Disease (UPLOAD-2) study. First, correlations between neighborhood deprivation, KOA pain severity, and EpAA were performed to create a foundational understanding of the relationships' presence, strength, and direction before exploring a potential causal relationship. Mediation analysis tests a hypothetical causal chain, quantifying the extent and significance of the effect of one variable (predictor) on a second variable (mediator) and, in turn, affecting a third (outcome) variable (MacKinnon et al., 2007). It tests possible causal relationships (Zhao et al., 2010). As such, mediation analysis was the ideal method to determine if neighborhood deprivation affects KOA pain severity through the influence of EpAA.

Specific Aim 3: Examine the correlations between neighborhood deprivation, KOA pain severity, and EpAA.

<u>Research Question 3</u>: In adults with KOA, how are neighborhood deprivation, pain severity, and EpAA correlated with each other?

Specific Aim 4: Investigate whether EpAA explains the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity.

<u>Research Question 4</u>: In adults with KOA, does EpAA explain the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity?

Summary

This dissertation examines the relationship between neighborhood deprivation, chronic musculoskeletal pain (cLBP and KOA pain), and EpAA. Chapter 1 described the problem, background, and conceptual framework guiding this three-manuscript-based dissertation. Additionally, this chapter provided an overview of the specific aims and research questions for each manuscript (presented in chapters 2 through 4) and definitions of key terms. Chapter 5 combines the findings from all three manuscripts, offers a comprehensive interpretation, and provides recommendations for future research.

Key Terms

This section provides definitions for key terms used throughout the dissertation. <u>Age-related health conditions</u> are diseases or conditions whose occurrence increases with age (Franceschi et al., 2018; Jaul & Barron, 2017).

<u>Biological age</u> refers to physiological characteristics that indicate a functional decline of the body, compared to chronological age, which refers merely to the passage of time (Baker & Sprott, 1988; Hamczyk et al., 2020).

<u>Chronic low back pain</u> is pain located in the lower back that lasts (either continuously or intermittently) for 12 weeks or longer (Treede et al., 2015).

<u>Chronic musculoskeletal pain</u> is continuous or intermittent pain that stems from a pathophysiological process affecting the muscle, bone, joint, or associated soft tissue (Treede et al., 2015).

<u>*Chronic pain*</u> is continuous or intermittent pain that lasts 3 months or longer (Treede et al., 2015).

<u>DNA methylation</u> is an epigenetic mechanism that regulates gene expression by transferring a methyl group onto the C-5 position of the cytosine ring of DNA (Moore et al., 2013).

Epigenetic age is a measure of biological age as calculated by an epigenetic clock (Horvath & Raj, 2018).

<u>Epigenetic age acceleration</u> describes an individual's epigenetic/biological age that is advancing faster than their chronological age (Horvath & Raj, 2018; Mendelson, 2018). <u>Epigenetic changes (or modifications)</u> are stable and heritable alterations to the chromosome, which occur primarily from environmental exposures and do not alter DNA sequence (Aristizabal et al., 2020).

Epigenetic clocks use patterns of DNA methylation levels in the genome to measure epigenetic age (Bell et al., 2019).

Epigenetics is the study of mechanisms (including DNA methylation, histone modifications, and non-coding RNA) that regulate gene expression (Handy et al., 2011). *Knee osteoarthritis* is a degenerative disease of the knee joint characterized by wear and tear of the articular cartilage and associated subchondral bone (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022; Li et al., 2013). The hallmark feature of KOA is pain (Favero et al., 2015).

<u>Knee osteoarthritis pain</u> is characterized as developing gradually, worsening with activity, and being accompanied by stiffness and swelling (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022). <u>Neighborhood</u> refers to a spatially defined area that constitutes an individual's immediate residential environment created by a context of shared needs and opportunities (Chaskin,

1997; Diez Roux, 2001).

<u>Neighborhood deprivation</u> refers to unfavorable physical and perceived characteristics of a neighborhood, such as low access to greenspace, physical activity facilities, and healthy food outlets, as well as decreased safety, poor-quality housing, and a concentration of people with low SES (Mouratidis, 2020; Ribeiro et al., 2018).

Pain interference refers to the extent that pain limits an individual's ability to engage in physical, mental, and social activities (Amtmann et al., 2010).

Pain severity refers to the level of intensity of pain experienced (Cleeland & Ryan, 1994). *Social marginalization* is defined as the process of individuals or groups being figuratively pushed to the periphery or margins of a society or social network based on perceived unacceptable characteristics such as race, gender, politics, culture, or economics (Hall et al., 1994).
NEIGHBORHOOD ENVIRONMENT AND EPIGENETIC AGE: A SCOPING REVIEW

PAMELA JACKSON, BSN, RN, MLT(ASCP)BB; MIRJAM-COLETTE KEMPF, PhD, MPH; BUREL R. GOODIN, PhD; BERTHA HIDALGO, PhD; EDWIN N. AROKE, PhD, CRNA, FAAN, FAANA

Submitted to Social Science Research

Format adapted for dissertation

NEIGHBORHOOD ENVIRONMENT AND EPIGENETIC AGE: A SCOPING REVIEW

For decades, there has been increasing interest in how social conditions become biologically embedded, impacting health and disease risk (Hertzman, 2012). It has become increasingly clear that social circumstances such as neighborhood environment are associated with age-related chronic conditions. Specifically, the burden of age-related chronic conditions disproportionately affects individuals living in high-deprivation neighborhoods (Christine et al., 2017; Durfey et al., 2019; Mujahid et al., 2011; Xiao et al., 2018). High-deprivation neighborhoods are geographic areas characterized by socioeconomic indicators such as high unemployment and poverty and low educational attainment (Mouratidis, 2020; Ribeiro et al., 2018). These neighborhoods often lack resources needed to live a healthy life, like walkability (Bereitschaft, 2017), access to healthy foods (Hallum et al., 2020), health care (Tsui et al., 2020), and safety (Clark et al., 2013; Loh et al., 2018). Neighborhoods with lower education levels have been linked to a higher risk for stroke and myocardial infarction (Pedigo et al., 2011), and higher levels of neighborhood deprivation correlate with increases in chronic low back pain severity (Jackson et al., 2021). In addition to experiencing a greater burden of multiple chronic conditions, residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods are more likely to carry this burden even after controlling for other socioeconomic status measures (Chamberlain et al., 2020). Furthermore, residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods can have lifespans up to 20 years shorter than those residing in different neighborhoods in the same city (Holmes et al., 2018; LeCounte & Swain, 2017; Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2015).

The relationship between high-deprivation neighborhoods and age-related chronic conditions is complex and impacted by many factors. Beyond a lack of socioeconomic resources, residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods are disproportionately exposed to adverse environmental factors like greater noise (Casey et al., 2017; Dale et al., 2015), increased air pollution (Colmer et al., 2020; Hajat et al., 2013), higher ambient heat (Chakraborty et al., 2019), and less vegetation (McDonald et al., 2021; Nesbitt et al., 2019; Schwarz et al., 2015). These neighborhood characteristics have been linked to poorer health-related outcomes in age-related conditions (Beulens et al., 2022; Brook et al., 2004; Malambo et al., 2016; Münzel et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2019), yet research on the exact biological mechanisms underlying this relationship remains inconclusive.

Even though advancing age is a crucial determinant of age-related conditions, emerging evidence suggests that biological age, such as epigenetic age, is a better predictor of age-related morbidity (Horvath & Raj, 2018). Because epigenetic changes are environmentally sensitive changes in gene expression, epigenetic age captures the impact of environmental factors across time on cellular and molecular function and potential disease risk (Hannum et al., 2013; Horvath, 2013). Several approaches (also called "clocks") have been developed to estimate an individual's epigenetic age based on DNA methylation patterns, which usually correlate with chronological age. However, sometimes there is incongruency between epigenetic age and chronological age. For example, epigenetic age acceleration occurs when an individual's epigenetic age is advancing faster than their chronological age. It has been suggested that EpAA may serve as a biomarker of the degree of wear and tear that the body has experienced (Mendelson, 2018). In support of this perspective, epigenetic age acceleration has been identified as a

strong predictor of age-related conditions (Hillary et al., 2020; Horvath & Raj, 2018; Irvin et al., 2018; Perna et al., 2016; Pottinger et al., 2021) and all-cause mortality (Marioni et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2017).

The literature demonstrates a link between neighborhood residence and agerelated health conditions and a clear connection between epigenetic age acceleration and age-related health conditions. However, it remains unclear which neighborhood characteristics correlate with epigenetic age and whether specific epigenetic clocks better predict age-related chronic health conditions. To our knowledge, no review has examined the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age with the goal of capturing various aspects of the neighborhood setting beyond socioeconomic status. Thus, there is a need to map neighborhood characteristics in relation to epigenetic aging, including the nature of the relationship. To address this need, we used a scoping review methodology to answer the following research questions: (a) What does the current literature reveal about the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age? (b) In studies of this relationship, how have neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age been measured? (c) What are the gaps in the research?

Methods

We used the framework developed by Arksey and O'Malley (2005) to conduct this scoping review. This method has been used to identify the extent of a body of research on a topic and/or gaps in the evidence base (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005; Lockwood et al., 2019). Neighborhoods are small spatially-defined residential areas comprised of a number of both social and physical characteristics (Chaskin, 1997; Diez

Roux, 2001). Additionally, several ways to measure epigenetic age have been developed (Bergsma & Rogaeva, 2020). A scoping review is the most suitable option when the literature to be examined is heterogeneous in nature (Peters et al., 2015). Thus, since both the neighborhood characteristics and measures of epigenetic age to be included in this review are heterogeneous in nature, a scoping review is the ideal methodology for the aims of this study.

Search Strategy and Eligibility Criteria

We completed a search of the scientific literature available in PubMed, PsycInfo, and EMBASE databases through January 16, 2022. The search strategy combined various key terms related to neighborhood-level factors and DNA methylation age: ((neighborhood OR community) AND (characteristics OR status)) AND (DNA methylation)). No time restriction was placed for the searches. However, we limited the searches to articles published in English. Studies were included if they were peerreviewed articles, primary studies, and research focused on human subjects that addressed the relationship between a neighborhood-level environmental characteristic (physical or social) and epigenetic age. Figure 1 depicts the complete article identification process. Articles that used the term neighborhood to refer to proximity on the genome, rather than geographical residence, were excluded.

Figure 1



Study Search and Selection Process

Final eligibility was assessed for articles using the inclusion/exclusion criteria detailed above that were available in full text.

Data Extraction and Analysis

After removing duplicates, an independent abstractor reviewed the title and abstract of each article for selection. This abstractor decided whether to include or exclude each article for a full-text review. The full text was obtained and reviewed based on inclusion and exclusion criteria. Data were extracted from the eligible articles using a matrix table. Data elements included citation information, study purpose and design, sample and setting, methods, key findings, and conclusions. We added a descriptive analysis of elements into the matrix to assess the range of neighborhood characteristics that have been studied, the nature of the relationship between those characteristics with epigenetic age, and research gaps.

Results

We obtained 153 search results. After removing duplicates and screening for eligibility based on title, abstract, and full text, we included nine articles in the final analysis (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020; Martin et al., 2021; Raffington et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021). All included articles were published between 2019 and 2021. As summarized in Table 1, most studies used a cross-sectional design, and the sample sizes ranged between 100 and 2,630 participants. Seven out of the nine studies used samples from adults (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021), one from adolescents and children (Raffington et al., 2021), and one from children exclusively (Marini et al., 2020). Fewer than half of the studies included used multiethnic samples (Joyce et al., 2021; Martin et al., 2021; Raffington et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020), primarily reporting the inclusion of non-Hispanic Black and non-Hispanic White participants, with only one study reporting the inclusion of Hispanic participants (Raffington et al., 2021). A few studies used samples from only non-Hispanic Black (Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019) and non-Hispanic White (Lawrence et al., 2020; Marini et al., 2020) participants exclusively. One study (based in Australia) did not report race/ethnicity of its sample (Xu et al., 2021). All but two of the studies were conducted in the United States (Joyce et al.,

2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2021; Raffington et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020), with the others conducted in the United Kingdom (Marini et al., 2020) and Australia (Xu et al., 2021). Altogether, for the small number of studies conducted thus far, they have used a broad range of sample sizes, age ranges, and included a fair amount of diversity in ethnicity and sex but have been limited in their research design.

Table 1

General Characteristics of Reviewed Articles

Author &	Study Burnage	Study Design	Sample	Neighborhood Maggurgmont	Epigenetic	Key Findings
rear	Purpose	Design	Size	Measurement	Age	
Lei et al. (2019)	Investigate influence of neighborhood deprivation on aging in adults	CS	N = 100	Sum median household income, % unemployed, % below poverty line, % single- mother families, % public assistance	На	Neighborhood deprivation significantly positively associated with accelerated epigenetic aging
Lawrence et al. (2020)	Examine relationship between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age in adults	CS	N = 2,630	Area Deprivation Index	Ha, Ho, P, G	Residents of greatest neighborhood deprivation had greater epigenetic age acceleration in all clocks except Horvath
Marini et al. (2020)	Test hypothesis that adversity accelerates epigenetic age in children	L	N = 973	ALSPAC Townsend & Indices of Multiple Deprivation	Ha, Ho	Neighborhood deprivation significantly positively associated with epigenetic age acceleration using Hannum but not Horvath clock
Ward- Caviness et al. (2020)	Evaluate effect of neighborhood characteristics on	CS	N = 157	Trained assessors following	eMRS	Negative neighborhood characteristics (e.g., abandoned cars, alcohol

	epigenetic mortality risk score in adults			author- developed protocol of 19 indicators		advertising) associated with mortality risk. Residing in neighborhoods with below- average levels of large mature trees was also associated with mortality
						risk
Joyce et al. (2021)	Examine influence of neighborhood socioeconomic status on epigenetic age acceleration in adults	L	Timepoint #1: <i>N</i> = 1,036 Timepoint #2: <i>N</i> = 1,016	% With less than high school education	На	Decrease in neighborhood education was associated with increase in epigenetic age acceleration at 1 st timepoint but not replicated at 2 nd timepoint
C. L. Martin et al. (2021)	Examine association between neighborhood environment and epigenetic age in adults	CS	N = 158	Trained assessors following author- developed protocol of 19 indicators	Ha, Ho, P	Neighborhood environment significantly positively associated with epigenetic age acceleration using all clocks
Raffington et al. (2021)	Test hypothesis that early-life socioeconomic deprivation accelerates biological age in children and adolescents	CS	N = 600	Composite % unemployed, % below poverty line, % less than high school education, % single mothers, % employed in nonmanagerial position	D	Living in deprived neighborhoods associated with faster epigenetic aging

Xu et al.	Evaluate association	CS	N = 479	Normal	Ha, Ho, P,	Higher levels of	
(2021)	between surrounding			Difference	G	surrounding residential	
	residential greenness			Vegetation Index		greenness associated with	
	and biological aging			& Enhanced		lower epigenetic age	
	in adults			Vegetation Index		acceleration using Horvath,	
						GrimAge, and Hannum, but	
						not PhenoAge	
Lei et al.	Examine	CS	N = 941	Area Deprivation	P, G, D	Neighborhood deprivation	
(2022)	relationship between			Index		was significantly positively	
	neighborhood					associated with epigenetic	
	deprivation and					age acceleration using all	
	epigenetic age in					clocks	
	adults						
	<u>Study design</u> : $CS = cross-sectional$, $L = longitudinal$.						
	Association reported: YES = significant association between a neighborhood-level characteristic and EpAA						
	reported; $NO = no$ significant association reported.						
	<u>Epigenetic Age Calculator</u> : Ha = Hannum, Ho = Horvath, P = PhenoAge, G = GrimAge,						
	\mathbf{D} = DunedinPoAm, eMRS = author developed epigenetic mortlaity risk score.						

Associations Between Neighborhood Characteristics and Epigenetic Age

Nearly all studies included in this review reported a relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age. The only exception was a longitudinal study that reported a significant association at the first timepoint, but no significant relationship at the second timepoint 5 years later (Joyce et al., 2021). In that study, the investigators used a single indicator of neighborhood deprivation (i.e., education), which may not be as robust an indicator as multivariate measures. Thus, there appears to be a relationship between neighborhood characteristics (such as neighborhood socioeconomic status and level of residential greenness) and epigenetic age. A more thorough discussion of the measurement of neighborhood characteristics is presented below.

Did Associations Vary by Neighborhood Characteristic?

To further understand the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age, we examined whether this relationship depended on specific neighborhood characteristics. Overall, the studies reviewed suggest epigenetic age is associated with socioeconomic as well as physical neighborhood characteristics. In most studies, epigenetic age increased with *negative* neighborhood characteristics (neighborhood deprivation). For example, Lawrence et al. (2020) found that participants with the highest level of neighborhood deprivation (i.e., greater than the 75th percentile) had greater epigenetic age compared to participants residing in neighborhoods with the lowest level of neighborhood disadvantage (i.e., lower than the 25th percentile). Similarly, other investigators reported that *positive* neighborhood characteristics such as greenness

and the presence of large mature trees correlated with slower epigenetic aging (Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021).

The quality of the study appears to affect the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age. Studies that robustly measured neighborhood characteristics with previously compiled information like census data (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020; Raffington et al., 2021) and those that utilized trained personnel to assess neighborhood characteristics (Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020) found an association with epigenetic age. For example, using an index based on American Community Survey data and DNA methylation samples from a cohort of adult men and women randomly selected from neighborhoods in Iowa and Georgia, Lei et al. (2022) found an association between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age. Likewise, in a population-based cohort of adults from Detroit, Michigan, Martin et al. (2021) found an association between epigenetic age and neighborhood environment using trained study personnel making assessments on the ground in their participants' neighborhoods. In contrast, a study that relied on a single indicator of socioeconomic status found inconsistent associations between the level of neighborhood education and epigenetic age acceleration at different timepoints within the same cohort (Joyce et al., 2021).

Did Associations Vary by Epigenetic Clock?

There are slight differences in the number of genes in each clock, so we also investigated whether the relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood characteristics depended on the epigenetic clock. All studies that used the Hannum clock (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020) and

GrimAge (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022) reported associations with neighborhood characteristics, while three out of four studies using PhenoAge reported an association (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Martin et al., 2021). Interestingly, in the studies reviewed that used the Horvath clock, none detected a relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood *socioeconomic* characteristics. However, two studies found an association between epigenetic age and *physical* neighborhood characteristics when using the Horvath clock (Martin et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2021).

Regarding *intra*-study variation, four studies analyzed the relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood socioeconomic characteristics using more than one clock (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Marini et al., 2020; Martin et al., 2021), with one of these studies considering physical in addition to socioeconomic neighborhood characteristics (Martin et al., 2021). Two studies found consistent associations (Lei et al., 2022; Martin et al., 2021). Among non-Hispanic Black adults, Lei and colleagues (2022) found significant associations between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age acceleration using the PhenoAge, GrimAge, and DunedinPoAm clocks. Similarly, using the Horvath, Hannum, and PhenoAge clocks, Martin and colleagues (2021) detected a significant positive association between neighborhood poverty as well as physical neighborhood characteristics (such as the presence of graffiti, abandoned cars, and unkept roads) and epigenetic age acceleration among predominantly non-Hispanic Black adults. However, in two other studies, no association was detected using the Horvath clock (Lawrence et al., 2020; Marini et al., 2020), despite finding a significant association using Hannum (Lawrence et al., 2020; Marini et al., 2020) as well as the PhenoAge and GrimAge clocks (Lawrence et al., 2020). This inter- and intra-study

variability suggests that selection of the epigenetic clock chosen to examine the relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood characteristics is an important consideration.

Did Associations Vary by Age, Sex, or Ethnicity?

Emerging evidence suggests that the relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood characteristics exists in both children/adolescents and adults. Two studies in this scoping review included children or adolescents and both detected a relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age (Marini et al., 2020; Raffington et al., 2021). Their results align with the seven studies conducted using adult participants (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021).

Overall, studies that included all female participants found an association between some neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2021), but there was some variation based on the neighborhood characteristic and the epigenetic age calculator used. The Hannum clock was consistent across all three studies that included only female participants, irrespective of neighborhood characteristics. Two studies with all female participants used multiple epigenetic clocks (Lawrence et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021). The findings of these two studies agreed with each other using the GrimAge clock but did not when using PhenoAge. Lawrence et al. (2020) detected a relationship between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age using the PhenoAge clock, while Xu at al. (2021) did not detect an association between the level of neighborhood greenness and epigenetic age. These same two studies also differed in detecting a relationship using the Horvath clock.

Specifically, Xu et al. (2021) found an association, while Lawrence et al. (2020) did not. Since no studies included in this review included all male participants, we were unable to assess for variation in association between sexes. These findings suggest that, at least for females, the association between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age depends on both the neighborhood characteristic being examined and the epigenetic clock used.

Studies that reported multiethnic participants were nearly unanimous in detecting an association between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age (Joyce et al., 2021; Martin et al., 2021; Raffington et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020), with the exception being a multiethnic longitudinal study that found an association at the initial timepoint but failed to replicate the association at the second timepoint (Joyce et al., 2021). Overall, the studies that used samples from all non-Hispanic Black participants (Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019) and studies that included samples from predominantly non-Hispanic White participants (Lawrence et al., 2020; Marini et al., 2020) agreed in finding a link between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age. However, some variation was noted based on the epigenetic age calculator used. The Hannum clock consistently detected associations across ethnicities. The studies that included samples from all non-Hispanic Black participants established a link between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age using multiple clocks—Hannum, PhenoAge, GrimAge, and DunedinPoAm clocks (Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019). Both studies with samples from predominantly non-Hispanic White participants found an association using Hannum, but not using the Horvath clock. There was also agreement using the PhenoAge and GrimAge clock when they were used with samples from non-Hispanic White

(Lawrence et al., 2020) and non-Hispanic Black (Lei et al., 2022) participants. These findings suggest that the relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood characteristics holds true across different age ranges and ethnicities, further supporting the notion that associations vary depending on the epigenetic clock used.

Measurement of Neighborhood Characteristics

More than half of the studies included in this review examined the relationship between neighborhood socioeconomic status and epigenetic age (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020). Of these, Martin et al. (2021) and Ward-Caviness et al. (2020) included additional nonsocioeconomic status indicators, considering other aspects of the neighborhood environment such as noise, the condition of sidewalks, and presence of graffiti. One study examined only one aspect of the physical environment—level of greenness (Xu et al., 2021).

Figure 2 shows categories of social and physical neighborhood characteristics reported in the articles. The most common neighborhood characteristics considered were household composition, income, and education. In most studies, neighborhoods were characterized based on attributes of the social environment using census data (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020; Raffington et al., 2021). Three studies measured physical neighborhood characteristics (Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021), of which, two studies relied on a protocol in which trained personnel manually assessed neighborhood attributes such as the condition of the sidewalks, graffiti, noise, and the presence of large mature trees (Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). One study used satellite-

derived measurements of the level of greenness or vegetation surrounding participants' addresses (Xu et al., 2021).

Figure 2



Neighborhood-Level Variables Included in Relationship With Epigenetic Age

Most studies used a multivariate index, capturing several neighborhood factors within the scope of the particular neighborhood characteristic of interest. For example, in most studies of neighborhood deprivation, a multivariate index was used to assess neighborhood socioeconomic status (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020; Martin et al., 2021; Raffington et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). Likewise, for two out of the three studies measuring physical neighborhood characteristics, a multivariate index was also used (Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). Of the eight studies that reported the details of their scoring, the number of neighborhood characteristics included in the multivariate indexes ranged from five (Lei et al., 2019; Raffington et al., 2021) to 19 (Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). Only two studies relied on a single indicator to assess neighborhood characteristics (Joyce et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2021) (Figure 3). Since multivariate indexes measure multiple aspects of a concept, these findings suggest that researchers have considered the multidimensional nature of the neighborhood environment to be of importance when investigating the relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood characteristics.

Figure 3





Findings were mostly consistent regardless of whether the neighborhood characteristic was measured using a multivariate index or a single indicator. All studies using a multivariate index found an association, but some variation was noted for studies using a single indicator. Specifically, a study using a single indicator of neighborhood greenness detected an association with epigenetic age (Xu et al., 2021). However, when examining the relationship between the single indicator neighborhood education and epigenetic age longitudinally, Joyce and colleagues (2021) detected an association at the first timepoint, but not the second.

Measurement of Epigenetic Age

Six epigenetic clocks have been used to measure the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age, with greater reliance on the original clocks developed by Hannum et al. (2013) and Horvath (2013). As depicted in Figure 4, Hannum's clock is the most frequently used clock. Five studies assessed the relationship between epigenetic age and neighborhood characteristics using multiple clocks (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Marini et al., 2020; Martin et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2021). Four studies used a single epigenetic age calculator (Joyce et al., 2021; Lei et al., 2019; Raffington et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). Of the four studies, one used an author-developed method to assess mortality risk based on DNA methylation (Ward-Caviness et al., 2020) rather than an epigenetic clock previously described in the literature.

There has been less variation in the type of samples collected for DNA, with all studies reviewed relying on a single tissue type for its DNA source. Some DNA methylation changes associated with aging are tissue-specific (Koch & Wagner, 2011). So, the type of sample used for DNA extraction for subsequent epigenetic age calculation is a necessary consideration. Most studies in this review used blood samples (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020; Martin

Figure 4



Distribution of Epigenetic Clocks

et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021). The one exception used saliva (i.e., primarily epithelial cells) (Raffington et al., 2021). The variety of clocks used suggests that there is as yet no gold standard for epigenetic age calculation, and the variation in findings depending on the clock that was used supports this notion.

Identified Gaps

The literature reviewed revealed that few studies have explored a relationship between epigenetic age and physical neighborhood characteristics. Neighborhood socioeconomic status was the predominant neighborhood characteristic examined (Joyce et al., 2021; Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2022; Lei et al., 2019; Marini et al., 2020; Martin et al., 2021; Raffington et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). Exceptions included one study that examined epigenetic age with the level of residential greenness (Xu et al., 2021) and two studies that included neighborhood socioeconomic status along with physical aspects of the neighborhood environment (Martin et al., 2021; Ward-Caviness et al., 2020). Another gap in the literature is the lack of Hispanic participants. Only one study included Hispanic participants (Raffington et al., 2021), with most relying on samples collected from non-Hispanic White or non-Hispanic Black participants. Finally, only two studies utilized a longitudinal design (Joyce et al., 2021; Marini et al., 2020), so more studies are needed that investigate the potential effects of long-term exposures to neighborhood characteristics.

Discussion

The purpose of this review was to examine the literature on the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age, describe how studies of this relationship have measured neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age, and identify gaps in the current research. The neighborhood environment has been associated with many age-related conditions, and this review suggests a nascent but growing body of evidence of the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age. We identified three main findings relating to epigenetic age and neighborhood characteristics. First, current evidence supports the assertion that neighborhood characteristics are significantly associated with epigenetic age. Specifically, negative neighborhood characteristics (neighborhood deprivation) correlate with older epigenetic age. These results are consistent with previous studies linking older epigenetic age with age-related health conditions and all-cause mortality (Hillary et al., 2020; Marioni et al., 2015; Perna et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2017). The relationship between neighborhood

characteristics and epigenetic age suggests that neighborhood characteristics may induce epigenetic changes that correlate with accelerated aging and age-related health conditions, providing a potential biological mechanism for this phenomenon.

A second major finding of this review is that various neighborhood characteristics are associated with different epigenetic clocks. For example, a significant association was found between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age acceleration using the Hannum clock (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2019), but not using the Horvath clock (Lawrence et al., 2020; Marini et al., 2020). However, a significant association was found using the Horvath clock in the relationship between a physical neighborhood characteristic (greenness) and epigenetic age acceleration (Xu et al., 2021). The variability in findings suggests that the ability to detect an association between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age may be influenced by neighborhood characteristics, epigenetic calculator, and the interaction of both. There is no gold standard measure of epigenetic age, and there is still a need to fully discern how environmental factors impact epigenetic age (Bell et al., 2019). Epigenetic clocks have most often been constructed using machine learning to identify a parsimonious number at which DNA methylation of those CpG sites will correlate with chronological age (Bell et al., 2019). As a result of this process: (a) the number of CpG sites used in the epigenetic age calculation are greatly reduced from the total number of CpG sites in the genome, and (b) the specific CpG sites chosen for each clock differ. Indeed, there is not much overlap in the CpG sites used in different epigenetic clocks (Liu et al., 2020). Furthermore, DNA methylation changes vary based on the particular environmental exposure (Dhingra et al., 2018; Martin & Fry, 2018). In this way, the influence of specific

neighborhood characteristics on epigenetic age may be revealed by one clock but not another, and a specific clock may pick up some neighborhood characteristics but not others. The variability of findings in this review suggests this is the case.

Finally, we found many gaps in the literature regarding the types of neighborhood characteristics used in relation to epigenetic age. Several features of the physical environment have been linked to age-related disease outcomes. For example, exposure to air particulate matter, residential noise, and pollutants correlates with an increased risk for type 2 diabetes (Beulens et al., 2022). Similarly, worse cardiovascular disease outcomes, including increased hospitalizations and cardiovascular disease-related mortality, have been associated with air pollution (Brook et al., 2004), while noise has been associated with hypertension and stroke (Münzel et al., 2014). Also, aspects of the neighborhood-built environment like walkability and access to healthy food have been linked to cardiovascular disease outcomes (Malambo et al., 2016). However, these neighborhood characteristics in relationship with epigenetic age do not appear to have been examined thus far. For most studies in this review, the authors focused on neighborhood socioeconomic factors and relied heavily on census-based measures. Diez-Roux and Mair's (2010) seminal work on the effects of the neighborhood on health recognized that most early studies involved predominantly socioeconomic and censusbased measures of the neighborhood. Since then, researchers have collected additional measures of the neighborhood environment to understand neighborhood effects on health behaviors and outcomes such as obesity and hypertension (Diez Roux & Mair, 2010). Interestingly, our review reveals a similar evolution of the body of research about neighborhood and epigenetic age.

While the research is still in its infancy, and this review cannot speak to causality in the relationships examined, future research is promising in its potential to one day help explain neighborhood disparities in health. More well-designed studies are needed to explore the full range of neighborhood characteristics that may be impacting the pace of epigenetic aging.

Strengths and Limitations

This review has some strengths and limitations that must be considered when utilizing the results. First, to our knowledge, this is the first scoping review examining the relationship between various aspects of neighborhood characteristics, beyond socioeconomic status, and epigenetic age. Second, the use of the scoping review methodology is another strength. Scoping reviews allow for exploration of an area of research that is broad and/or still emerging (Lockwood et al., 2019). Considering the small number of studies conducted thus far, covering a wide range of possible neighborhood characteristics, and using multiple epigenetic clocks, this approach was a good fit to answer the research questions.

Despite the above-mentioned strengths, our review has some limitations. Though the entire team reviewed the results, one abstractor performed data extraction. Second, we focused primarily on articles published in the English language. Thus, it is possible that we missed unpublished studies and studies published in other languages. Also, while a scoping review was the most appropriate approach to address the study's aims, the methodology has downsides. The nature of taking a broad perspective on the data belies the ability to do a meta-analysis of the data that are extracted (Tricco et al., 2016). Additionally, scoping reviews can be useful for the determination of the need for a

subsequent systematic review (Lockwood et al., 2019). However, the studies selected for review intentionally included multiple measures of neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age. So, evaluating the suitability for a systematic review was not an aim of this study and was not addressed.

Conclusion

Neighborhoods do impact health outcomes and the development of age-related diseases, but no review had yet reported the breadth of neighborhood characteristics that are associated with epigenetic age—a biomarker strongly correlated with age-related diseases. This review mapped the existing literature on the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age and, overall, found support for a connection. The findings suggest that variations in neighborhood characteristics are associated with different epigenetic clocks, including aspects of both the socioeconomic and physical environment. This review enhances our understanding of the importance of neighborhood characteristics for future work on the effects of the neighborhood on epigenetic aging, morbidity, and mortality.

References

- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616
- Bell, C. G., Lowe, R., Adams, P. D., Baccarelli, A. A., Beck, S., Bell, J. T., Christensen,
 B. C., Gladyshev, V. N., Heijmans, B. T., Horvath, S., Ideker, T., Issa, J.-P. J.,
 Kelsey, K. T., Marioni, R. E., Reik, W., Relton, C. L., Schalkwyk, L. C.,
 Teschendorff, A. E., Wagner, W., ... Rakyan, V. K. (2019). DNA methylation
 aging clocks: Challenges and recommendations. *Genome Biology*, 20(1), 1–24.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-019-1824-y
- Bereitschaft, B. (2017). Equity in neighbourhood walkability? A comparative analysis of three large U.S. cities. *Local Environment*, 22(7), 859–879. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2017.1297390
- Bergsma, T., & Rogaeva, E. (2020). DNA methylation clocks and their predictive capacity for aging phenotypes and healthspan. *Neuroscience Insights*, 15, 2633105520942221. https://doi.org/10.1177/2633105520942221
- Beulens, J. W. J., Pinho, M. G. M., Abreu, T. C., den Braver, N. R., Lam, T. M., Huss, A., Vlaanderen, J., Sonnenschein, T., Siddiqui, N. Z., Yuan, Z., Kerckhoffs, J., Zhernakova, A., Brandao Gois, M. F., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2022).
 Environmental risk factors of type 2 diabetes-an exposome approach. *Diabetologia*, 65(2), 263–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-021-05618-w
- Brook, R. D., Franklin, B., Cascio, W., Hong, Y., Howard, G., Lipsett, M., Luepker, R., Mittleman, M., Samet, J., Smith, S. C., Tager, I., & Expert Panel on Population

and Prevention Science of the American Heart Association. (2004). Air pollution and cardiovascular disease: A statement for healthcare professionals from the Expert Panel on Population and Prevention Science of the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *109*(21), 2655–2671. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000128587.30041.C8

- Casey, J. A., Morello-Frosch, R., Mennitt, D. J., Fristrup, K., Ogburn, E. L., & James, P. (2017). Race/ethnicity, socioeconomic status, residential segregation, and spatial variation in noise exposure in the contiguous United States. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 125(7), 077017. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP898
- Chakraborty, T., Hsu, A., Manya, D., & Sheriff, G. (2019). Disproportionately higher exposure to urban heat in lower-income neighborhoods: A multi-city perspective. *Environmental Research Letters*, 14(10). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab3b99
- Chamberlain, A. M., Finney Rutten, L. J., Wilson, P. M., Fan, C., Boyd, C. M., Jacobson, D. J., Rocca, W. A., & St. Sauver, J. L. (2020). Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is associated with multimorbidity in a geographically-defined community. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8123-0
- Chaskin, R. J. (1997). Perspectives on neighborhood and community: A review of the literature. *The Social Service Review*, *71*(4), 521–547.
- Christine, P. J., Young, R., Adar, S. D., Bertoni, A. G., Heisler, M., Carnethon, M. R., Hayward, R. A., & Diez Roux, A. V. (2017). Individual- and area-level SES in diabetes risk prediction: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *American*

Journal of Preventive Medicine, 53(2), 201–209.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.04.019

- Clark, C. R., Ommerborn, M. J., Hickson, D. A., Grooms, K. N., Sims, M., Taylor, H. A., & Albert, M. A. (2013). Neighborhood disadvantage, neighborhood safety and cardiometabolic risk factors in African Americans: Biosocial associations in the Jackson Heart study. *Plos One*, 8(5), e63254. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063254
- Colmer, J., Hardman, I., Shimshack, J., & Voorheis, J. (2020). Disparities in PM2.5 air pollution in the United States. *Science*, *369*(6503), 575–578. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz9353
- Dale, L. M., Goudreau, S., Perron, S., Ragettli, M. S., Hatzopoulou, M., & Smargiassi, A. (2015). Socioeconomic status and environmental noise exposure in Montreal,
 Canada. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 205. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1571-2
- Dhingra, R., Nwanaji-Enwerem, J. C., Samet, M., & Ward-Caviness, C. K. (2018). DNA methylation age-environmental influences, health impacts, and its role in environmental epidemiology. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 5(3), 317– 327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-018-0203-2
- Diez Roux, A. V. (2001). Investigating neighborhood and area effects on health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(11), 1783–1789. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.91.11.1783
- Diez Roux, A. V., & Mair, C. (2010). Neighborhoods and health. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1186*, 125–145. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05333.x

- Durfey, S. N. M., Kind, A. J. H., Buckingham, W. R., DuGoff, E. H., & Trivedi, A. N. (2019). Neighborhood disadvantage and chronic disease management. *Health Services Research*, 54 Suppl 1, 206–216. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13092
- Hajat, A., Diez-Roux, A. V., Adar, S. D., Auchincloss, A. H., Lovasi, G. S., O'Neill, M.
 S., Sheppard, L., & Kaufman, J. D. (2013). Air pollution and individual and neighborhood socioeconomic status: Evidence from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *121*(11–12), 1325–1333. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206337
- Hallum, S. H., Hughey, S. M., Wende, M. E., Stowe, E. W., & Kaczynski, A. T. (2020).
 Healthy and unhealthy food environments are linked with neighbourhood socioeconomic disadvantage: An innovative geospatial approach to understanding food access inequities. *Public Health Nutrition*, 23(17), 3190–3196.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020002104
- Hannum, G., Guinney, J., Zhao, L., Zhang, L., Hughes, G., Sadda, S., Klotzle, B.,
 Bibikova, M., Fan, J.-B., Gao, Y., Deconde, R., Chen, M., Rajapakse, I., Friend,
 S., Ideker, T., & Zhang, K. (2013). Genome-wide methylation profiles reveal
 quantitative views of human aging rates. *Molecular Cell*, 49(2), 359–367.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.016

Hertzman, C. (2012). Putting the concept of biological embedding in historical perspective. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109 Suppl 2, 17160–17167. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1202203109

- Hillary, R. F., Stevenson, A. J., McCartney, D. L., Campbell, A., Walker, R. M., Howard, D. M., Ritchie, C. W., Horvath, S., Hayward, C., McIntosh, A. M., Porteous, D. J., Deary, I. J., Evans, K. L., & Marioni, R. E. (2020). Epigenetic measures of ageing predict the prevalence and incidence of leading causes of death and disease burden. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *12*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00905-6
- Holmes, J. R., Tootoo, J. L., Chosy, E. J., Bowie, A. Y., & Starr, R. R. (2018).
 Examining variation in life expectancy estimates by ZIP Code Tabulation Area (ZCTA) in Hawaii's four main counties, 2008-2012. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 15, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.180035
- Horvath, S. (2013). DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. *Genome Biology*, *14*(10), R115. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-r115
- Horvath, S., & Raj, K. (2018). DNA methylation-based biomarkers and the epigenetic clock theory of ageing. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 19(6), 371–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-018-0004-3
- Irvin, M. R., Aslibekyan, S., Do, A., Zhi, D., Hidalgo, B., Claas, S. A.,
 Srinivasasainagendra, V., Horvath, S., Tiwari, H. K., Absher, D. M., & Arnett, D. K. (2018). Metabolic and inflammatory biomarkers are associated with epigenetic aging acceleration estimates in the GOLDN study. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *10*, 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-018-0481-4
- Jackson, P., Goodin, B. R., Long, D. L., Jablonski, R., Penn, T. M., Sims, A. M., Quinn, T., Overstreet, D. S., Kempf, M.-C., Rumble, D. D., & Aroke, E. N. (2021). The area deprivation index corresponds effectively with other measures of objective

socioeconomic status in adults with chronic low back pain. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 30. https://doi.org/10.1891/JNM-D-20-00126

- Joyce, B. T., Gao, T., Koss, K., Zheng, Y., Cardenas, A., Heiss, J., Just, A., Zhang, K., van Horn, L., Allen, N. B., Greenland, P., Cohen, S., Gordon-Larsen, P., Mitchell, C., McLanahan, S., Schneper, L., Notterman, D., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., Oken, E., ... Hou, L. (2021). Impact of paternal education on epigenetic ageing in adolescence and mid-adulthood: A multi-cohort study in the USA and Mexico. *International Journal of Epidemiology*. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyab196
- Koch, C. M., & Wagner, W. (2011). Epigenetic-aging-signature to determine age in different tissues. *Aging*, 3(10), 1018–1027. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.100395
- Lawrence, K. G., Kresovich, J. K., O'Brien, K. M., Hoang, T. T., Xu, Z., Taylor, J. A., & Sandler, D. P. (2020). Association of neighborhood deprivation with epigenetic aging using 4 clock metrics. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(11), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.24329
- LeCounte, E. S., & Swain, G. R. (2017). Life expectancy at birth in Milwaukee County: A zip code-level analysis. *Journal of Patient-Centered Research and Reviews*, 4(4), 213–220. https://doi.org/10.17294/2330-0698.1576
- Lei, M.-K., Berg, M. T., Simons, R. L., & Beach, S. R. H. (2022). Neighborhood structural disadvantage and biological aging in a sample of Black middle age and young adults. *Social Science & Medicine*, 293, 114654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114654
- Lei, M.-K., Simons, R. L., Beach, S. R. H., & Philibert, R. A. (2019). Neighborhood disadvantage and biological aging: Using marginal structural models to assess the

link between neighborhood census variables and epigenetic aging. *The Journals* of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 74(7), e50–e59. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbx015

- Liu, Z., Leung, D., Thrush, K., Zhao, W., Ratliff, S., Tanaka, T., Schmitz, L. L., Smith, J. A., Ferrucci, L., & Levine, M. E. (2020). Underlying features of epigenetic aging clocks in vivo and in vitro. *Aging Cell*, *19*(10), e13229. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13229
- Lockwood, C., Dos Santos, K. B., & Pap, R. (2019). Practical guidance for knowledge synthesis: Scoping review methods. *Asian Nursing Research*, 13(5), 287–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anr.2019.11.002
- Loh, V. H. Y., Rachele, J. N., Brown, W. J., Ghani, F., & Turrell, G. (2018).
 Neighborhood disadvantage and physical function: The contributions of neighborhood-level perceptions of safety from crime and walking for recreation. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 15(8), 553–563.
 https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2017-0423
- Malambo, P., Kengne, A. P., De Villiers, A., Lambert, E. V., & Puoane, T. (2016). Built environment, selected risk factors and major cardiovascular disease outcomes: A systematic review. *Plos One*, *11*(11), e0166846. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0166846

Marini, S., Davis, K. A., Soare, T. W., Zhu, Y., Suderman, M. J., Simpkin, A. J., Smith,
A. D. A. C., Wolf, E. J., Relton, C. L., & Dunn, E. C. (2020). Adversity exposure during sensitive periods predicts accelerated epigenetic aging in children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *113*, 104484.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104484

- Marioni, R. E., Shah, S., McRae, A. F., Chen, B. H., Colicino, E., Harris, S. E., Gibson,
 J., Henders, A. K., Redmond, P., Cox, S. R., Pattie, A., Corley, J., Murphy, L.,
 Martin, N. G., Montgomery, G. W., Feinberg, A. P., Fallin, M. D., Multhaup, M.
 L., Jaffe, A. E., ... Deary, I. J. (2015). DNA methylation age of blood predicts allcause mortality in later life. *Genome Biology*, *16*, 1–12.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0584-6
- Martin, C. L., Ward-Caviness, C. K., Dhingra, R., Zikry, T. M., Galea, S., Wildman, D.
 E., Koenen, K. C., Uddin, M., & Aiello, A. E. (2021). Neighborhood environment, social cohesion, and epigenetic aging. *Aging*, *13*(6), 7883–7899. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.202814
- Martin, E. M., & Fry, R. C. (2018). Environmental influences on the epigenome:
 Exposure-associated DNA methylation in human populations. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 39, 309–333. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-014629
- McDonald, R. I., Biswas, T., Sachar, C., Housman, I., Boucher, T. M., Balk, D., Nowak, D., Spotswood, E., Stanley, C. K., & Leyk, S. (2021). The tree cover and temperature disparity in US urbanized areas: Quantifying the association with income across 5,723 communities. *Plos One*, *16*(4), e0249715. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249715
- Mendelson, M. M. (2018). Epigenetic age acceleration: A biological doomsday clock for cardiovascular disease? *Circulation. Genomic and Precision Medicine*, 11(3), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.118.002089

- Mouratidis, K. (2020). Neighborhood characteristics, neighborhood satisfaction, and well-being: The links with neighborhood deprivation. *Land Use Policy*, *99*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104886
- Mujahid, M. S., Diez Roux, A. V., Cooper, R. C., Shea, S., & Williams, D. R. (2011).
 Neighborhood stressors and race/ethnic differences in hypertension prevalence (the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis). *American Journal of Hypertension*, 24(2), 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajh.2010.200
- Münzel, T., Gori, T., Babisch, W., & Basner, M. (2014). Cardiovascular effects of environmental noise exposure. *European Heart Journal*, 35(13), 829–836. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehu030
- Nesbitt, L., Meitner, M. J., Girling, C., Sheppard, S. R. J., & Lu, Y. (2019). Who has access to urban vegetation? A spatial analysis of distributional green equity in 10 US cities. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 181, 51–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.08.007
- Pedigo, A., Aldrich, T., & Odoi, A. (2011). Neighborhood disparities in stroke and myocardial infarction mortality: A GIS and spatial scan statistics approach. *BMC Public Health*, *11*, 644. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-644
- Perna, L., Zhang, Y., Mons, U., Holleczek, B., Saum, K.-U., & Brenner, H. (2016). Epigenetic age acceleration predicts cancer, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality in a German case cohort. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0228-z
- Peters, M. D. J., Godfrey, C. M., Khalil, H., McInerney, P., Parker, D., & Soares, C. B. (2015). Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. *International*

Journal of Evidence-Based Healthcare, *13*(3), 141–146. https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.0000000000000050

- Pottinger, T. D., Khan, S. S., Zheng, Y., Zhang, W., Tindle, H. A., Allison, M., Wells, G., Shadyab, A. H., Nassir, R., Martin, L. W., Manson, J. E., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Greenland, P., Baccarelli, A. A., Whitsel, E. A., & Hou, L. (2021). Association of cardiovascular health and epigenetic age acceleration. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *13*(1), 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-021-01028-2
- Raffington, L., Belsky, D. W., Kothari, M., Malanchini, M., Tucker-Drob, E. M., & Harden, K. P. (2021). Socioeconomic disadvantage and the pace of biological aging in children. *Pediatrics*, 147(6). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-024406
- Ribeiro, A. I., Amaro, J., Lisi, C., & Fraga, S. (2018). Neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and allostatic load: A scoping review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(6), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15061092
- Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (2015, September 11). *Mapping life expectancy*. https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-and-news/2015/09/city-maps.html
- Schwarz, K., Fragkias, M., Boone, C. G., Zhou, W., McHale, M., Grove, J. M., O'Neil-Dunne, J., McFadden, J. P., Buckley, G. L., Childers, D., Ogden, L., Pincetl, S., Pataki, D., Whitmer, A., & Cadenasso, M. L. (2015). Trees grow on money: Urban tree canopy cover and environmental justice. *Plos One*, *10*(4), e0122051. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122051
- Tricco, A. C., Lillie, E., Zarin, W., O'Brien, K., Colquhoun, H., Kastner, M., Levac, D., Ng, C., Sharpe, J. P., Wilson, K., Kenny, M., Warren, R., Wilson, C., Stelfox, H.
T., & Straus, S. E. (2016). A scoping review on the conduct and reporting of scoping reviews. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0116-4

- Tsui, J., Hirsch, J. A., Bayer, F. J., Quinn, J. W., Cahill, J., Siscovick, D., & Lovasi, G. S. (2020). Patterns in geographic access to health care facilities across neighborhoods in the United States based on data from the National Establishment Time-Series between 2000 and 2014. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(5), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.5105
- Wang, K., Lombard, J., Rundek, T., Dong, C., Gutierrez, C. M., Byrne, M. M., Toro, M., Nardi, M. I., Kardys, J., Yi, L., Szapocznik, J., & Brown, S. C. (2019).
 Relationship of neighborhood greenness to heart disease in 249 405 US Medicare beneficiaries. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 8(6), e010258.
 https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.010258
- Ward-Caviness, C. K., Pu, S., Martin, C. L., Galea, S., Uddin, M., Wildman, D. E., Koenen, K., & Aiello, A. E. (2020). Epigenetic predictors of all-cause mortality are associated with objective measures of neighborhood disadvantage in an urban population. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *12*(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00830-8
- Xiao, Q., Berrigan, D., Powell-Wiley, T. M., & Matthews, C. E. (2018). Ten-year change in neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and rates of total, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality in older US adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 187(12), 2642–2650. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwy181

Xu, R., Li, S., Li, S., Wong, E. M., Southey, M. C., Hopper, J. L., Abramson, M. J., &

Guo, Y. (2021). Surrounding greenness and biological aging based on DNA methylation: A twin and family study in Australia. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *129*(8), 87007. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP8793

Zhang, Y., Wilson, R., Heiss, J., Breitling, L. P., Saum, K.-U., Schöttker, B., Holleczek,
B., Waldenberger, M., Peters, A., & Brenner, H. (2017). DNA methylation
signatures in peripheral blood strongly predict all-cause mortality. *Nature Communications*, 8, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14617

THE AREA DEPRIVATION INDEX CORRESPONDS EFFECTIVELY WITH OTHER MEASURES OF OBJECTIVE SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS IN ADULTS WITH CHRONIC LOW BACK PAIN

by

PAMELA JACKSON, BSN, RN, MLT(ASCP)BB; BUREL R. GOODIN, PhD; D. LEANN LONG, PhD; RITA JABLONSKI, R., PhD; TERENCE M. PENN, MA; ANDREW M. SIMS, BS; TAMMIE QUINN, BA; DEMARIO S. OVERSTREET, MS; MIRJAM-COLETTE KEMPF, PhD., MPH; DEANNA D. RUMBLE, PhD; EDWIN N. AROKE, PhD, CRNA

Journal of Nursing Measurement, 30. https://doi.org/10.1891/JNM-D-20-00126

Copyright 2022 by Springer Publishing Company, Inc.

Used by permission

Format adapted for dissertation

THE AREA DEPRIVATION INDEX CORRESPONDS EFFECTIVELY WITH OTHER MEASURES OF OBJECTIVE SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS IN ADULTS WITH CHRONIC LOW BACK PAIN

Chronic pain has been recognized as a significant cause of suffering in the world (International Association for the Study of Pain, 2017), with an estimated 11% of American adults experiencing pain every day and an annual economic cost approaching \$635 billion (National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health, 2018). Chronic pain is a major cause of disability (Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Advancing Pain Research, Care, and Education, 2011), negatively affecting a person's quality of life and daily activities of work and family (Dueñas et al., 2016). Low back pain is one of the most common painful conditions and is the leading cause of disability worldwide (GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators, 2018). It is consistently among the top 5 reasons for healthcare visits (Ferreira et al., 2010; Maher et al., 2017). Although many individuals with acute low back pain recover, about 1 in 5 progress to chronic low back pain (cLBP), lasting more than 3 months (Maher et al., 2017). The societal cost of cLBP is very high (Dutmer et al., 2019); it is associated with decreased quality of life (Husky et al., 2018), depressive symptoms (Pinheiro et al., 2016; Robertson et al., 2017), and decreased work productivity (Amirdelfan et al., 2018; Dutmer et al., 2019; Vlaeyen et al., 2018). To date, cLBP remains a major public health problem despite concerted efforts to address it.

Prior studies have documented the relationship between socioeconomic status (SES) and pain outcomes (Dorner et al., 2011; Dorner et al., 2018; Ikeda et al., 2019; Morgan et al., 2011; Riskowski, 2014; van Hecke et al., 2013). Generally, lower SES has been associated with virtually every aspect of poor chronic pain outcomes, including pain

severity (Morgan et al., 2011), pain interference (Dorner et al., 2011), and decreased quality of life (Mielck et al., 2014). This trend towards worser pain outcomes in chronic pain has also been documented in cLBP (Hartvigsen et al., 2018; Jonsdottir et al., 2019 & Ikeda et al., 2019). Specifically, higher rates of cLBP correlate with low SES and low educational attainment (Jonsdottir et al., 2019; Ikeda et al., 2019).

Investigators frequently use demographic variables to define SES, but the operational measurement of SES varies between studies. Individual level SES has been operationalized using objective and subjective factors (Jackman & Jackman, 1973). Frequently used objective measures of SES include education, income, occupation, and wealth. Research suggests that an individuals' highest attained level of education is associated with income, wealth, living conditions, and health outcomes (Galobardes et al., 2007). Subjective social status (SSS) is the internally derived perception of one's position in society (Jackman & Jackman, 1973) and predicts various health outcomes after accounting for objective measures of SES. However, it has been suggested that SSS may differ by sex, race, and ethnicity (Shaked et al., 2016; Wolff et al., 2010). Subjective social status is frequently measured using the MacArthur Scale of Subjective Social Status (or MacArthur Ladder) (Ferreira et al., 2018; Hoebel et al., 2017; Stanford University Department of Psychology, n.d.; Subramanyam et al., 2012; Zell et al., 2018). Prior work from our group shows that lower SSS correlates with more severe cLBP and increased pain interference (Aroke et al., 2020).

Besides personal (objective and subjective) measures of SES, the SES of an individuals' environment also affect their living conditions and health (Ross & Mirowsky, 2008). Living in disadvantaged neighborhoods has been associated with poor

health outcomes, including cardiovascular disease, obesity, diabetes, and chronic pain (Barber et al., 2016; Brennan & Turrell, 2012; Ulirsch et al., 2014). The Area Deprivation Index (ADI) is a well-validated instrument that measures neighborhood socioeconomic status (SES). Prior studies have used the ADI to examine the effects of neighborhood SES on several health outcomes (Chamberlain et al., 2020; Durfey et al., 2019; Kind et al., 2014; Kurani et al., 2020; Oates et al., 2019). For example, low neighborhood SES has been found to be associated with multimorbidity of chronic diseases (Chamberlain et al., 2020), diabetes and blood pressure control (Durfey et al., 2019), and the presence of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in pediatric patients with cystic fibrosis (Oates et al., 2019). The ADI assesses SES by measuring social deprivation and neighborhood disadvantage (Kind & Buckingham, 2018). Of relevance to this study, emerging evidence suggests that the SES of the neighborhood in which a person lives (i.e., the level of neighborhood disadvantage) is an important factor in pain outcomes (Green & Hart-Johnson, 2012; Maly & Vallerand, 2018). However, little is known about the utility of various measures of SES to assess the association of SES on chronic pain outcomes. While measures of SES are meant to measure the same overarching concept, they may not be interchangeable. The specific measure chosen to examine relationships between SES and back pain outcomes may influence its predictive ability (Fliesser et al., 2017). Informed by the social determinants of health, this paper will generally examine which measure of SES better predicts cLBP outcomes. The purpose of this study was to compare the ADI with other measures of SES in predicting pain severity and interference in adults with cLBP.

Background and Conceptual Framework

An individual's SES is an essential factor for understanding the personal and societal impact of chronic pain. Chronic pain occurrence and severity increases as objective measures of SES decreases (van Hecke et al., 2013). Other investigators have reported that low SES is linked to poor pain outcomes, while high SES is associated with better results in various pain conditions, including back pain (Dorner et al., 2011; Dorner et al., 2018; Grol-Prokopczyk, 2017; Gurung et al., 2015; Hoy et al., 2010; Janevic et al., 2017; Yu et al., 2020).

In 2010, the World Health Organization published the social determinants of health (SDOH) framework that systematically maps out determinants of health to structural intermediary and health system levels (Solar & Irwin, 2010). SDOH include the conditions in which people live, work, play, and grow. Many SDOH factors tend to cluster among individuals living in underprivileged circumstances and tend to interact with each other. As such, personal factors influence an individual's health and the environment. In turn, their environment affects both personal factors (e.g., health behaviors) and health outcomes (Artiga & Hinton, 2018). The SDOH framework has been used to explore how various chronic conditions are affected by social (personal and environmental) factors. For instance, in 2000, hundreds of thousands of deaths were attributable to negative SDOH, including low education, individual-level poverty, and area-level poverty (Galea et al., 2011).

As depicted in Figure 1, an individual's SES (objective and subjective measures of SES) influences cLBP outcomes. Conceptually, objective measures of SES include individual (income and education) and environmental (ADI) factors (Galobardes et al.,

2007; Krieger et al., 1997; Ross & Mirowsky, 2008; Singh, 2003). These objective measures of SES influence and are influenced by SSS (MacArthur's social status ladder).

Figure 1

Relationship of Objective and Subjective SES Measures and Chronic Low Back Pain



Note. ADI = Area Deprivation Index; 1= Individual-Level, Subjective; 2=Individual-Level, Objective; 3=Area-Level, Objective.

Methods

Study Design and Participants

This methodological study employed a secondary analysis of data collected for an ongoing study: Examining Racial and Socio-economic Disparities in Chronic Low Back Pain (ERASED) (R01MD010441). The goal of the ERASED study is to characterize racial differences in cLBP outcomes using a socio-economic framework. Details of the

ERASED study have previously been published (Aroke et al., 2020; Penn et al., 2020). Briefly, adults between the ages of 19 and 85 years were recruited. Respondents were included if they had non-specific low back pain lasting more than 12 weeks. Exclusion criteria included the presence of other conditions that may confound result interpretation, such as pain conditions (e.g., ankylosing spondylitis, cancer pain, fibromyalgia), neurological diseases (e.g., Parkinson's, epilepsy), or medical conditions (e.g., uncontrolled hypertension or poorly controlled diabetes). Participants included in the current study were recruited between November 2017 and November 2019. Only participants with data for all four measures (ADI, income, education and SSS) of SES being examined in this study were included for analysis. The Institutional Review Board at the University of Alabama at Birmingham reviewed and approved the ERASED study. All procedures were carried out following guidelines for the ethical conduct of research.

Measures

Demographic data included age, sex (male vs. female), and self-identified race (Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, and other). Measures were chosen to represent both area-level and individual SES, as well as objective and subjective SES. The goal was to capture a broad range of aspects of SES with which to compare the ADI. Income and education - measured as self-reported annual household income after taxes and the highest level of education, respectively - served as objective measures of SES at the individual level. Several valid and reliable instruments were used to assess neighborhood disadvantage, SSS, pain severity, and pain interference – the ADI,

MacArthur Ladder of Subjective Social Status, and Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) respectively.

Area Deprivation Index

The ADI is a validated objective measure of SES at the area-level, using neighborhood disadvantage (Singh, 2003; Kind & Buckingham, 2018). Each participant's address was linked to its respective census block, which is publicly available data. The ADI score is created using 17 census indicators of SES using domains such as income, housing, employment, and education (Kind & Buckingham, 2018; Kind et al., 2014). For each participants' census block, we used the 2015 ADI v.2.0 (available at www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu) that assigns a decile (i.e., 1-10) ADI score at the state level. For analysis, the Alabama state-level ADI decile scores were stratified into quintile rankings (i.e., 1-5), whereby the highest ranking '5' represented the greatest level of neighborhood disadvantage and '1' represented the lowest level of neighborhood disadvantage. The ADI has demonstrated high internal consistency (i.e., Cronbach's alpha 0.94) (Singh, 2003; Singh et al., 2002; Singh & Siahpush, 2002) and a high testretest reliability of 0.89 (Singh et al., 2002)

MacArthur Ladder of Subjective Social Status

The MacArthur ladder is a commonly used instrument that measures SSS at the individual level using a visual analog of a ladder (Adler & Stewart, 2007). Participants compare their self-perceived social status relative to others based on the following instructions:

Think of this ladder as representing where people stand in the United States. At the top of the ladder are the people who are the best off – those who have the most money, the most education and the most respected jobs. At the bottom are the people who are the worst off – who have the least money, least education, and the least respected jobs, or no job. The higher up you are on the ladder, the closer you are to people at the very top; the lower you are, the closer you are to the people at the very bottom. Please place a large "X" on the rung of the ladder for where you think you stand at this time in your life, relative to other people in the United States.

Participants ranked their position on the rungs of the ladder 0-10 corresponding with their subjective impression of their level of social status. The MacArthur ladder is a widely used instrument and has been translated into many languages (Ferreira et al., 2018). It has a moderate test-retest reliability ($\rho = 0.62$) (Operario et al., 2004), face validity, moderate concurrent validity (Kappa = 0.55-0.67) (Ferreira et al., 2018) and strong construct validity (Cundiff et al., 2013).

Brief Pain Inventory – Short Form

The BPI is a valid and reliable self-administered 11-item questionnaire to assess clinical pain with an internal consistency reliability of greater than 0.85 (Song et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2004; Ferreira et al., 2018; Majedi et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2004). It measures two dimensions of pain: pain severity (intensity) and pain interference. The construct validity has previously been reported using factor analysis (Ferreira et al., 2011; Song et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2004). Prior work by our team indicates that BPI has internal

consistency $\alpha = 0.94$ in our sample (Aroke et al., 2020). Participants were asked to rate their pain at its worst, least, and average for the last 24 hours and at the time of the study at a scale from 0 to 10. The mean of these 4 -items correspond to the BPI-pain severity score. Using the same type of 0 to 10 scales, participants rated separately how their pain interferes with their life in the following 7 domains: 1) mood, 2) relations with other people, 3) enjoyment, 4) ability to concentrate, 5) appetite, 6) general activity, and 7) walking. Both pain severity and interference items are scored from 0-10.

Data Analysis

The ADI and other measures of SES were compared using Spearman correlations, coefficient of multiple determination partial R², and goodness-of-fit tests Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Bayesian information criteria (BIC). The strength of the correlation coefficients was classified as follows: negligible ($\rho < 0.10$), weak (0.10 - 0.39), moderate (0.40 - 0.69), strong (0.70 - 0.89), and very strong (0.90 - 1.00) (Schober et al., 2018). Linear regression modeling was used to determine the relative contributions of ADI, income, education, and SSS to pain severity/interference. For comparison, partial R² of 0.02-0.14 were considered as small, 0.15-0.34 as medium, and 0.35 or greater as large (Cohen, 1992). Also, lower AIC/BIC scores were considered better, and an internal consistency Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.7$ -0.95 was considered acceptable (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011). Test-retest reliability of the ADI was assessed using a Bland-Altman plot. A power analysis using G*Power 3.1 showed that a sample size of 104 eligible was sufficient to detect a weak correlation ($\rho = 0.27$) and a ΔR^2 of 0.08 with 80% statistical

power and alpha level of 0.05 (Faul et al., 2009). Data were analyzed using R version 4.0.2 statistical software.

Results

Pain severity and interference data were available for 129 participants. Of these, data for all variables of interest were available for 104 participants with cLBP, who were included in the final analyses. Participants were on average, 45 years old and tended to be women (58.7%), and African American (56.7%). The median household income was 35K-39.9K, falling below the Alabama State median income (\$48K) and national median income level (\$60K) (<u>www.census.gov/quickfacts</u>). Approximately 74% of participants received some college education, graduated from college or attended graduate school. On average, participants rated their social status as 5.1 (SD = ±2.0) out of 10. ADI scores were available for 97% of participants representing 85 census block groups, across five counties (Jefferson, Shelby, Bibb, Walker, and Winston) in Central Alabama. Table 1 summarizes the characteristics of participants included in the study.

Correlations of Objective and SSS

As depicted in Table 2, there was a statistically significant moderate negative relationship between the objective measures of social status (income and education) and the ADI, $\rho = -0.57$ and -0.45, respectively. However, ADI and SSS were not significantly correlated (p = 0.335). In

Table 1

Characteristic	Mean (SD) or % (n)			
Age in years	45 ± 13			
Sex				
Female	58.7% (61)			
Male	41.3% (43)			
Ethnicity				
African American	56.7% (59)			
Caucasian	41.3% (43)			
Unknown	1.9% (2)			
Area Deprivation Index (1-5)	2.7 (1.5)			
Income (Median)	\$35K - \$39.9K			
Education				
Partial High School	3.8% (4)			
High School Graduate	22.1% (23)			
Partial College	31.7% (33)			
College Graduate	24% (25)			
Graduate/Professional School	18.2% (19)			

Characteristics of Participants (N = 104)

addition, both pain severity and pain interference negatively correlated with individual measures of social status and positively correlated with ADI. In contrary, the relationship between SSS and pain severity was not statistically significant (p = 0.11). Similarly, the

relationship between pain interference and both education and SSS were not statistically significant.

Table 2

Spearman Correlations Between Measures

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.
1. ADI	-					
2. Income	-0.566**	-				
3. Education	-0.449**	0.455**	-			
4. SSS	-0.096	0.311**	0.181	-		
5. Pain Severity	0.396**	-0.507**	-0.271*	-0.16	-	
6. Pain Interference	0.33**	-0.428**	-0.102	-0.152	0.627**	-
*p<0.05. **p≤0.001.						

Note. ADI=Area Deprivation Index. SSS=Subjective Social Status.

Comparing Predictors of Pain Severity and Interference

The average pain severity and interference scores were 5.1 (SD \pm 2.1) and 4.1 (SD \pm 2.3), respectively. The objective measures that showed significant correlations with pain outcomes were fitted into different linear models to compare their ability to predict pain severity/interference (Figure 2). For pain severity, the model's goodness-of-fit AIC and BIC suggested that income outperforms other measures of objective SES (AIC = 428.29/BIC = 436.22), followed by ADI (AIC = 437.24/BIC = 445.17), with education performing least well (AIC = 446.35/BIC = 454.29). Likewise, for pain interference, AIC and BIC suggested that income performs best (AIC = 456.08/BIC = 464.01), followed closely by ADI (AIC = 4 63.96/BIC = 471.90).

Figure 2



AIC and BIC Scores for SES Pain Severity and Pain Interference With SES Measures

475 470 465 460 455 450 450 445 ADI Income AIC BIC

Assessment of Independent Contribution to Pain Outcomes

We fitted each objective measure of SES into a multiple regression model to assess its independent contribution to pain outcomes assessed. Results of the model predicting pain severity indicated that income made the largest contribution (partial $R^2 =$ 0.098), followed by ADI (partial $R^2 = 0.021$). Similar results were obtained from the model predicting pain interference. The model revealed that while the ADI (partial $R^2 =$ 0.029) makes a small independent contribution, the contribution of income (partial $R^2 =$ 0.100) was greatest. Education contributed a small amount to the interference model (partial $R^2 = 0.026$) and an insignificant amount to the pain severity model (partial $R^2 =$ 0.0003).

Reliability of ADI and BPI

We used ADI decile scores from 2013 and 2015 to determine its test-retest reliability. The test-retest reliability of the ADI was excellent with an intraclass correlation of 0.92 (p <0.001; 95% CI: 0.89 - 0.94). Figure 3 displays the Bland-Altman plot for the differences between the 2013 and 2015 ADI decile scores. Most differences were clustered within two deciles, which are acceptable limits of agreement (Polit & Beck, 2017). Internal consistency of the BPI in our sample was high with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.95 (95% CI: 0.93 - 0.96).

Figure 3

Degree of Agreement Between ADI Deciles for 2013 and 2015



Note. ADI = Area Deprivation Index.

Discussion

Our study offers preliminary evidence that the ADI is an effective measure of SES and adds to the growing body of literature indicating neighborhood disadvantage is an important predictor of pain outcomes. In direct comparisons between objective and subjective measures of SES, our results showed that income performed best at predicting pain severity and interference. However, the ADI outperformed education and SSS, which are other more well-established measures of SES (Galobardes et al., 2007; Krieger et al., 1997; Singh-Manoux et al., 2005). Our findings are consistent with prior studies, which found lower neighborhood SES is associated with poorer pain outcomes. Living in a disadvantaged neighborhood is associated with increased musculoskeletal pain and increased pain interference with daily activities following motor vehicle accident (Ulirsch

et al., 2014). Similarly, greater non-inflammatory musculoskeletal pain interference has been reported among individuals living in low SES neighborhoods in Norway (Brekke et al., 2002). Likewise, Fuentes et al. (2007) found that *high* neighborhood SES is associated with *lower* chronic pain in adults over age 50 years. However, other investigators have shown that while low neighborhood SES is associated with new-onset chronic widespread pain, that relationship is not robust and does not hold up once psychological comorbidities are considered (Davies et al., 2009). This discrepancy may be related to the fact that the neighborhood SES measure used by Davies and colleagues (2009) did not account for income and poverty, which contribute to ADI scores. To our knowledge, this is the first study to offer evidence that suggest that neighborhood disadvantage correlates with pain severity and pain interference in *cLBP*. Thus, for adults with cLBP, ADI may be a good predictor of pain outcomes.

Area-Level Versus Individual-Level Measures of SES

Our findings suggest that there is a moderate relationship between individuallevel versus area-level measures of SES. Also, the area-level measure of SES (i.e., ADI) performs better than some individual-level measures of SES in predicting pain severity and pain interference. The strength of the relationship in our study is slightly higher than previously reported. Buajitti and colleagues (2020) reported a low correlation between individual and area-level SES among participants in the population-based Canadian Community Health Survey. Diez-Roux et al. (2001) found weak correlations between individual and area-level measures of income in an examination of three U.S. based cohorts. The differences in the strength of the relationship between individual and area-

level measures may be related to the fact that various measures capture different dimensions of SES. Also, it may reflect the relative homogeneity of ADI in our study sample.

While the relationships between ADI and income, as well as the ADI and education were significant, the relationship between the ADI and SSS were not. Thus, supporting the view that area- and individual-level measures of SES are related and multidimensional, but not interchangeable (Galobardes et al., 2007; Krieger et al., 1997; & Geyer et al., 2006). It is possible that an individual's neighborhood may be a reflection of their income and education, which does not necessarily reflect the individual's perception of their SES. Unfortunately, this complex relationship is under-explored among individuals living with cLBP. Fliesser and colleagues (2017), examined the relationship of chronic back pain outcomes with three different singular, individual-level measures of SES and a multidimensional, individual-level index. While the multidimensional measure predicted pain intensity best, singular measures were better at predicting disability. They concluded that the predictive ability of SES on back pain is variable based on the SES measure that is chosen (Fliesser et al., 2017). Other investigators have argued that it may not be "useful or theoretically compelling to search for a single 'best' indicator" of SES because different measures of SES capture different dimensions of the social hierarchy (Galobardes et al., 2007). Therefore, different SES indicators may measure different ways SES impacts health (Galobardes et al., 2007). Ultimately, our results support the inclusion of area-level indicators in addition to individual-level measures to better understand the impact of SES on cLBP.

Objective Versus Subjective Measures of SES

In our study, objective measures of SES significantly predicted pain severity and interference, while our subjective SES measure did not. These findings support the fact that objective and subjective measures of SES are not interchangeable (Shaked et al., 2016). Other studies have reported that objective measures of SES are associated with back pain outcomes. Using the objective measures income and education, Dorner et al. (2011) found lower SES to be associated with greater disability from pain. Similarly, a review by Hoy et al. (2010) found that low educational status is a common risk factor for low back pain. Jonsdottir et al. (2019) report an association between low SES and low educational attainment as risk factors for chronic back pain. Similarly, in her study using nationally representative data from the U.S., Riskowski (2014) found increased odds of back pain for both men and women with the lowest SES.

Limitations

This study has a number of limitations, including the modest number of participants, homogeneity of participants neighborhood, and idiosyncratic relationship between predictors and pain outcomes. Due to missing data on full address and income, approximately 80% of the original 129 participants were included in the final analysis. While there is no set cutoff for missing data, five percent is considered inconsequential and over ten percent may be considered problematic for inference (Dong & Peng, 2013). Also, most of our participants resided in the Birmingham-Hoover, Alabama metropolitan area. The Birmingham-Hoover metropolitan area covers over 5200 square miles and is the most populous area of the state of Alabama, with an estimated population of over 1.1

million (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018). Future studies should include participants from other geographic areas because measuring SES involves assessment of a social hierarchy, which may vary from one geographic location to another (Jackman & Jackman, 1973; Singh-Manoux et al., 2005). The use of the ADI that relies on census block data is a major limitation. This is because the reliability of the ADI score depends on the accuracy of the census data (Messer & Kaufman, 2006). However, multiple indicators are preferred when measuring SES (Messer & Kaufman, 2006). Thus, the breadth of the census data could be a strength because the ADI uses 17 indicators to assess neighborhood SES. Finally, the cross-sectional approach limited our ability to determine how long the participants had lived in the disadvantaged neighborhood.

Relevance to Nursing Practice and Research

Our findings have important implications for nursing practice and research. These findings suggest that research on SES and pain that encompasses both area-level and individual-level factors will provide valuable perspective on pain outcomes. Considering that SES may play a role in the development of pain and musculoskeletal pain severity (Maly & Vallerand, 2018; Riskowski, 2014), our findings support the adoption of neighborhood disadvantage screening for patients with, or at risk for developing chronic pain. Since the ADI allows for assessment of neighborhood disadvantage using readily available data, it may be a valuable tool in efforts to address chronic pain disparities, especially those based on geographically delineated SES inequality. An understanding of the level of neighborhood disadvantage of individuals and groups may be useful for the planning of patient care because it can help identify patients who would benefit from

interventions that address area-level SDOH. Regarding research implications, nurse scientists should investigate the effect of neighborhood on chronic pain outcomes using a longitudinal approach. Also, future studies should compare individual versus area level interventions in addressing SES disparities in chronic pain.

Conclusion

Individual and area factors correlate with cLBP outcomes such that lower income, lower education, and living in a disadvantaged neighborhood predicts cLBP severity and interference. To better understand the impact of SES on cLBP outcomes, both area-level and individual-level aspects of SES should be considered. Results generally fit with previously established findings that different measures of SES are related but not interchangeable. Among SES measures, income appears to be the strongest predictors of cLBP outcomes.

References

Adler, N. E., & Stewart, J. (2007). *The MacArthur Scale of Subjective Social Status*. Retrieved August 8, 2019, from

https://macses.ucsf.edu/research/psychosocial/subjective.php

- Amir, D., Valeggia, C., Srinivasan, M., Sugiyama, L. S., & Dunham, Y. (2019).
 Measuring subjective social status in children of diverse societies. *Plos One*, *14*(12), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226550
- Amirdelfan, K., Yu, C., Doust, M. W., Gliner, B. E., Morgan, D. M., Kapural, L., ... Subbaroyan, J. (2018). Long-term quality of life improvement for chronic intractable back and leg pain patients using spinal cord stimulation: 12-month results from the SENZA-RCT. *Quality of Life Research*, 27(8), 2035–2044. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-018-1890-8
- Aroke, E. N., Jackson, P., Overstreet, D. S., Penn, T. M., Rumble, D. D., Kehrer, C. V.,
 ... Goodin, B. R. (2020). Race, social status, and depressive symptoms: A
 moderated mediation analysis of chronic low back pain interference and severity. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000849
- Artiga, S., & Hinton, E. (2018). Beyond health care: The role of social determinants in promoting health and health equity (Issue Brief). Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Retrieved from http://files.kff.org/attachment/issue-brief-beyondhealth-care
- Barber, S., Hickson, D. A., Wang, X., Sims, M., Nelson, C., & Diez-Roux, A. V. (2016).
 Neighborhood disadvantage, poor social conditions, and cardiovascular disease incidence among African American adults in the Jackson Heart Study. *American*

Journal of Public Health, *106*(12), 2219–2226.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303471

- Brekke, M., Hjortdahl, P., & Kvien, T. K. (2002). Severity of musculoskeletal pain:
 Relations to socio-economic inequality. *Social Science & Medicine*, *54*(2), 221–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(01)00018-1
- Brennan, S. L., & Turrell, G. (2012). Neighborhood disadvantage, individual-level socioeconomic position, and self-reported chronic arthritis: A cross-sectional multilevel study. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 64(5), 721–728. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.21590
- Buajitti, E., Chiodo, S., & Rosella, L. C. (2020). Agreement between area- and individual-level income measures in a population-based cohort: Implications for population health research. SSM - Population Health, 10, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100553
- Chamberlain, A. M., Finney Rutten, L. J., Wilson, P. M., Fan, C., Boyd, C. M., Jacobson, D. J., Rocca, W. A., & St Sauver, J. L. (2020). Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is associated with multimorbidity in a geographically-defined community. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8123-0
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Cundiff, J. M., Smith, T. W., Uchino, B. N., & Berg, C. A. (2013). Subjective social status: construct validity and associations with psychosocial vulnerability and self-rated health. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 20(1), 148–158.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-011-9206-1

- Davies, K. A., Silman, A. J., Macfarlane, G. J., Nicholl, B. I., Dickens, C., Morriss, R.,
 ... McBeth, J. (2009). The association between neighbourhood socio-economic status and the onset of chronic widespread pain: Results from the EPIFUND study. *European Journal of Pain*, *13*(6), 635–640.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2008.07.003
- Diez-Roux, A. V., Kiefe, C. I., Jacobs, D. R., Haan, M., Jackson, S. A., Nieto, F. J., Paton, C. C., & Schulz, R. (2001). Area characteristics and individual-level socioeconomic position indicators in three population-based epidemiologic studies. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *11*(6), 395–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1047-2797(01)00221-6
- Dong, Y., & Peng, C.-Y. J. (2013). Principled missing data methods for researchers. *SpringerPlus*, 2(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-2-222
- Dorner, T. E., Muckenhuber, J., Stronegger, W. J., Ràsky, E., Gustorff, B., & Freidl, W. (2011). The impact of socio-economic status on pain and the perception of disability due to pain. *European Journal of Pain*, 15(1), 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2010.05.013
- Dorner, T.E., Stein, K. V., Hahne, J., Wepner, F., Friedrich, M., & Mittendorfer-Rutz, E. (2018). How are socio-demographic and psycho-social factors associated with the prevalence and chronicity of severe pain in 14 different body sites? A crosssectional population-based survey. *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift*, 130(1–2), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00508-017-1223-x

Dueñas, M., Ojeda, B., Salazar, A., Mico, J. A., & Failde, I. (2016). A review of chronic

pain impact on patients, their social environment and the health care system. *Journal of Pain Research*, *9*, 457–467. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S105892

- Durfey, S. N. M., Kind, A. J. H., Buckingham, W. R., DuGoff, E. H., & Trivedi, A. N. (2019). Neighborhood disadvantage and chronic disease management. *Health Services Research*, 54 Suppl 1, 206–216. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13092
- Dutmer, A. L., Schiphorst Preuper, H. R., Soer, R., Brouwer, S., Bültmann, U., Dijkstra,
 P. U., ... Reneman, M. F. (2019). Personal and societal impact of low back pain:
 The Groningen Spine Cohort. *Spine*, 44(24), E1443–E1451.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.000000000003174
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Ferreira, K. A., Teixeira, M. J., Mendonza, T. R., & Cleeland, C. S. (2011). Validation of brief pain inventory to Brazilian patients with pain. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 19(4), 505–511. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-010-0844-7
- Ferreira, M. L., Machado, G., Latimer, J., Maher, C., Ferreira, P. H., & Smeets, R. J. (2010). Factors defining care-seeking in low back pain: A meta-analysis of population based surveys. *European Journal of Pain*, 14(7), 747.e1-747.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2009.11.005
- Ferreira, W. de A., Giatti, L., Figueiredo, R. C. de, Mello, H. R. de, & Barreto, S. M. (2018). Concurrent and face validity of the MacArthur scale for assessing subjective social status: Brazilian Longitudinal Study of Adult Health (ELSA-

Brasil). *Ciencia & Saude Coletiva*, 23(4), 1267–1280.

https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232018234.16972016

- Fliesser, M., De Witt Huberts, J., & Wippert, P.-M. (2017). The choice that matters: The relative influence of socio-economic status indicators on chronic back pain - a longitudinal study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2735-9
- Fuentes, M., Hart-Johnson, T., & Green, C. R. (2007). The association among neighborhood socio-economic status, race and chronic pain in black and white older adults. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 99(10), 1160–1169.
- Galea, S., Tracy, M., Hoggatt, K. J., Dimaggio, C., & Karpati, A. (2011). Estimated deaths attributable to social factors in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(8), 1456–1465. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2010.300086
- Galobardes, B., Lynch, J., & Smith, G. D. (2007). Measuring socio-economic position in health research. *British Medical Bulletin*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldm001
- GBD 2017 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. (2018). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *The Lancet*, 392, 1789–1858. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7
- Green, C. R., & Hart-Johnson, T. (2012). The association between race and neighborhood socio-economic status in younger Black and White adults with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain*, *13*(2), 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2011.10.008

- Grol-Prokopczyk, H. (2017). Sociodemographic disparities in chronic pain, based on 12year longitudinal data. *Pain*, 158(2), 313–322. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000762
- Gurung, T., Ellard, D. R., Mistry, D., Patel, S., & Underwood, M. (2015). Identifying potential moderators for response to treatment in low back pain: A systematic review. *Physiotherapy*, 101(3), 243–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2015.01.006
- Hartvigsen, J., Hancock, M. J., Kongsted, A., Louw, Q., Ferreira, M. L., Genevay, S.,
 Hoy, D., Karppinen, J., Pransky, G., Sieper, J., Smeets, R. J., Underwood, M., &
 Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group. (2018). What low back pain is and
 why we need to pay attention. *The Lancet*, *391*(10137), 2356–2367.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30480-X
- Hoebel, J., Maske, U. E., Zeeb, H., & Lampert, T. (2017). Social inequalities and depressive symptoms in adults: The role of objective and subjective socioeconomic status. *Plos One*, *12*(1), e0169764.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169764
- Hoy, D., Brooks, P., Blyth, F., & Buchbinder, R. (2010). The Epidemiology of low back pain. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology, 24(6), 769–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2010.10.002
- Husky, M. M., Ferdous Farin, F., Compagnone, P., Fermanian, C., & Kovess-Masfety, V. (2018). Chronic back pain and its association with quality of life in a large French population survey. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *16*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-018-1018-4

- Ikeda, T., Sugiyama, K., Aida, J., Tsuboya, T., Watabiki, N., Kondo, K., & Osaka, K. (2019). Socio-economic inequalities in low back pain among older people: The JAGES cross-sectional study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 18(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-019-0918-1
- International Association for the Study of Pain. (2017, December 14). *IASP terminology*. Retrieved September 12, 2019, from https://www.iasppain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Advancing Pain Research, Care, and Education. (2011). Relieving pain in america: A blueprint for transforming prevention, care, education, and research. National Academies Press (US). https://doi.org/10.17226/13172
- Jackman, M. R., & Jackman, R. W. (1973). An interpretation of the relation between objective and subjective social status. *American Sociological Review*, 38(5), 569– 582. https://doi.org/10.2307/2094408
- Janevic, M. R., McLaughlin, S. J., Heapy, A. A., Thacker, C., & Piette, J. D. (2017). Racial and socioeconomic disparities in disabling chronic pain: Findings from the health and retirement study. *The Journal of Pain*, *18*(12), 1459–1467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.07.005
- Jonsdottir, S., Ahmed, H., Tómasson, K., & Carter, B. (2019). Factors associated with chronic and acute back pain in Wales, a cross-sectional study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 20(1), 215. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-2477-4

Kind, A. J. H., & Buckingham, W. R. (2018). Making neighborhood-disadvantage

metrics accessible - The Neighborhood Atlas. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *378*(26), 2456–2458. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1802313

- Kind, A. J. H., Jencks, S., Brock, J., Yu, M., Bartels, C., Ehlenbach, W., Greenberg, C., & Smith, M. (2014). Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and 30-day rehospitalization: A retrospective cohort study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *161*(11), 765–774. https://doi.org/10.7326/M13-2946
- Krieger, N., Williams, D. R., & Moss, N. E. (1997). Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 18, 341–378. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.18.1.341
- Kurani, S., McCoy, R. G., Inselman, J., Jeffery, M. M., Chawla, S., Finney Rutten, L. J., Giblon, R., & Shah, N. D. (2020). Place, poverty and prescriptions: A crosssectional study using Area Deprivation Index to assess opioid use and drugpoisoning mortality in the USA from 2012 to 2017. *BMJ Open*, *10*(5), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035376
- Maher, C., Underwood, M., & Buchbinder, R. (2017). Non-specific low back pain. *The Lancet*, *389*, 736–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30970-9
- Majedi, H., Dehghani, S. S., Soleyman-Jahi, S., Emami Meibodi, S. A., Mireskandari, S.
 M., Hajiaghababaei, M., Tafakhori, A., Mendoza, T. R., & Cleeland, C. S. (2017).
 Validation of the Persian Version of the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI-P) in Chronic
 Pain Patients. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, *54*(1), 132–138.e2.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.02.017
- Maly, A., & Vallerand, A. H. (2018). Neighborhood, socio-economic, and racial influence on chronic pain. *Pain Management Nursing*, *19*(1), 14–22.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2017.11.004

- Messer, L. C., & Kaufman, J. S. (2006). Using census data to approximate neighborhood effects. In J. M. Oakes & J. S. Kaufman (Eds.), *Methods in Social Epidemiology* (1st ed., pp. 209–236). Jossey-Bass.
- Mielck, A., Vogelmann, M., & Leidl, R. (2014). Health-related quality of life and socioeconomic status: Inequalities among adults with a chronic disease. *Health* and Ouality of Life Outcomes, 12, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-12-58
- Morgan, C. L., Conway, P., & Currie, C. J. (2011). The relationship between selfreported severe pain and measures of socio-economic disadvantage. *European Journal of Pain*, 15(10), 1107–1111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.04.010
- National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. (2018). *Chronic pain in depth*. Retrieved August 6, 2019, from

https://nccih.nih.gov/health/pain/chronic.htm

Oates, G. R., Harris, W. T., Rowe, S. M., Solomon, G. M., Dey, S., Zhu, A., Hoover, W. C., & Gutierrez, H. H. (2019). Area deprivation as a risk factor for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in pediatric cystic fibrosis. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal*, *38*(11), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.00000000002419

- Operario, D., Adler, N. E., & Williams, D. R. (2004). Subjective social status: reliability and predictive utility for global health. *Psychology & Health*, *19*(2), 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440310001638098
- Penn, T. M., Overstreet, D. S., Aroke, E. N., Rumble, D. D., Sims, A. M., Kehrer, C. V.,... Goodin, B. R. (2020). Perceived injustice helps explain the association

between chronic pain stigma and movement-evoked pain in adults with nonspecific chronic low back pain. *Pain Medicine, April,* 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnaa095

- Pinheiro, M. B., Ferreira, M. L., Refshauge, K., Maher, C. G., Ordoñana, J. R., Andrade, T. B., ... Ferreira, P. H. (2016). Symptoms of depression as a prognostic factor for low back pain: a systematic review. *The Spine Journal*, *16*(1), 105–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2015.10.037
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (10th ed.). Wolters Kluwer.
- Riskowski, J. L. (2014). Associations of socio-economic position and pain prevalence in the United States: Findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Pain Medicine*, 15(9), 1508–1521. https://doi.org/10.1111/pme.12528
- Robertson, D., Kumbhare, D., Nolet, P., Srbely, J., & Newton, G. (2017). Associations between low back pain and depression and somatization in a Canadian emerging adult population. *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, *61*(2), 96–105.
- Ross, C. E., & Mirowsky, J. (2008). Neighborhood socio-economic status and health: Context or composition? *City and Community*, 7(2), 163–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6040.2008.00251.x
- Schober, P., Boer, C., & Schwarte, L. A. (2018). Correlation coefficients: Appropriate use and interpretation. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, 126(5), 1763–1768. https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.00000000002864

Shaked, D., Williams, M., Evans, M. K., & Zonderman, A. B. (2016). Indicators of

subjective social status: Differential associations across race and sex. *SSM* - *Population Health*, *2*, 700–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.09.009

Singh, G. K. (2003). Area deprivation and widening inequalities in US mortality, 1969-1998. American Journal of Public Health, 93(7), 1137–1143. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.93.7.1137

Singh, G. K., Miller, B. A., & Hankey, B. F. (2002). Changing area socio-economic patterns in U.S. cancer mortality, 1950-1998: Part II--Lung and colorectal cancers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 94(12), 916–925. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/94.12.916

Singh, G. K., & Siahpush, M. (2002). Increasing inequalities in all-cause and cardiovascular mortality among US adults aged 25-64 years by area socioeconomic status, 1969-1998. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *31*(3), 600– 613. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/31.3.600

Singh-Manoux, A., Marmot, M. G., & Adler, N. E. (2005). Does subjective social status predict health and change in health status better than objective status? *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 67(6), 855–861. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000188434.52941.a0

- Solar, O., & Irwin, A. A. (2010). A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health: Social determinants of health discussion paper 2 (Policy and Practice). World Health Organization. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/social_determinants/corner/SDHDP2.pdf?ua=1
- Song, C.-Y., Lin, S.-F., Huang, C.-Y., Wu, H.-C., Chen, C.-H., & Hsieh, C.-L. (2016). Validation of the brief pain inventory in patients with low back pain. *Spine*,

41(15), E937-E942. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000001478

- Stanford University Department of Psychology. (n.d.). MacArthur Scale of Subjective Social Status – Adult Version. Stanford SPARQtools. Retrieved January 13, 2021, from https://sparqtools.org/mobility-measure/macarthur-scale-of-subjectivesocial-status-adult-version/
- Subramanyam, M. A., Diez-Roux, A. V., Hickson, D. A., Sarpong, D. F., Sims, M., Taylor, H. A., Williams, D. R., & Wyatt, S. B. (2012). Subjective social status and psychosocial and metabolic risk factors for cardiovascular disease among African Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(8), 1146–1154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.12.042
- Tan, G., Jensen, M. P., Thornby, J. I., & Shanti, B. F. (2004). Validation of the Brief Pain Inventory for chronic nonmalignant pain. *The Journal of Pain*, 5(2), 133–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2003.12.005
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. International Journal of Medical Education, 2, 53–55. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd
- Ulirsch, J. C., Weaver, M. A., Bortsov, A. V., Soward, A. C., Swor, R. A., Peak, D. A.,
 ... McLean, S. A. (2014). No man is an island: Living in a disadvantaged
 neighborhood influences chronic pain development after motor vehicle collision. *Pain*, 155(10), 2116–2123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.07.025
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2018). *American Community Survey 1-year estimates*. Retrieved August 19, 2020, from https://censusreporter.org/profiles/31000US13820birmingham-hoover-al-metro-area/

van Hecke, O., Torrance, N., & Smith, B. H. (2013). Chronic pain epidemiology: Where

do lifestyle factors fit in? *British Journal of Pain*, *7*(4), 209–217. https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463713493264

- Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Maher, C. G., Wiech, K., Van Zundert, J., Meloto, C. B., Diatchenko, L., ... Linton, S. J. (2018). Low back pain. *Nature Reviews. Disease Primers*, 4(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-018-0052-1
- Wolff, L. S., Acevedo-Garcia, D., Subramanian, S. V., Weber, D., & Kawachi, I. (2010).
 Subjective social status, a new measure in health disparities research: Do race/ethnicity and choice of referent group matter? *Journal of Health Psychology*, *15*(4), 560–574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105309354345</u>
- Yu, T., Wei, Z., Xu, T., Gamber, M., Han, J., Jiang, Y., Li, J., Yang, D., & Sun, W. (2020). The association between the socioeconomic status and body pain: A nationwide survey. *Medicine*, 99(12), e19454.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000019454
- Zell, E., Strickhouser, J. E., & Krizan, Z. (2018). Subjective social status and health: A meta-analysis of community and society ladders. *Health Psychology*, 37(10), 979–987. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000667</u>
EPIGENETIC AGE ACCELERATION MEDIATES THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN NEIGHBORHOOD DEPRIVATION AND PAIN SEVERITY IN ADULTS WITH KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS PAIN

PAMELA JACKSON, BSN, RN, MLT(ASCP)BB; YENISEL CRUZ-ALMEIDA, PhD, MSPH; PENG LI, PhD; BUREL R. GOODIN, PhD; MIRJAM COLETTE-KEMPF, PhD, MPH; BERTHA HIDALGO, PhD; LARISSA J. STRATH, PhD; ZHIGUANG HUO, PhD; LINGSONG MENG, PhD; THOMAS C. FOSTER, PhD; JESSICA A. PETERSON, PhD; CESAR E. GONZALEZ, MA; ROGER FILLINGIM, PhD; TAMMIE QUINN, BA; EDWIN N. AROKE, PhD, CRNA

In preparation for Journal of Community Health

Format adapted for dissertation

EPIGENETIC AGE ACCELERATION MEDIATES THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN NEIGHBORHOOD DEPRIVATION AND PAIN SEVERITY IN ADULTS WITH KNEE OSTEOARTHRITIS PAIN

Introduction

Pain is the primary symptom of knee osteoarthritis (KOA) and the main reason patients with KOA seek health care (Neogi, 2013). The global burden of KOA is high, estimated at 250 million people worldwide (Vos et al., 2012). It is a degenerative joint disease characterized by progressive wearing away of the articular cartilage (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022). As an age-related condition (Hsu & Siwiec, 2022), KOA is a leading cause of disability among older adults (Cross et al., 2014), with an estimated 25% of persons over age 55 years experiencing an episode of knee pain each year (Heidari, 2011). In addition to its connection to functional disability, multiple studies have detected an association between KOA and all-cause mortality (Hawker et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2015; Nüesch et al., 2011). To date, most studies have focused on the influence of chronological age and individual-level factors on KOA pain, leaving critical questions regarding the intersection of environmental and genetic factors.

Emerging evidence suggests a link between neighborhood socioeconomic status or disadvantage (i.e., neighborhood deprivation or living in a neighborhood with high levels of deprivation compared with national levels) and chronic pain (Fuentes et al., 2007; Green & Hart-Johnson, 2012; Jordan et al., 2008; Maly & Vallerand, 2018; Ulirsch et al., 2014). As it relates to this study, residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods are at greater risk of developing KOA (Reyes et al., 2015) and experiencing more severe KOA pain (Kopp et al., 2021). Such socioeconomic disparities in chronic pain are well documented (Grol-Prokopczyk, 2017; Janevic et al., 2017; Maly & Vallerand, 2018;

Zajacova et al., 2021), including worse outcomes for residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods (Fuentes et al., 2007; Green & Hart-Johnson, 2012; Jackson et al., 2021). High-deprivation neighborhoods have a high concentration of poverty and lack socioeconomic resource-based indicators such as employment and quality housing. These neighborhoods also lack many characteristics of the built environment that are needed to live a healthy life, like safety (Clark et al., 2013; Loh et al., 2018), walkability (Bereitschaft, 2017), as well as access to health care (Tsui et al., 2020), healthy foods (Hallum et al., 2020), and organized physical activities (Cohen et al., 2012). Residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods are more likely to experience multiple chronic conditions, even after controlling for other socioeconomic status measures (Chamberlain et al., 2020). However, the physiological underpinnings for neighborhood disparities in KOA are poorly understood.

Epigenetic modifications are environmentally sensitive changes in gene expression that have been proposed as a mechanism for the pathogenesis of chronic pain (Aroke et al., 2019; Buchheit et al., 2012; Denk & McMahon, 2012; Descalzi et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2015), including osteoarthritis pain (Reynard & Loughlin, 2012). Specifically, epigenetic modifications are stable and heritable alterations to the chromosome, primarily from environmental exposures that do not alter DNA sequences (Aristizabal et al., 2020). While there are several types of epigenetic changes (i.e., miRNA, long non-coding RNA, histone modifications), DNA methylation is the most well-studied epigenetic change (Lowe et al., 2015). DNA methylation refers to the covalent addition of a methyl group to the cytosine nucleotide of a DNA molecule. While some genes (or segments of genes) are normally methylated, exposure to internal and external stimuli can change the level of DNA methylation, resulting in hyper- or hypomethylated segments (Meaney, 2010). These changes in DNA methylation may alter gene expression, thereby increasing or decreasing gene function, with subsequent changes in the production of proteins controlled by the associated genes (Brockie et al., 2013). Thus, various environmental exposures across the lifespan change the DNA methylation profile, alter health outcomes (Brockie et al., 2013), affect aging, and may help explain the development of age-related chronic conditions.

Several approaches have been developed that use DNA methylation patterns to estimate an individual's biological age, also called "epigenetic clocks" (Chen et al., 2016). Epigenetic clocks are strong predictors of chronological age (Simpson & Chandra, 2021), but some individuals' epigenetic/biological age does not correlate with chronological age. Epigenetic age acceleration (EpAA) represents epigenetic age advancing faster than actual chronological age (Fransquet et al., 2019; Hillary et al., 2020; McCartney et al., 2018; Perna et al., 2016). EpAA strongly correlates with agerelated diseases, including chronic pain (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2019) and KOA pain outcomes (Strath et al., 2022), as well as all-cause mortality (Marioni et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2017). Additionally, EpAA is associated with lower socioeconomic status (Fiorito et al., 2019; Fiorito et al., 2017; Hughes et al., 2018; Schmitz et al., 2022), including neighborhood deprivation (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2021; Lei et al., 2019). However, whether EpAA may explain the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity remains unexplored. This study aims to determine if EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity.

Methods

Participants

This study is a secondary analysis of data collected as part of the larger Understanding Pain and Limitations in Osteoarthritic Disease (UPLOAD-2) study, which aims to understand mechanisms for racial/ethnic differences in knee pain. Participants were recruited as part of the parent study, and a full description of procedures for study enrollment has been published elsewhere (Bartley et al., 2019; Thompson et al., 2018). Briefly, individuals between the ages of 45-85 years with and without KOA were recruited from the University of Florida (Gainesville, Florida, USA) and the University of Alabama at Birmingham (Birmingham, Alabama, USA). Inclusion criteria included selfidentification as non-Hispanic Black or non-Hispanic White and English-speaking. Exclusion criteria included: (a) major surgery to the most painful knee (e.g., total knee replacement), (b) diagnosis with a systemic rheumatic disease (e.g., fibromyalgia, systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis), (c) cardiovascular disease or history of myocardial infarction, (d) uncontrolled hypertension (systolic > 150, diastolic > 95mmHg), (e) major psychiatric illness, (f) pregnancy, (g) chronic opioid use, (h) neurological disease (e.g., multiple sclerosis, loss of sensory or motor function following stroke, Parkinson's), (i) neuropathy, or (j) substantial pain in a body site besides the knee. The institutional review boards of the University of Alabama at Birmingham (Birmingham, AL, USA) and the University of Florida (Gainesville, FL, USA) approved the study, and all participants provided written informed consent. The present study uses only data from participants with KOA, and only measures relevant to the aims of this ancillary study are presented below.

General Study Procedures

Demographic information, including age, ethnicity, sex, and addresses, were collected by self-report during an initial phone screening. Data collection occurred during two sessions. Informed consent was obtained prior to beginning the Health Assessment Session, followed by a health and pain history and physical exam. Participants attended a quantitative sensory testing (QST) session approximately 1 week later. Blood samples and clinical pain measures were collected during this second session. We accessed the data through a Limited Dataset Data Transfer Agreement approved by the University of Florida and the University of Alabama at Birmingham.

Measures

Graded Chronic Pain Scale

Knee osteoarthritis pain severity was assessed using the Graded Chronic Pain Scale (GCPS) intensity three-question subscale. The GCPS is a well-validated and reliable instrument to measure pain intensity and pain-related disability (Elliott et al., 2000). Using an 11-point Likert scale, participants were asked to rate their current, average, and worst pain over the last 6 months on a scale of 0–10, with 0 representing *no pain* and 10 representing *pain as bad as could be*. The GCPS pain intensity mean scores were multiplied by 10 to yield a score range of 0–100, with higher scores indicating greater pain.

Neighborhood Deprivation

We assessed neighborhood deprivation based on participants' nine-digit zip code using the Area Deprivation Index (ADI). The ADI is a well-validated instrument (Kind & Buckingham, 2018; Singh, 2003) that uses 17 census block indicators to create a score of the level of deprivation for a neighborhood. The census block indicators used to create the score capture the neighborhood-level socioeconomic domains of income, housing, employment, and education (Kind et al., 2014; Kind & Buckingham, 2018). We downloaded each participant's 2019 ADI v.3.1 state decile score from the developers' website (www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu).

Blood Collection and Processing, DNA Extraction, and Methylation Analysis

Peripheral whole blood was collected from the forearm or hand into a 10ml ethylene-diamine-tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) anticoagulant tube. The EDTA tube was centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes, and the buffy coat was harvested and stored in a cryovial at -80°C before DNA extraction. DNA was isolated by first thawing the buffy coat sample at 37°C to ensure homogenous dissolution. Approximately 150-200ul of the sample was then lysed in red blood cell lysis buffer and centrifuged at 6000 rpm at room temperature for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, sodium EDTA solution was added to the precipitate, and then gently vortexed to resuspend. This suspension was incubated at 50-55°C with Proteinase K and SDS solution. After incubation, an equal volume of phenol was added, mixed, and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was harvested and transferred to a fresh tube. An equal volume of phenol-chloroform-isoamyl alcohol was added to the precipitate, mixed, and centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 10 minutes.

10,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was harvested and transferred to a fresh tube, and 1/10th the volume of 3M sodium acetate was added to the precipitate along with two volumes of absolute alcohol. The precipitated DNA was washed with 70% ethanol by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 5 minutes, after which the pellet was air dried and dissolved in Tris-EDTA buffer. The dissolved DNA was assessed for quality using qubit quantification and visualization on agarose gel. The Moffitt Cancer Center, Molecular Genomics Core (3011 Holly Dr., Tampa, FL 33612) performed the sodium bisulfite conversion and Illumina EPIC methylation array analysis.

Epigenetic Age Acceleration Calculation

Epigenetic age was calculated using the GrimAge method (Lu et al., 2019) via an online calculator (https://dnamage.genetics.ucla.edu/home). The EPIC array raw data (.idat files) underwent quality control and normalization before inputting into the calculator. The ChAMP (Chip Analysis Methylation Pipeline for Illumina HumanMethylation EPIC) protocol (Tian et al., 2017) was used to obtain normalized beta values. A subset of the normalized beta values was uploaded with a sample annotation file as directed by the online calculator's protocol document. EpAA was calculated as the difference between GrimAge and chronological age, which can be a positive or negative number, with positive values indicative of epigenetic age acceleration or an epigenetic age older than chronological age (Lawrence et al., 2020). The GrimAge clock was selected as the most suitable choice because, in our sample, it has previously been shown to relate most significantly with the experience of pain (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2022; Peterson et al., 2022; Strath et al., 2022)

Statistical Analyses

Data were analyzed using R version 4.1.0 statistical software. Before analyses, data were cleaned to include only the variables relevant to the present study. The relationships between pain severity, neighborhood deprivation, and measures of age were assessed using Spearman correlations, with the strength of the correlation coefficients classified as follows: negligible (< 0.10), weak (0.10–0.39), moderate (0.40–0.69), strong (0.70–0.89), and very strong (0.90–1.00) (Schober et al., 2018). Next, causal mediation analyses using the "mediation" R package were performed to determine whether epigenetic age acceleration mediated the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity, with neighborhood deprivation as the predictor variable (X), epigenetic age acceleration as the mediator (M), and pain severity as the outcome variable (Y). The significance of the mediation model was tested using the bootstrap technique with 95% CI generated based on 1,000 simulations.

Results

Sample Characteristics

Of 245 participants recruited into the parent study, 128 participants with KOA who had complete pain, epigenetics, and neighborhood deprivation data were included in the present study sample. Participant characteristics are detailed in Table 1. The sample was mostly female (60.9%), had a mean chronological age of 58.3 years (\pm 7.9 years), and was approximately half non-Hispanic Black (49.2%) and half non-Hispanic White (50.1%). The mean pain severity score was 54.2 (\pm 23.1), and the mean EpAA was 2.9 years (\pm 5.9 years). The average neighborhood deprivation score was 6.0 (\pm 3.0).

Table 1

<i>Characteristics</i>	of Partici	pants $(N =$	128)

Characteristic	Mean (SD), Median (Range), $\%$ (n)		
Chronological age (years)	58.3 (7.9)		
GrimAge (years)	61.2 (7.7)		
GrimAge EpAA (years)	2.9 (5.9)		
Sex			
Male	39.1% (50)		
Female	60.9% (78)		
Ethnicity			
Non-Hispanic Black	49.2% (63)		
Non-Hispanic White	50.8% (65)		
Neighborhood Deprivation (1–10)	7.0 (1-10)		
Pain Severity (0–100)	53.3 (10-100)		

Pain Severity and Neighborhood Deprivation Associations With Measures of Chronological and Epigenetic Age

We used Spearman's bivariate correlations to establish the relationship between key variables. Pain severity positively correlated with EpAA and neighborhood deprivation and negatively correlated with chronological and epigenetic age. As shown in Table 2, the magnitude of the relationship with pain severity was strongest with EpAA (ρ = 0.47, p < 0.001), followed by chronological age (ρ = -0.38, p < 0.001), and neighborhood deprivation (ρ = 0.25, p = 0.004). Neighborhood deprivation positively correlated with pain severity ($\rho = 0.25$, p < 0.01), epigenetic age acceleration ($\rho = 0.25$, p < 0.01), and epigenetic age ($\rho = 0.14$, p > 0.05). However, while the relationships between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity and between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity and between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age was not significant (p > 0.05). Even though we observed a negative correlation between pain severity and epigenetic age, it was not statistically significant, and the effect size was small ($\rho = -0.06$, p > 0.05).

Table 2

a	α	· .•
Nnearman	Correl	ations
Spearman	001101	<i>currents</i>

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.
1. Pain Severity	-				
2. Neighborhood Deprivation	0.25*	-			
3. Chronological Age	-0.38**	-0.04	-		
4. Epigenetic Age	-0.06	0.14	0.72**	-	
5. Epigenetic Age Acceleration	0.47**	0.25*	-0.44**	0.24*	-
* 0.01 *** < 0.001					

*p < 0.01; ** $p \le 0.001$

EpAA as Mediator of the Relationship Between Neighborhood Deprivation and Pain Severity

We used mediation models to explain the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity via EpAA. As depicted in Figure 1, EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation (predictor) and pain severity (outcome variable). Specifically, both paths **a** ($\beta = 0.47$, 95% CI = [0.13, 0.8], p < 0.01) and **b** ($\beta =$

1.73, 95% CI = [1.11, 2.35], p < 0.001) were significant, suggesting an indirect effect of neighborhood deprivation on pain severity through EpAA (path **a x b;** $\beta = 0.81$; CI [0.21, 1.51], p = 0.006). Mediation was confirmed as the direct effect of neighborhood deprivation on pain severity was no longer significant (path **c'**; $\beta = 1.03$, 95% CI = [-0.24, 2.32], p = 0.12) after adding EpAA to the model. There was a significant indirect effect of neighborhood deprivation on pain severity through EpAA, as the mediator accounted for a moderate portion of the total effect, PM = 0.44 (Figure 1).

Figure 1

Schematic of Mediation Model Including Neighborhood Deprivation (X), EpAA (M), and Pain Severity (Y)



Discussion

The purpose of this study was to determine if EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity. While there is a convincing link between lower socioeconomic status and chronic pain (Fuentes et al., 2007; Green & Hart-Johnson, 2012; Jackson et al., 2021; Jordan et al., 2008; Ulirsch et al., 2014), fewer studies have specifically documented the connection between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain. An exception was a population-based study in Catalonia, Spain, by Reyes et al. (2015). Using age-sex adjusted Incidence Rate Ratio (IRR), they found that living in the most deprived areas carried a greater risk of KOA (IRR = 1.51 [1.45 - 1.57]) compared to those living in the least deprived areas. To our knowledge, no studies have examined EpAA as a potential mediator of this relationship. Our findings add to a growing body of literature indicating that neighborhood deprivation is associated with EpAA and is an essential factor in chronic pain outcomes. Importantly, this study is the first to offer preliminary evidence that EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity. Additionally, since KOA is an age-related condition, our findings offer the earliest evidence that EpAA may play a role in the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and age-related chronic conditions.

Our findings suggest that neighborhood deprivation is associated with worse KOA pain outcomes (i.e., severity). Living in high-deprivation neighborhoods has been associated with worse pain severity, interference, and physical functioning among adults with chronic low back pain (Jackson et al., 2021; Rassu et al., 2021; Rumble et al., 2021) and increased development of chronic pain following injury (Ulirsch et al., 2014). Our findings are consistent with these prior studies that link neighborhood deprivation and chronic pain (Jackson et al., 2021; Rassu et al., 2021; Rumble et al., 2021; Ulirsch et al., 2014) while extending the evidence of this connection to KOA pain.

Since KOA is an age-related condition (Cross et al., 2014; Heidari, 2011), our findings linking KOA pain severity and neighborhood deprivation are consistent with the

literature demonstrating a connection between neighborhood deprivation and age-related conditions. The burden of age-related conditions is greater in high-deprivation communities (Akwo et al., 2018; Claudel et al., 2018; Hu et al., 2021; Keita et al., 2014). For example, in a sample of participants in the southeastern United States, Akwo and colleagues (2018) found that a one-tertile increase in the level of neighborhood deprivation was associated with a 12% increase in risk for heart failure. Similarly, Claudel and colleagues (2018) found that among 1,989 participants, those living in the most deprived neighborhoods had 1.69 higher odds of developing hypertension. Likewise, Hu and colleagues (2021) found an increased diabetes prevalence ratio of 1.49 for residents of the most deprived neighborhoods compared to the least deprived. Our results support the assertation that neighborhood deprivation influences a range of age-related conditions.

This study is the first to demonstrate that EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity. Our findings agree with those of a prior study about EpAA mediation of a pain outcome. Strath and colleagues (2022) found that EpAA mediates the relationship between vitamin D and KOA pain severity and disability. Both studies drew their data from the same larger parent study, which limits our ability to make overreaching conclusions about EpAA as a mediator of chronic pain. Nevertheless, the studies' consistency does demonstrate promise for further inquiry into the mediating role EpAA may play for pain outcomes.

There is great interest in exploring epigenetic changes as a potential biological mechanism for the link between socioeconomic status and health outcomes (Cerutti et al., 2021; Evans et al., 2021; Martin et al., 2022). Epigenetic age has been convincingly

linked to age-related conditions (Fransquet et al., 2019; Hillary et al., 2020). Our findings further suggest that EpAA may act as a biological mechanism through which neighborhood deprivation influences age-related conditions such as KOA pain. However, studies investigating epigenetic age as a mediator in a relationship between a predictor and an age-related disease outcome are limited. Exceptions include a study by Joyce and colleagues (2021), who found that EpAA mediates the relationship between cardiovascular risk factors and coronary artery calcification. An additional study by Klopack and colleagues (2022) found that epigenetic age mediates the association between exposure to smoking and the outcomes of cancer, high blood pressure, heart disease, and mortality. However, despite the interest in epigenetic explanations for how socioeconomic status affects health, none of these studies examined epigenetic age as a potential mediator for neighborhood deprivation or socioeconomic status as a predictor. The present study fills this gap and agrees with the findings of prior studies that epigenetic aging may mediate age-related disease outcomes.

Strengths and Limitations

The major strength of this study is that, to our knowledge, it is the first that addresses the keen interest and lack of literature on EpAA as a mediator for socioeconomic status as a predictor of KOA pain. Another strength is that despite the relatively small sample size, it included representation from 2 distinct sites in the US, including both women and men and non-Hispanic Black and non-Hispanic White participants, increasing the generalizability of our findings. Despite the above strengths, we acknowledge some limitations to our study. First, in our analysis, epigenetic age was calculated based on only one epigenetic clock, and different clocks may vary in their results. There is some evidence that different clocks may measure different disease susceptibilities (Macdonald-Dunlop et al., 2022), so the choice of epigenetic clock used for analysis is an important consideration. However, in the present study, we used the GrimAge epigenetic clock (Lu et al., 2019). GrimAge performs well as an epigenetic clock, strongly correlating with chronological age, morbidity, and mortality (Hillary et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020; Lo & Lin, 2022; McCrory et al., 2021; Morales Bernstein et al., 2022). More importantly, the GrimAge clock has been associated with KOA pain outcomes in this participant cohort (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2022; Strath et al., 2022) and has also been linked to neighborhood deprivation (Lawrence et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2021). So, even though only one epigenetic clock was used in our analysis, GrimAge was the ideal choice.

Second, our analysis did not include controlling for other measures of socioeconomic status. Various socioeconomic variables may influence pain outcomes (Bonathan et al., 2013). However, in this study, neighborhood deprivation was measured using the ADI, a composite of socioeconomic status for a given census block. By design, the ADI score is a congregate of the socioeconomic measures of the individuals living in the neighborhood. Consequently, our neighborhood-level socioeconomic status measures and would thus have potentially created to individual-level socioeconomic status measures and would thus have potentially created collider bias. Collider variables distort the interpretation of an association between predictor and outcome variables because they influence both the predictor and outcome variables (Cole et al., 2010). Thus, it was

inappropriate to control for other individual measures of socioeconomic status in our analyses.

Conclusion

Neighborhood deprivation is an important factor in age-related conditions such as KOA pain. Our findings suggest that EpAA may be a biological process by which neighborhood deprivation is related to KOA pain severity. Since epigenetic changes are dynamic and reversible, future studies can investigate ways to slow the aging process and treat KOA pain epigenetically. Continuing to explore epigenetic aging as a mechanism for pain outcomes may lead to opportunities for intervention.

References

- Akwo, E. A., Kabagambe, E. K., Harrell, F. E., Blot, W. J., Bachmann, J. M., Wang, T. J., Gupta, D. K., & Lipworth, L. (2018). Neighborhood deprivation predicts heart failure risk in a low-income population of Blacks and Whites in the Southeastern United States. *Circulation. Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*, *11*(1), e004052. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004052
- Aristizabal, M. J., Anreiter, I., Halldorsdottir, T., Odgers, C. L., McDade, T. W.,
 Goldenberg, A., Mostafavi, S., Kobor, M. S., Binder, E. B., Sokolowski, M. B., &
 O'Donnell, K. J. (2020). Biological embedding of experience: A primer on
 epigenetics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 117(38), 23261–23269. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820838116
- Aroke, E. N., Joseph, P. V., Roy, A., Overstreet, D. S., Tollefsbol, T. O., Vance, D. E., & Goodin, B. R. (2019). Could epigenetics help explain racial disparities in chronic pain? *Journal of Pain Research*, *12*, 701–710. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S191848
- Bartley, E. J., Hossain, N. I., Gravlee, C. C., Sibille, K. T., Terry, E. L., Vaughn, I. A., Cardoso, J. S., Booker, S. Q., Glover, T. L., Goodin, B. R., Sotolongo, A., Thompson, K. A., Bulls, H. W., Staud, R., Edberg, J. C., Bradley, L. A., & Fillingim, R. B. (2019). Race/ethnicity moderates the association between psychosocial resilience and movement-evoked pain in knee osteoarthritis. *ACR Open Rheumatology*, *1*(1), 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr2.1002
- Bereitschaft, B. (2017). Equity in neighbourhood walkability? A comparative analysis of three large U.S. cities. *Local Environment*, 22(7), 859–879.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2017.1297390

- Bonathan, C., Hearn, L., & Williams, A. C. de C. (2013). Socioeconomic status and the course and consequences of chronic pain. *Pain Management*, 3(3), 159–162. https://doi.org/10.2217/pmt.13.18
- Brockie, T. N., Heinzelmann, M., & Gill, J. (2013). A framework to examine the role of epigenetics in health disparities among Native Americans. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 2013, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/410395
- Buchheit, T., Van de Ven, T., & Shaw, A. (2012). Epigenetics and the transition from acute to chronic pain. *Pain Medicine*, *13*(11), 1474–1490. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2012.01488.x
- Cerutti, J., Lussier, A. A., Zhu, Y., Liu, J., & Dunn, E. C. (2021). Associations between indicators of socioeconomic position and DNA methylation: A scoping review. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 13(1), 221. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-021-01189-0
- Chamberlain, A. M., Finney Rutten, L. J., Wilson, P. M., Fan, C., Boyd, C. M., Jacobson, D. J., Rocca, W. A., & St. Sauver, J. L. (2020). Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is associated with multimorbidity in a geographically-defined community. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-8123-0
- Chen, B. H., Marioni, R. E., Colicino, E., Peters, M. J., Ward-Caviness, C. K., Tsai, P.-C., Roetker, N. S., Just, A. C., Demerath, E. W., Guan, W., Bressler, J., Fornage, M., Studenski, S., Vandiver, A. R., Moore, A. Z., Tanaka, T., Kiel, D. P., Liang, L., Vokonas, P., ... Horvath, S. (2016). DNA methylation-based measures of biological age: Meta-analysis predicting time to death. *Aging*, 8(9), 1844–1865.

https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101020

- Clark, C. R., Ommerborn, M. J., Hickson, D. A., Grooms, K. N., Sims, M., Taylor, H. A., & Albert, M. A. (2013). Neighborhood disadvantage, neighborhood safety and cardiometabolic risk factors in African Americans: Biosocial associations in the Jackson Heart study. *Plos One*, 8(5), e63254. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063254
- Claudel, S. E., Adu-Brimpong, J., Banks, A., Ayers, C., Albert, M. A., Das, S. R., de Lemos, J. A., Leonard, T., Neeland, I. J., Rivers, J. P., & Powell-Wiley, T. M. (2018). Association between neighborhood-level socioeconomic deprivation and incident hypertension: A longitudinal analysis of data from the Dallas heart study. *American Heart Journal*, 204, 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2018.07.005
- Cohen, D. A., Han, B., Derose, K. P., Williamson, S., Marsh, T., Rudick, J., &
 McKenzie, T. L. (2012). Neighborhood poverty, park use, and park-based
 physical activity in a Southern California city. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(12),
 2317–2325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.08.036
- Cole, S. R., Platt, R. W., Schisterman, E. F., Chu, H., Westreich, D., Richardson, D., &
 Poole, C. (2010). Illustrating bias due to conditioning on a collider. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *39*(2), 417–420. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyp334

Cross, M., Smith, E., Hoy, D., Nolte, S., Ackerman, I., Fransen, M., Bridgett, L.,
Williams, S., Guillemin, F., Hill, C. L., Laslett, L. L., Jones, G., Cicuttini, F.,
Osborne, R., Vos, T., Buchbinder, R., Woolf, A., & March, L. (2014). The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: Estimates from the global burden of disease
2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *73*(7), 1323–1330.

https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204763

- Cruz-Almeida, Y., Johnson, A., Meng, L., Sinha, P., Rani, A., Yoder, S., Huo, Z., Foster,
 T. C., & Fillingim, R. B. (2022). Epigenetic age predictors in communitydwelling adults with high impact knee pain. *Molecular Pain*, *18*,
 17448069221118004. https://doi.org/10.1177/17448069221118004
- Cruz-Almeida, Y., Sinha, P., Rani, A., Huo, Z., Fillingim, R. B., & Foster, T. (2019). Epigenetic aging is associated with clinical and experimental pain in communitydwelling older adults. *Molecular Pain*, 15, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744806919871819
- Denk, F., & McMahon, S. B. (2012). Chronic pain: Emerging evidence for the involvement of epigenetics. *Neuron*, 73(3), 435–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.01.012
- Descalzi, G., Ikegami, D., Ushijima, T., Nestler, E. J., Zachariou, V., & Narita, M.
 (2015). Epigenetic mechanisms of chronic pain. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *38*(4), 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2015.02.001
- Elliott, A. M., Smith, B. H., Smith, C. W., & Chambers, A. W. (2000). Changes in chronic pain severity over time: The Chronic Pain Grade as a valid measure. *Pain*, 88(3), 303–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(00)00337-7

Fiorito, G., McCrory, C., Robinson, O., Carmeli, C., Rosales, C. O., Zhang, Y., Colicino,

^{Evans, L., Engelman, M., Mikulas, A., & Malecki, K. (2021). How are social determinants of health integrated into epigenetic research? A systematic review.} *Social Science & Medicine*, 273, 113738.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113738

E., Dugué, P.-A., Artaud, F., McKay, G. J., Jeong, A., Mishra, P. P., Nøst, T. H.,
Krogh, V., Panico, S., Sacerdote, C., Tumino, R., Palli, D., Matullo, G., ...
Lifepath Consortium. (2019). Socioeconomic position, lifestyle habits and
biomarkers of epigenetic aging: A multi-cohort analysis. *Aging*, *11*(7), 2045–2070. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101900

- Fiorito, G., Polidoro, S., Dugué, P.-A., Kivimaki, M., Ponzi, E., Matullo, G., Guarrera, S., Assumma, M. B., Georgiadis, P., Kyrtopoulos, S. A., Krogh, V., Palli, D., Panico, S., Sacerdote, C., Tumino, R., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Stringhini, S., Severi, G., Hodge, A. M., ... Vineis, P. (2017). Social adversity and epigenetic aging: A multi-cohort study on socioeconomic differences in peripheral blood DNA methylation. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16391-5
- Fransquet, P. D., Wrigglesworth, J., Woods, R. L., Ernst, M. E., & Ryan, J. (2019). The epigenetic clock as a predictor of disease and mortality risk: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 11(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0656-7
- Fuentes, M., Hart-Johnson, T., & Green, C. R. (2007). The association among neighborhood socioeconomic status, race and chronic pain in black and white older adults. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 99(10), 1160–1169.

Green, C. R., & Hart-Johnson, T. (2012). The association between race and neighborhood socioeconomic status in younger Black and White adults with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain*, *13*(2), 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2011.10.008

Grol-Prokopczyk, H. (2017). Sociodemographic disparities in chronic pain, based on 12-

year longitudinal data. Pain, 158(2), 313–322.

https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000762

- Hallum, S. H., Hughey, S. M., Wende, M. E., Stowe, E. W., & Kaczynski, A. T. (2020).
 Healthy and unhealthy food environments are linked with neighbourhood socioeconomic disadvantage: An innovative geospatial approach to understanding food access inequities. *Public Health Nutrition*, 23(17), 3190–3196.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020002104
- Hawker, G. A., Croxford, R., Bierman, A. S., Harvey, P. J., Ravi, B., Stanaitis, I., & Lipscombe, L. L. (2014). All-cause mortality and serious cardiovascular events in people with hip and knee osteoarthritis: A population based cohort study. *Plos One*, *9*(3), e91286. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091286
- Heidari, B. (2011). Knee osteoarthritis prevalence, risk factors, pathogenesis and features: Part I. *Caspian Journal of Internal Medicine*, 2(2), 205–212.
- Hillary, R. F., Stevenson, A. J., McCartney, D. L., Campbell, A., Walker, R. M., Howard, D. M., Ritchie, C. W., Horvath, S., Hayward, C., McIntosh, A. M., Porteous, D. J., Deary, I. J., Evans, K. L., & Marioni, R. E. (2020). Epigenetic measures of ageing predict the prevalence and incidence of leading causes of death and disease burden. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *12*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00905-6
- Hsu, H., & Siwiec, R. M. (2022). Knee osteoarthritis. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Hu, M. D., Lawrence, K. G., Bodkin, M. R., Kwok, R. K., Engel, L. S., & Sandler, D. P.(2021). Neighborhood deprivation, obesity, and diabetes in residents of the US

gulf coast. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *190*(2), 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwaa206

- Hughes, A., Smart, M., Gorrie-Stone, T., Hannon, E., Mill, J., Bao, Y., Burrage, J.,
 Schalkwyk, L., & Kumari, M. (2018). Socioeconomic position and DNA
 methylation age acceleration across the life course. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 187(11), 2346–2354. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwy155
- Jackson, P., Goodin, B. R., Long, D. L., Jablonski, R., Penn, T. M., Sims, A. M., Quinn, T., Overstreet, D. S., Kempf, M.-C., Rumble, D. D., & Aroke, E. N. (2021). The area deprivation index corresponds effectively with other measures of objective socioeconomic status in adults with chronic low back pain. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*. https://doi.org/10.1891/JNM-D-20-00126
- Janevic, M. R., McLaughlin, S. J., Heapy, A. A., Thacker, C., & Piette, J. D. (2017). Racial and socioeconomic disparities in disabling chronic pain: Findings from the health and retirement study. *The Journal of Pain*, *18*(12), 1459–1467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.07.005
- Jordan, K. P., Thomas, E., Peat, G., Wilkie, R., & Croft, P. (2008). Social risks for disabling pain in older people: A prospective study of individual and area characteristics. *Pain*, 137(3), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2008.02.030

Joyce, B. T., Gao, T., Zheng, Y., Ma, J., Hwang, S.-J., Liu, L., Nannini, D., Horvath, S.,
Lu, A. T., Bai Allen, N., Jacobs, D. R., Gross, M., Krefman, A., Ning, H., Liu, K.,
Lewis, C. E., Schreiner, P. J., Sidney, S., Shikany, J. M., ... Lloyd-Jones, D.
(2021). Epigenetic age acceleration reflects long-term cardiovascular health. *Circulation Research*, 129(8), 770–781.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.318965

- Keita, A. D., Judd, S. E., Howard, V. J., Carson, A. P., Ard, J. D., & Fernandez, J. R. (2014). Associations of neighborhood area level deprivation with the metabolic syndrome and inflammation among middle- and older- age adults. *BMC Public Health*, *14*, 1319. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-1319
- Kind, A. J. H., & Buckingham, W. R. (2018). Making neighborhood-disadvantage metrics accessible - the Neighborhood Atlas. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 378(26), 2456–2458. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1802313
- Kind, A. J. H., Jencks, S., Brock, J., Yu, M., Bartels, C., Ehlenbach, W., Greenberg, C., & Smith, M. (2014). Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and 30-day rehospitalization: A retrospective cohort study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *161*(11), 765–774. https://doi.org/10.7326/M13-2946
- Klopack, E. T., Carroll, J. E., Cole, S. W., Seeman, T. E., & Crimmins, E. M. (2022). Lifetime exposure to smoking, epigenetic aging, and morbidity and mortality in older adults. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *14*(1), 72. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-022-01286-8
- Kopp, B., Furlough, K., Goldberg, T., Ring, D., & Koenig, K. (2021). Factors associated with pain intensity and magnitude of limitations among people with hip and knee arthritis. *Journal of Orthopaedics*, 25, 295–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jor.2021.05.026
- Lawrence, K. G., Kresovich, J. K., O'Brien, K. M., Hoang, T. T., Xu, Z., Taylor, J. A., & Sandler, D. P. (2020). Association of neighborhood deprivation with epigenetic aging using 4 clock metrics. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(11), 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.24329

- Lei, M.-K., Berg, M. T., Simons, R. L., & Beach, S. R. H. (2021). Neighborhood structural disadvantage and biological aging in a sample of Black middle age and young adults. *Social Science & Medicine*, 293, 114654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114654
- Lei, M.-K., Simons, R. L., Beach, S. R. H., & Philibert, R. A. (2019). Neighborhood disadvantage and biological aging: Using marginal structural models to assess the link between neighborhood census variables and epigenetic aging. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 74(7), e50–e59. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbx015
- Li, X., Ploner, A., Wang, Y., Magnusson, P. K., Reynolds, C., Finkel, D., Pedersen, N.
 L., Jylhävä, J., & Hägg, S. (2020). Longitudinal trajectories, correlations and mortality associations of nine biological ages across 20-years follow-up. *ELife*, 9, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.51507
- Liang, L., Lutz, B. M., Bekker, A., & Tao, Y.-X. (2015). Epigenetic regulation of chronic pain. *Epigenomics*, 7(2), 235–245. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi.14.75
- Liu, Q., Niu, J., Huang, J., Ke, Y., Tang, X., Wu, X., Li, R., Li, H., Zhi, X., Wang, K.,
 Zhang, Y., & Lin, J. (2015). Knee osteoarthritis and all-cause mortality: The
 Wuchuan Osteoarthritis Study. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 23(7), 1154–1157.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.03.021
- Lo, Y.-H., & Lin, W.-Y. (2022). Cardiovascular health and four epigenetic clocks. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *14*(1), 73. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-022-01295-7

Loh, V. H. Y., Rachele, J. N., Brown, W. J., Ghani, F., & Turrell, G. (2018).

Neighborhood disadvantage and physical function: The contributions of neighborhood-level perceptions of safety from crime and walking for recreation. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, *15*(8), 553–563. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2017-0423

Lowe, R., Slodkowicz, G., Goldman, N., & Rakyan, V. K. (2015). The human blood DNA methylome displays a highly distinctive profile compared with other somatic tissues. *Epigenetics*, 10(4), 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294.2014.1003744

Lu, A. T., Quach, A., Wilson, J. G., Reiner, A. P., Aviv, A., Raj, K., Hou, L., Baccarelli,
A. A., Li, Y., Stewart, J. D., Whitsel, E. A., Assimes, T. L., Ferrucci, L., &
Horvath, S. (2019). DNA methylation GrimAge strongly predicts lifespan and
healthspan. *Aging*, *11*(2), 303–327. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101684

- Macdonald-Dunlop, E., Taba, N., Klarić, L., Frkatović, A., Walker, R., Hayward, C.,
 Esko, T., Haley, C., Fischer, K., Wilson, J. F., & Joshi, P. K. (2022). A catalogue of omics biological ageing clocks reveals substantial commonality and associations with disease risk. *Aging*, *14*(2), 623–659.
 https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.203847
- Maly, A., & Vallerand, A. H. (2018). Neighborhood, socioeconomic, and racial influence on chronic pain. *Pain Management Nursing : Official Journal of the American Society of Pain Management Nurses*, 19(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2017.11.004

Marioni, R. E., Shah, S., McRae, A. F., Chen, B. H., Colicino, E., Harris, S. E., Gibson, J., Henders, A. K., Redmond, P., Cox, S. R., Pattie, A., Corley, J., Murphy, L.,

Martin, N. G., Montgomery, G. W., Feinberg, A. P., Fallin, M. D., Multhaup, M. L., Jaffe, A. E., ... Deary, I. J. (2015). DNA methylation age of blood predicts allcause mortality in later life. *Genome Biology*, *16*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0584-6

Martin, C. L., Ghastine, L., Lodge, E. K., Dhingra, R., & Ward-Caviness, C. K. (2022).
Understanding health inequalities through the lens of social epigenetics. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 43, 235–254. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-052020-105613

McCartney, D. L., Stevenson, A. J., Walker, R. M., Gibson, J., Morris, S. W., Campbell, A., Murray, A. D., Whalley, H. C., Porteous, D. J., McIntosh, A. M., Evans, K. L., Deary, I. J., & Marioni, R. E. (2018). Investigating the relationship between DNA methylation age acceleration and risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring, 10*, 429–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dadm.2018.05.006

McCrory, C., Fiorito, G., Hernandez, B., Polidoro, S., O'Halloran, A. M., Hever, A., Ni Cheallaigh, C., Lu, A. T., Horvath, S., Vineis, P., & Kenny, R. A. (2021).
GrimAge Outperforms Other Epigenetic Clocks in the Prediction of Age-Related Clinical Phenotypes and All-Cause Mortality. *The Journals of Gerontology*. *Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 76(5), 741–749. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glaa286

Meaney, M. J. (2010). Epigenetics and the biological definition of gene x environment interactions. *Child Development*, 81(1), 41–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01381.x

- Morales Berstein, F., McCartney, D. L., Lu, A. T., Tsilidis, K. K., Bouras, E., Haycock,
 P., Burrows, K., Phipps, A. I., Buchanan, D. D., Cheng, I., PRACTICAL
 consortium, Martin, R. M., Davey Smith, G., Relton, C. L., Horvath, S., Marioni,
 R. E., Richardson, T. G., & Richmond, R. C. (2022). Assessing the causal role of
 epigenetic clocks in the development of multiple cancers: a Mendelian
 randomization study. *ELife*, *11*, 1-46. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.75374
- Neogi, T. (2013). The epidemiology and impact of pain in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis* and Cartilage, 21(9), 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.03.018
- Nüesch, E., Dieppe, P., Reichenbach, S., Williams, S., Iff, S., & Jüni, P. (2011). All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis:
 Population based cohort study. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 342, d1165.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d1165
- Perna, L., Zhang, Y., Mons, U., Holleczek, B., Saum, K.-U., & Brenner, H. (2016).
 Epigenetic age acceleration predicts cancer, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality in a German case cohort. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *8*, 1–7.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0228-z
- Peterson, J. A., Strath, L. J., Nodarse, C. L., Rani, A., Huo, Z., Meng, L., Yoder, S., Cole, J. H., Foster, T. C., Fillingim, R. B., & Cruz-Almeida, Y. (2022). Epigenetic aging mediates the association between pain impact and brain aging in middle to older age individuals with knee pain. *Epigenetics*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294.2022.2111752
- Rassu, F. S., McFadden, M., Aaron, R. V., Wegener, S. T., Ephraim, P. L., Lane, E., Brennan, G., Minick, K. I., Fritz, J. M., & Skolasky, R. L. (2021). The

relationship between neighborhood deprivation and perceived changes for painrelated experiences among US patients with chronic low back pain during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Pain Medicine*, 22(11), 2550–2565. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnab179

- Reyes, C., Garcia-Gil, M., Elorza, J. M., Mendez-Boo, L., Hermosilla, E., Javaid, M. K., Cooper, C., Diez-Perez, A., Arden, N. K., Bolibar, B., Ramos, R., & Prieto-Alhambra, D. (2015). Socio-economic status and the risk of developing hand, hip or knee osteoarthritis: A region-wide ecological study. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 23(8), 1323–1329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.03.020
- Reynard, L. N., & Loughlin, J. (2012). Genetics and epigenetics of osteoarthritis. *Maturitas*, 71(3), 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.12.001
- Rumble, D. D., O'Neal, K., Overstreet, D. S., Penn, T. M., Jackson, P., Aroke, E. N.,
 Sims, A. M., King, A. L., Hasan, F. N., Quinn, T. L., Long, D. L., Sorge, R. E., &
 Goodin, B. R. (2021). Sleep and neighborhood socioeconomic status: A micro
 longitudinal study of chronic low-back pain and pain-free individuals. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-021-00234-w
- Schmitz, L. L., Zhao, W., Ratliff, S. M., Goodwin, J., Miao, J., Lu, Q., Guo, X., Taylor, K. D., Ding, J., Liu, Y., Levine, M., & Smith, J. A. (2022). The socioeconomic gradient in epigenetic ageing clocks: Evidence from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis and the Health and Retirement Study. *Epigenetics*, *17*(6), 589–611. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294.2021.1939479
- Schober, P., Boer, C., & Schwarte, L. A. (2018). Correlation coefficients. Anesthesia & Analgesia, 126(5), 1763–1768. https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.0000000002864

Simpson, D. J., & Chandra, T. (2021). Epigenetic age prediction. Aging Cell, 20(9), e13452. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13452

- Singh, G. K. (2003). Area deprivation and widening inequalities in US mortality, 1969-1998. American Journal of Public Health, 93(7), 1137–1143. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.93.7.1137
- Strath, L. J., Meng, L., Rani, A., Sinha, P., Johnson, A. J., Huo, Z., Foster, T. C., Edburg, J. D., Fillingim, R. B., & Cruz-Almeida, Y. (2022). Accelerated epigenetic aging mediates the association between Vitamin D levels and knee pain in community-dwelling individuals. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 26(4), 318–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-022-1758-z
- Thompson, K. A., Bulls, H. W., Sibille, K. T., Bartley, E. J., Glover, T. L., Terry, E. L., Vaughn, I. A., Cardoso, J. S., Sotolongo, A., Staud, R., Hughes, L. B., Edberg, J. C., Redden, D. T., Bradley, L. A., Goodin, B. R., & Fillingim, R. B. (2018).
 Optimism and psychological resilience are beneficially associated with measures of clinical and experimental pain in adults with or at risk for knee osteoarthritis. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *34*(12), 1164–1172. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000000642
- Tian, Y., Morris, T. J., Webster, A. P., Yang, Z., Beck, S., Feber, A., & Teschendorff, A.
 E. (2017). ChAMP: Updated methylation analysis pipeline for Illumina
 BeadChips. *Bioinformatics*, *33*(24), 3982–3984.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btx513
- Tsui, J., Hirsch, J. A., Bayer, F. J., Quinn, J. W., Cahill, J., Siscovick, D., & Lovasi, G. S. (2020). Patterns in geographic access to health care facilities across

neighborhoods in the United States based on data from the National Establishment Time-Series between 2000 and 2014. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(5), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.5105

- Ulirsch, J. C., Weaver, M. A., Bortsov, A. V., Soward, A. C., Swor, R. A., Peak, D. A., Jones, J. S., Rathlev, N. K., Lee, D. C., Domeier, R. M., Hendry, P. L., & McLean, S. A. (2014). No man is an island: Living in a disadvantaged neighborhood influences chronic pain development after motor vehicle collision. *Pain*, *155*(10), 2116–2123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.07.025
- Vos, T., Flaxman, A. D., Naghavi, M., Lozano, R., Michaud, C., Ezzati, M., Shibuya, K., Salomon, J. A., Abdalla, S., Aboyans, V., Abraham, J., Ackerman, I., Aggarwal, R., Ahn, S. Y., Ali, M. K., Alvarado, M., Anderson, H. R., Anderson, L. M., Andrews, K. G., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2012). Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990-2010: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, *380*(9859), 2163–2196. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61729-2
- Zajacova, A., Grol-Prokopczyk, H., & Zimmer, Z. (2021). Pain trends among American adults, 2002-2018: Patterns, disparities, and correlates. *Demography*, 58(2), 711–738. https://doi.org/10.1215/00703370-8977691
- Zhang, Y., Wilson, R., Heiss, J., Breitling, L. P., Saum, K.-U., Schöttker, B., Holleczek,
 B., Waldenberger, M., Peters, A., & Brenner, H. (2017). DNA methylation
 signatures in peripheral blood strongly predict all-cause mortality. *Nature Communications*, 8, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14617

CONCLUSIONS

This dissertation aimed to examine the relationship between neighborhood deprivation, chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes, and EpAA in adults. We accomplished this goal in three manuscripts. The first manuscript reviewed the literature for evidence of the relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age acceleration (EpAA). The second compared neighborhood deprivation with other measures of socioeconomic status (SES) as predictors of chronic low back pain (cLBP) outcomes. The third reported the relationship between neighborhood deprivation, epigenetic age acceleration, and KOA pain. Specifically, we use a mediation analysis to explain that EpAA (mediator) explained the underlying relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity among adults with KOA. This chapter presents a brief overview of the findings from each manuscript, integrating the knowledge gained and contribution to nursing science. Additionally, this chapter discusses the strengths and limitations of the dissertation as well as its implications for future research and practice.

Overview of Study Findings

Manuscript 1: Neighborhood Environment and Epigenetic Age: A Scoping Review

We synthesized existing evidence of the relationship between neighborhood environment and epigenetic age using the scoping review methodology guidelines suggested by Arksey and O'Malley (2005). All studies were published since 2019, a testament to the fact that the study of this relationship is an emerging area of focus. Most studies examined deprivation as the neighborhood characteristic of interest, with only one study focusing exclusively on a physical neighborhood characteristic—greenness (Xu et al., 2021). While all studies were observational in design, the articles included diverse participants, including men and women, adults and children, and multiple ethnicities. Overall, studies concluded there was a relationship between neighborhood characteristics and epigenetic age, whether the characteristic of interest was socioeconomic or physical. However, the paucity of investigations on physical neighborhood characteristics is noticeable, especially since aspects of the physical environment (such as particulate matter, noise, and heat) have been linked to age-related conditions such as cardiovascular disease. This review described the scope of the evidence on the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age, supporting investigations that extend work in the area, such as the study reported in manuscript three. The findings of manuscript one also demonstrated that GrimAge is suitable for use in studies of neighborhood deprivation and for racially diverse samples, which helped inform the choice of the epigenetic clock for the main study reported in manuscript three.

Manuscript 2: The Area Deprivation Index Corresponds Effectively With Other Measures of Objective Socioeconomic Status in Adults With Chronic Low Back Pain

Manuscript two compared the Area Deprivation Index (ADI), a measure of neighborhood SES, with other individual measures of SES in its ability to predict cLBP outcomes. For this secondary data analysis, we included 104 adult participants from the ongoing Examining Racial and SocioEconomic Disparities in Chronic Low Back Pain (ERASED) (R01MD010441) study. Most participants were women (58.7%) and non-Hispanic Black (56.7%), with an average age of 45. At \$35,000-39,900, the median household income for the sample was below Alabama (\$48,000) and national (\$60,000) averages. Most participants (74%) had some college education, graduated from college, or attended graduate school. Area Deprivation Index scores were available for 97% of participants, representing 85 census block groups located in five counties in central Alabama. Self-rated subjective social status was rated as 5.1 (SD = \pm 2.0) out of 10. The ADI was compared with income, education, and subjective social status. We detected no significant relationship between subjective social status and pain severity/interference and omitted subjective measures from further analysis. Pain severity positively correlated with ADI (r = 0.396) and negatively with income (r = -0.507) and education (r = -(0.271). Similarly, pain interference positively correlated with ADI (r = 0.33), and negatively with income (r = -0.428) and education (r = -0.102). Simple linear models of ADI, income, and education were regressed on pain incomes. Goodness-of-fit-testing using Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Bayesian information criterion (BIC) was performed, comparing each measure's ability to predict pain severity/interference. For pain severity, the models' goodness-of-fit AIC and BIC suggested that income outperforms other measures of SES (AIC = 428.29/BIC = 436.22), followed by ADI (AIC = 437.24/BIC = 445.17), with education performing least well (AIC = 446.35/BIC)= 454.29). Similar results were seen for pain interference, with income performing best (AIC = 456.08/BIC = 464.01), followed closely by ADI (AIC = 463.96/BIC = 471.90).

Finally, the multiple regression model of ADI, income, and education on pain outcomes revealed that, while income makes the largest contribution to pain severity (partial $R^2 =$ 0.98) and pain interference (partial $R^2 = 0.100$), ADI makes a small significant independent contribution to both pain severity (partial $R^2 = 0.021$) and pain interference (partial $R^2 = 0.029$). These findings suggest that neighborhood SES performs as well as other individual measures of SES in predicting cLBP outcomes and outperforms some frequently used measures (i.e., education, subjective social status). Furthermore, the results demonstrate that neighborhood-level SES contributes to pain outcomes independently of individual-level SES factors, which supports the need for a biological mechanism study, as reported in manuscript three.

Manuscript 3: Epigenetic Age Acceleration Mediates the Relationship Between Neighborhood Deprivation and Pain Severity in Adults With Knee Osteoarthritis Pain

To examine the potential underlying mechanism driving musculoskeletal pain outcomes, we examined whether EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity in adults with KOA. We conducted a secondary, crosssectional analysis of data collected as part of the Understanding Pain and Limitations in Osteoarthritic Disease (UPLOAD-2). The sample of 128 participants was mostly female (60.9%), approximately half non-Hispanic Black (49.2%), and had a mean age of 58 years. The mean pain severity score was 54.2 (\pm 2.31) out of a possible score of 0–100, and the mean EpAA was 2.9 years (\pm 5.9 years). The neighborhood deprivation score average was 6.0 (\pm 3.0) out of a possible score of 0–10. Spearman bivariate correlations
revealed that pain severity positively correlated with EpAA ($\rho = 0.47, p \le 0.001$) and neighborhood deprivation ($\rho = 0.25, p = 0.004$) and negatively correlated with chronological age ($\rho = -0.38, p \le 0.001$). We found a positive significant relationship between neighborhood deprivation and EpAA ($\rho = 0.47, p \le 0.001$). However, the correlations between pain severity or neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age were not significant.

Mediation models were used to explain the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity via EpAA. The results indicate that EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation (predictor) and pain severity (dependent variable). Specifically, both paths **a** ($\beta = 0.47, 95\%$ CI = [0.13, 0.8], p < 0.01) and **b** ($\beta =$ 1.73, 95% CI = [1.11, 2.35], p < 0.001) were significant, suggesting an indirect effect of neighborhood deprivation on pain severity through EpAA (path **a x b**; $\beta = 0.81$; CI [0.21, 1.51], p = 0.006). Mediation was complete as the direct effect of neighborhood deprivation on pain severity was no longer significant (path c'; $\beta = 1.03$, 95% CI = [-(0.24, 2.32), p = (0.12) after adding EpAA to the model. There was a significant indirect effect of neighborhood deprivation on pain severity through EpAA, as the mediator accounted for a moderate portion of the total effect, PM = 0.44. To our knowledge, this study is the first to examine EpAA as a mediator of neighborhood deprivation and a KOA pain outcome. These findings suggest that EpAA may be a mechanism through which neighborhood deprivation leads to worse chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes like increased KOA pain severity. Furthermore, since chronic musculoskeletal pain is an agerelated condition, this study suggests that EpAA may play a role in the well-documented relationship between the neighborhood of residence and age-related diseases.

Integrated Interpretation of Findings

When exploring social determinants of health and health disparities, many studies have documented that an individual's zip code may be a stronger predictor of health outcomes than their genetic code (Graham, 2016). Living in a high-deprivation neighborhood has been linked to poor age-related chronic disease outcomes. Even though a growing number of voices recognize the role that residential neighborhoods may play in pain disparities, there is a lack of consistent data to evaluate and understand these relationships. Ultimately, this limitation may impede the development of effective strategies to eliminate pain disparities. The findings from our literature review (manuscript one) suggest that neighborhood characteristics are significantly associated with epigenetic age. Specifically, negative neighborhood characteristics like neighborhood deprivation correlate with EpAA, while positive characteristics like a larger degree of neighborhood greenness are associated with epigenetic age deceleration. Other investigators have suggested that neighborhood deprivation may be linked to allostatic load, with higher neighborhood deprivation correlating with higher allostatic load (Ribeiro et al., 2018). Allostatic load refers to overextension of the body's ability to cope with environmental stressors, leading to the deterioration of health (McEwen, 1998)—a concept that shares ties with the wear and tear hypothesis that guided this dissertation.

Epigenetic modifications are mechanisms by which chronic stress affects health outcomes without changing the DNA sequence. A review by Cerutti et al. (2021) found that SES is associated with both genome-wide DNA methylation and differential methylation of candidate genes (Cerutti et al., 2021). Another review concluded that

neighborhood deprivation is linked to differential DNA methylation, particularly of genes related to stress and inflammation (Giurgescu et al., 2019). Manuscript one adds to this body of literature while making a unique contribution to reviews on the relationship between neighborhood and epigenetics. Our review expanded the scope of potential epigenetic modifiers beyond SES to all neighborhood characteristics, finding that the neighborhood environment's physical characteristics are likely influential in affecting epigenetic aging.

In alignment with these reviews, manuscript one supports the role of SES in epigenetic modifications. While the findings from manuscript one showed that neighborhood SES is convincingly associated with epigenetic age, they did not reveal how well neighborhood SES performs as a predictor of health outcomes compared to individual-level measures of SES—specifically, how neighborhood SES compares to individual SES in predicting musculoskeletal pain outcomes. This gap was addressed in manuscript two. Furthermore, considering the strong correlation between EpAA and agerelated conditions (Hillary et al., 2020), in addition to highlighting the convincing correlation between neighborhood SES and epigenetic age, manuscript one also revealed that there is a critical need for studies that examine the influence of EpAA on the relationship between neighborhood SES and age-related conditions. This gap was addressed in manuscript three.

The inclusion of all neighborhood characteristics in the examination of the relationship with epigenetic age revealed that there is a lack of studies on the influence of physical neighborhood characteristics. Several features of the physical neighborhood environment have been associated with age-related disease outcomes. For example, air

pollution has been linked to increased cardiovascular-related hospitalizations and cardiovascular disease-related mortality (Brook et al., 2004). Exposure to air particulate matter, pollutants, and residential noise has been found to correlate with an increased risk for type 2 diabetes (Beulens et al., 2022). Noise has also been connected to hypertension and stroke (Münzel et al., 2014). Additionally, aspects of the neighborhood built environment, such as walkability and access to healthy food, have been associated with cardiovascular disease outcomes (Malambo et al., 2016). Despite their importance to agerelated disease outcomes, to the best of our knowledge, many physical neighborhood characteristics such as these have yet to be examined in relation to epigenetic age. Considering the strong correlation between EpAA and age-related diseases, these and other features of the physical neighborhood environment warrant study in relation to epigenetic age.

Our study comparing individual versus neighborhood measures of SES as predictors of pain outcomes reveals two significant findings. First, neighborhood deprivation is an important predictor of musculoskeletal pain outcomes. These findings are consistent with previous studies suggesting that living in high-deprivation neighborhoods is associated with increased musculoskeletal pain and more significant interference with daily activities from pain following a motor vehicle accident (Ulirsch et al., 2014). Likewise, increased noninflammatory musculoskeletal pain interference has been noted among residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods in Norway (Brekke et al., 2002). Fuentes et al. (2007) observed that residence in low-deprivation neighborhoods is associated with lower chronic pain disability in adults over the age of 50 years. Thus, the study reported in manuscript two joins the consensus with this prior research to support

the examination of neighborhood deprivation as a predictor of pain outcomes. Specifically, this is the first study to show a relationship between neighborhood deprivation and cLBP; for adults with cLBP, ADI may be a good predictor of pain outcomes.

The second significant finding from manuscript two is that area-level measures of SES may be as effective and outperform some individual measures of SES in predicting pain outcomes. In fact, the strength of the relationships between area- and individuallevel measures of SES was slightly higher in this study compared to prior literature. Our findings suggest a moderate relationship, while Diez-Roux et al. (2001) detected only weak correlations between area- and individual-level measures of income in an examination of three U.S.-based cohorts. Likewise, Buajitti et al. (2020) reported a low correlation between area- and individual-level SES in the population-based Canadian Community Health Survey. Differences in the strength of the relationship between areaand individual-level measures may be related to the fact that while measures of SES are related, SES as a phenomenon is multidimensional (Galobardes et al., 2007; Krieger et al., 1997) and so may be best captured using a multidimensional measure. Mindful of this notion, to measure neighborhood deprivation we used ADI, which relies on 17 different indicators capturing aspects of income, education, and housing, to assess the level of deprivation. Conversely, Buajitti and colleagues (2020) used only area-level income to compare individual- and area-level measures of SES. The multidimensional nature of the ADI may help explain why area-level SES performed better in our study compared to previous literature.

While the above evidence suggested a relationship between neighborhood deprivation and musculoskeletal pain, the underlying biological mechanism driving this relationship remained unclear. The key findings from manuscript three suggest that EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and KOA pain severity. These findings add to the literature on the relationship between chronic musculoskeletal pain and neighborhood deprivation by providing, for the first time, a potential underlying explanation for worse musculoskeletal pain outcomes in poor neighborhoods. Since KOA is an age-related condition, our findings suggest that living in a high-deprivation neighborhood may induce accelerated epigenetic aging, which explains worse KOA pain severity. Thus, EpAA may play a crucial role in the welldocumented link between neighborhood deprivation and other age-related conditions. Studies investigating epigenetic age as a mediator or a predictor of age-related diseases, especially chronic pain outcomes, are limited. Joyce and colleagues (2021) found that EpAA mediated the relationship between cardiovascular risk factors and coronary artery calcification. Strath and colleagues (2022) found that EpAA mediates the relationship between vitamin D and KOA pain outcomes, while Klopack and colleagues (2022) found that epigenetic age mediated the association between exposure to smoking and the outcomes of cancer, high blood pressure, heart disease, and mortality. There is a growing interest in the relationship between epigenetic changes, SES, and health outcomes. Our findings are the first to indicate that accelerated epigenetic aging may mediate the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and age-related disease outcomes, providing a potential target for future interventions.

Strengths and Limitations

This dissertation had some significant strengths. First, manuscripts two and three offer new evidence on the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and chronic musculoskeletal pain in not only one but two different body sites—the lower back and knee. Second, both data-driven studies used diverse samples, including both men and women, with roughly half of the participants self-identifying as non-Hispanic Black. This diversity allows the findings to be more generalizable. Another strength of this dissertation was using two different instruments to measure pain severity (i.e., Brief Pain Inventory and Graded Chronic Pain Scale), reducing the likelihood that the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity is due merely to chance. Related to methodology, the findings from manuscript one revealed that there could be variation in analysis results depending on race and the type of neighborhood characteristic being assessed. Using GrimAge for estimating EpAA was a strength because GrimAge has been used successfully in neighborhood deprivation studies and racially diverse samples. Since our analysis examined neighborhood deprivation in a racially diverse sample, it was the ideal choice for the mediation analysis reported in manuscript three. Finally, using two different musculoskeletal pain conditions was a strength as it supports the role of epigenetic modifications across chronic pain conditions.

Despite the above strengths, this dissertation is not without limitations. The findings reported in manuscripts two and three relied on secondary data analysis. A disadvantage inherent to the nature of secondary data analysis is that the data were not collected specifically to address the research questions of the current study (Cheng & Phillips, 2014). Although not the original focus, this dissertation's exploration of

neighborhood deprivation aligned with the goals of both parent studies, whose data were used in manuscripts two and three. Examining socioeconomic factors involved in chronic pain was a goal for both parent studies. So, this dissertation's analysis of the relationship between neighborhood-level SES with pain outcomes remained in keeping with the broad goals and intentions of the parent studies. Another limitation is that residential information used for this dissertation study may have been applicable only at the time of data collection. The length of participants' residence in their neighborhood was unknown, and the length of time exposed to neighborhood deprivation could impact pain and EpAA. Also, though the pain data-driven studies (manuscripts two and three) used separate cohorts, both drew participants only from the deep South of the United States, thereby limiting our findings of area-level associations with pain and EpAA to this region. Finally, it is essential to note that while this dissertation's findings support the central hypothesis that neighborhood deprivation may lead to EpAA resulting in chronic pain, the correlational design limits interpretations about neighborhood deprivation playing a causal role in EpAA and worse chronic pain outcomes.

Implications for Future Research and Practice

This body of work provides several implications for future research and practice. There is a paucity of studies examining neighborhood characteristics *beyond* neighborhood SES. With our perspective and training in serving the community as the client, nurse scientists are well equipped to lead investigations that center on uncovering the many as yet unexplored neighborhood-level contributors to EpAA and the development of age-related conditions. Future studies should examine these non-

socioeconomic neighborhood characteristics, such as particulate matter, noise, and heat. Additionally, since the length of time exposed to neighborhood environmental factors is likely salient to their impact on epigenetic changes, there is a need for longitudinal studies exploring neighborhood effects on EpAA over time.

Our findings suggesting that neighborhood deprivation is associated with worse chronic musculoskeletal pain outcomes and with EpAA have research and practice implications. These results have relevance to nursing practice, particularly for public health nurses who must consider the role of the environment in health outcomes. Public health nurses should advocate for policies to eliminate neighborhood disparities, focusing on improving health at the population/community level. These findings support the need for an integrative approach in dealing with social determinants of health, as environmental factors such as those in the neighborhood environment may be driving epigenetic changes associated with individual disease vulnerabilities.

Finally, since epigenetic modifications are reversible, our findings provide potential targets for interventions. Future studies may include interventions to reverse or slow epigenetic aging. Solid recommendations for interventions cannot be made based solely on conclusions from this observational study. Thus, additional studies are needed to replicate and validate the findings from manuscript three that EpAA mediates the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and pain severity, justifying future intervention studies.

Conclusions

Residents of high-deprivation neighborhoods experience worse pain outcomes and may live 20 fewer years than residents of low-deprivation neighborhoods in the same city. While this phenomenon has been noted for generations, the physiological pathways for this relationship in adults with chronic musculoskeletal pain are understudied and poorly understood. The findings from the three manuscripts add to the body of literature on the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and chronic pain, as well as the connection between neighborhood deprivation and EpAA. Our literature review in manuscript one identified mounting evidence for an association between neighborhood deprivation and EpAA and identified several gaps in the literature, which we addressed using empirical data. In manuscript two, we found that neighborhood deprivation was a strong predictor (even better than some conventional individual SES measures) of cLBP. The findings from manuscript three support a growing consensus that neighborhood deprivation may lead to EpAA, which also correlates with more severe KOA pain. Together these results suggest that epigenetic modifications may explain the relationship between residential neighborhoods and chronic pain outcomes. While additional studies are needed to verify this link, this work provides a preliminary understanding of how living in a poor neighborhood can result in worse pain.

GENERAL LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abdallah, C. G., & Geha, P. (2017). Chronic pain and chronic stress: Two sides of the same coin? *Chronic Stress (Thousand Oaks, Calif.)*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2470547017704763
- Achenbach, J., Rhein, M., Gombert, S., Meyer-Bockenkamp, F., Buhck, M., Eberhardt, M., Leffler, A., Frieling, H., & Karst, M. (2019). Childhood traumatization is associated with differences in TRPA1 promoter methylation in female patients with multisomatoform disorder with pain as the leading bodily symptom. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 11(1), 126. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0731-0
- Allen, J. O., Watkins, D. C., Chatters, L., Geronimus, A. T., & Johnson-Lawrence, V. (2019). Cortisol and racial health disparities affecting black men in later life: Evidence from MIDUS II. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 13(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988319870969
- Amtmann, D., Cook, K. F., Jensen, M. P., Chen, W.-H., Choi, S., Revicki, D., Cella, D., Rothrock, N., Keefe, F., Callahan, L., & Lai, J.-S. (2010). Development of a PROMIS item bank to measure pain interference. *Pain*, 150(1), 173–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.04.025
- Andersson, G. B. (1999). Epidemiological features of chronic low-back pain. *The Lancet*, *354*(9178), 581–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01312-4
- Aref-Eshghi, E., Zhang, Y., Liu, M., Harper, P. E., Martin, G., Furey, A., Green, R., Sun, G., Rahman, P., & Zhai, G. (2015). Genome-wide DNA methylation study of hip and knee cartilage reveals embryonic organ and skeletal system morphogenesis as major pathways involved in osteoarthritis. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 16, 287. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-015-0745-5
- Aristizabal, M. J., Anreiter, I., Halldorsdottir, T., Odgers, C. L., McDade, T. W., Goldenberg, A., Mostafavi, S., Kobor, M. S., Binder, E. B., Sokolowski, M. B., & O'Donnell, K. J. (2020). Biological embedding of experience: A primer on epigenetics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 117(38), 23261–23269. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820838116
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616

- Aroke, E. N., Joseph, P. V., Roy, A., Overstreet, D. S., Tollefsbol, T. O., Vance, D. E., & Goodin, B. R. (2019). Could epigenetics help explain racial disparities in chronic pain? *Journal of Pain Research*, *12*, 701–710. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S191848
- Aroke, E. N., Overstreet, D. S., Penn, T. M., Crossman, D. K., Jackson, P., Tollefsbol, T. O., Quinn, T. L., Yi, N., & Goodin, B. R. (2020). Identification of DNA methylation associated enrichment pathways in adults with non-specific chronic low back pain. *Molecular Pain*, 16, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744806920972889
- Arthritis Foundation. (2019). Arthritis by the mumbers: Book of trusted facts and figures (3rd ed.). Arthritis Foundation. https://www.arthritis.org/getmedia/e1256607-fa87-4593-aa8a-8db4f291072a/2019-abtn-final-march-2019.pdf
- Artiga, S., & Hinton, E. (2018). *Beyond health care: The role of social determinants in promoting health and health equity* [Issue Brief]. Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. http://files.kff.org/attachment/issue-brief-beyond-health-care
- Austin, M. K., Chen, E., Ross, K. M., McEwen, L. M., Maclsaac, J. L., Kobor, M. S., & Miller, G. E. (2018). Early-life socioeconomic disadvantage, not current, predicts accelerated epigenetic aging of monocytes. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 97, 131– 134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.07.007
- Baker, G. T., & Sprott, R. L. (1988). Biomarkers of aging. *Experimental Gerontology*, 23(4–5), 223–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/0531-5565(88)90025-3
- Balagué, F., Mannion, A. F., Pellisé, F., & Cedraschi, C. (2012). Non-specific low back pain. *The Lancet*, 379, 482–491.
- Beard, J. R., & Bloom, D. E. (2015). Towards a comprehensive public health response to population ageing. *The Lancet*, 385(9968), 658–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61461-6
- Bell, C. G., Lowe, R., Adams, P. D., Baccarelli, A. A., Beck, S., Bell, J. T., Christensen, B. C., Gladyshev, V. N., Heijmans, B. T., Horvath, S., Ideker, T., Issa, J.-P. J., Kelsey, K. T., Marioni, R. E., Reik, W., Relton, C. L., Schalkwyk, L. C., Teschendorff, A. E., Wagner, W., ... Rakyan, V. K. (2019). DNA methylation aging clocks: Challenges and recommendations. *Genome Biology*, 20(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-019-1824-y
- Bell, J. T., Loomis, A. K., Butcher, L. M., Gao, F., Zhang, B., Hyde, C. L., Sun, J., Wu, H., Ward, K., Harris, J., Scollen, S., Davies, M. N., Schalkwyk, L. C., Mill, J., MuTHER Consortium, Williams, F. M. K., Li, N., Deloukas, P., Beck, S., ... Spector, T. D. (2014). Differential methylation of the TRPA1 promoter in pain sensitivity. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 2978. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3978

- Bereitschaft, B. (2017). Equity in neighbourhood walkability? A comparative analysis of three large U.S. cities. *Local Environment*, 22(7), 859–879. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2017.1297390
- Beulens, J. W. J., Pinho, M. G. M., Abreu, T. C., den Braver, N. R., Lam, T. M., Huss, A., Vlaanderen, J., Sonnenschein, T., Siddiqui, N. Z., Yuan, Z., Kerckhoffs, J., Zhernakova, A., Brandao Gois, M. F., & Vermeulen, R. C. H. (2022). Environmental risk factors of type 2 diabetes-an exposome approach. *Diabetologia*, 65(2), 263–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-021-05618-w
- Blagojevic, M., Jinks, C., Jeffery, A., & Jordan, K. P. (2010). Risk factors for onset of osteoarthritis of the knee in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 18(1), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2009.08.010
- Bonathan, C., Hearn, L., & Williams, A. C. de C. (2013). Socioeconomic status and the course and consequences of chronic pain. *Pain Management*, *3*(3), 159–162. https://doi.org/10.2217/pmt.13.18
- Bradshaw, A. D., & Sage, E. H. (2001). SPARC, a matricellular protein that functions in cellular differentiation and tissue response to injury. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 107(9), 1049–1054. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI12939
- Braveman, P., & Gottlieb, L. (2014). The social determinants of health: It's time to consider the causes of the causes. *Public Health Reports (Washington, D.C. : 1974)*, *129 Suppl 2*, 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/00333549141291S206
- Brekke, M., Hjortdahl, P., & Kvien, T. K. (2002). Severity of musculoskeletal pain: Relations to socioeconomic inequality. *Social Science & Medicine*, 54(2), 221– 228. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(01)00018-1
- Brockie, T. N., Heinzelmann, M., & Gill, J. (2013). A framework to examine the role of epigenetics in health disparities among Native Americans. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 2013, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/410395
- Brody, G. H., Yu, T., Chen, E., Beach, S. R. H., & Miller, G. E. (2016). Family-centered prevention ameliorates the longitudinal association between risky family processes and epigenetic aging. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 57(5), 566–574. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12495
- Brook, R. D., Franklin, B., Cascio, W., Hong, Y., Howard, G., Lipsett, M., Luepker, R., Mittleman, M., Samet, J., Smith, S. C., Tager, I., & Expert Panel on Population and Prevention Science of the American Heart Association. (2004). Air pollution and cardiovascular disease: A statement for healthcare professionals from the Expert Panel on Population and Prevention Science of the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 109(21), 2655–2671. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000128587.30041.C8

- Buajitti, E., Chiodo, S., & Rosella, L. C. (2020). Agreement between area- and individual-level income measures in a population-based cohort: Implications for population health research. SSM - Population Health, 10, 100553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100553
- Buchheit, T., Van de Ven, T., & Shaw, A. (2012). Epigenetics and the transition from acute to chronic pain. *Pain Medicine*, *13*(11), 1474–1490. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2012.01488.x
- Burri, A., Marinova, Z., Robinson, M. D., Kühnel, B., Waldenberger, M., Wahl, S., Kunze, S., Gieger, C., Livshits, G., & Williams, F. (2016). Are epigenetic factors implicated in chronic widespread pain? *Plos One*, *11*(11), e0165548. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165548
- Calvanese, V., Lara, E., Kahn, A., & Fraga, M. F. (2009). The role of epigenetics in aging and age-related diseases. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 8(4), 268–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2009.03.004
- Chaskin, R. J. (1997). Perspectives on neighborhood and community: A review of the literature. *The Social Service Review*, 71(4), 521–547.
- Cerutti, J., Lussier, A. A., Zhu, Y., Liu, J., & Dunn, E. C. (2021). Associations between indicators of socioeconomic position and DNA methylation: A scoping review. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *13*(1), 221. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-021-01189-0
- Cheng, H. G., & Phillips, M. R. (2014). Secondary analysis of existing data: Opportunities and implementation. *Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry*, 26(6), 371– 375. https://doi.org/10.11919/j.issn.1002-0829.214171
- Chidambaran, V., Zhang, X., Martin, L. J., Ding, L., Weirauch, M. T., Geisler, K., Stubbeman, B. L., Sadhasivam, S., & Ji, H. (2017). DNA methylation at the mu-1 opioid receptor gene (OPRM1) promoter predicts preoperative, acute, and chronic postsurgical pain after spine fusion. *Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine*, 10, 157–168. https://doi.org/10.2147/PGPM.S132691
- Chinn, J. J., & Hummer, R. A. (2016). Racial disparities in functional limitations among Hispanic women in the United States. *Research on Aging*, *38*(3), 399–423. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027515620244
- Chou, R. (2021, September 20). *Patient education: Low back pain in adults*. UpToDate. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/low-back-pain-in-adults-beyond-thebasics/print
- Christine, P. J., Young, R., Adar, S. D., Bertoni, A. G., Heisler, M., Carnethon, M. R., Hayward, R. A., & Diez Roux, A. V. (2017). Individual- and area-level SES in diabetes risk prediction: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 53(2), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.04.019

- Ciampi de Andrade, D., Maschietto, M., Galhardoni, R., Gouveia, G., Chile, T., Victorino Krepischi, A. C., Dale, C. S., Brunoni, A. R., Parravano, D. C., Cueva Moscoso, A. S., Raicher, I., Kaziyama, H. H. S., Teixeira, M. J., & Brentani, H. P. (2017). Epigenetics insights into chronic pain: DNA hypomethylation in fibromyalgia-a controlled pilot-study. *Pain*, *158*(8), 1473–1480. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000032
- Cieza, A., Causey, K., Kamenov, K., Hanson, S. W., Chatterji, S., & Vos, T. (2021). Global estimates of the need for rehabilitation based on the Global Burden of Disease study 2019: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet*, 396(10267), 2006–2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32340-0
- Clark, C. R., Ommerborn, M. J., Hickson, D. A., Grooms, K. N., Sims, M., Taylor, H. A., & Albert, M. A. (2013). Neighborhood disadvantage, neighborhood safety and cardiometabolic risk factors in African Americans: Biosocial associations in the Jackson Heart study. *Plos One*, 8(5), e63254. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063254
- Claudel, S. E., Adu-Brimpong, J., Banks, A., Ayers, C., Albert, M. A., Das, S. R., de Lemos, J. A., Leonard, T., Neeland, I. J., Rivers, J. P., & Powell-Wiley, T. M. (2018). Association between neighborhood-level socioeconomic deprivation and incident hypertension: A longitudinal analysis of data from the Dallas heart study. *American Heart Journal*, 204, 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ahj.2018.07.005
- Cleeland, C. S., & Ryan, K. M. (1994). Pain assessment: Global use of the Brief Pain Inventory. *Annals of the Academy of Medicine, Singapore*, 23(2), 129–138.
- Cohen, D. A., Han, B., Derose, K. P., Williamson, S., Marsh, T., Rudick, J., & McKenzie, T. L. (2012). Neighborhood poverty, park use, and park-based physical activity in a Southern California city. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(12), 2317–2325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.08.036
- Collins, J. W., Rankin, K. M., & Hedstrom, A. B. (2012). Exploring weathering: The relation of age to low birth weight among first generation and established United States-born Mexican-American women. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *16*(5), 967–972. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-011-0827-4
- Cross, M., Smith, E., Hoy, D., Nolte, S., Ackerman, I., Fransen, M., Bridgett, L., Williams, S., Guillemin, F., Hill, C. L., Laslett, L. L., Jones, G., Cicuttini, F., Osborne, R., Vos, T., Buchbinder, R., Woolf, A., & March, L. (2014). The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: Estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 73(7), 1323–1330. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204763
- Cruz-Almeida, Y., Johnson, A., Meng, L., Sinha, P., Rani, A., Yoder, S., Huo, Z., Foster, T. C., & Fillingim, R. B. (2022). Epigenetic age predictors in communitydwelling adults with high impact knee pain. *Molecular Pain*, 18,

17448069221118004. https://doi.org/10.1177/17448069221118004

- Cruz-Almeida, Y., Sinha, P., Rani, A., Huo, Z., Fillingim, R. B., & Foster, T. (2019). Epigenetic aging is associated with clinical and experimental pain in communitydwelling older adults. *Molecular Pain*, 15, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744806919871819
- Denk, F., & McMahon, S. B. (2012). Chronic pain: Emerging evidence for the involvement of epigenetics. *Neuron*, 73(3), 435–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.01.012
- Descalzi, G., Ikegami, D., Ushijima, T., Nestler, E. J., Zachariou, V., & Narita, M. (2015). Epigenetic mechanisms of chronic pain. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *38*(4), 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2015.02.001
- Deshpande, B. R., Katz, J. N., Solomon, D. H., Yelin, E. H., Hunter, D. J., Messier, S. P., Suter, L. G., & Losina, E. (2016). Number of persons with symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in the US: Impact of race and ethnicity, age, sex, and obesity. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 68(12), 1743–1750. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.22897
- de Souza, I. M. B., Sakaguchi, T. F., Yuan, S. L. K., Matsutani, L. A., do Espírito-Santo, A. de S., Pereira, C. A. de B., & Marques, A. P. (2019). Prevalence of low back pain in the elderly population: A systematic review. *Clinics*, 74, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.6061/clinics/2019/e789
- Deyo, R. A., Dworkin, S. F., Amtmann, D., Andersson, G., Borenstein, D., Carragee, E., Carrino, J., Chou, R., Cook, K., DeLitto, A., Goertz, C., Khalsa, P., Loeser, J., Mackey, S., Panagis, J., Rainville, J., Tosteson, T., Turk, D., Von Korff, M., & Weiner, D. K. (2014). Report of the NIH Task Force on research standards for chronic low back pain. *The Journal of Pain*, *15*(6), 569–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2014.03.005
- Diez Roux, A. V. (2001). Investigating neighborhood and area effects on health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *91*(11), 1783–1789. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.91.11.1783
- Diez Roux, A. V. (2016). Neighborhoods and health: what do we know? what should we do? *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(3), 430–431. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303064
- Diez-Roux, A. V., Kiefe, C. I., Jacobs, D. R., Haan, M., Jackson, S. A., Nieto, F. J., Paton, C. C., & Schulz, R. (2001). Area characteristics and individual-level socioeconomic position indicators in three population-based epidemiologic studies. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 11(6), 395–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1047-2797(01)00221-6
- Dunn, C. M., Nevitt, M. C., Lynch, J. A., & Jeffries, M. A. (2019). A pilot study of peripheral blood DNA methylation models as predictors of knee osteoarthritis

radiographic progression: Data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI). *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 16880. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-53298-9

- Dupont, C., Armant, D. R., & Brenner, C. A. (2009). Epigenetics: Definition, mechanisms and clinical perspective. *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine*, 27(5), 351–357. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1237423
- Durfey, S. N. M., Kind, A. J. H., Buckingham, W. R., DuGoff, E. H., & Trivedi, A. N. (2019). Neighborhood disadvantage and chronic disease management. *Health Services Research*, 54 Suppl 1, 206–216. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13092
- Ecker, S., & Beck, S. (2019). The epigenetic clock: A molecular crystal ball for human aging? *Aging*, *11*(2), 833–835. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101712
- Favero, M., Ramonda, R., Goldring, M. B., Goldring, S. R., & Punzi, L. (2015). Early knee osteoarthritis. *RMD Open*, 1(Suppl 1), e000062. https://doi.org/10.1136/rmdopen-2015-000062
- Ferrucci, L., Gonzalez-Freire, M., Fabbri, E., Simonsick, E., Tanaka, T., Moore, Z., Salimi, S., Sierra, F., & de Cabo, R. (2020). Measuring biological aging in humans: A quest. *Aging Cell*, 19(2), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13080
- Fiorito, G., McCrory, C., Robinson, O., Carmeli, C., Rosales, C. O., Zhang, Y., Colicino, E., Dugué, P.-A., Artaud, F., McKay, G. J., Jeong, A., Mishra, P. P., Nøst, T. H., Krogh, V., Panico, S., Sacerdote, C., Tumino, R., Palli, D., Matullo, G., ... Lifepath consortium. (2019). Socioeconomic position, lifestyle habits and biomarkers of epigenetic aging: A multi-cohort analysis. *Aging*, *11*(7), 2045–2070. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101900
- Fiorito, G., Polidoro, S., Dugué, P.-A., Kivimaki, M., Ponzi, E., Matullo, G., Guarrera, S., Assumma, M. B., Georgiadis, P., Kyrtopoulos, S. A., Krogh, V., Palli, D., Panico, S., Sacerdote, C., Tumino, R., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Stringhini, S., Severi, G., Hodge, A. M., ... Vineis, P. (2017). Social adversity and epigenetic aging: A multi-cohort study on socioeconomic differences in peripheral blood DNA methylation. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16391-5
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Morsiani, C., Conte, M., Santoro, A., Grignolio, A., Monti, D., Capri, M., & Salvioli, S. (2018). The continuum of aging and age-related diseases: Common mechanisms but different rates. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 5, 1– 23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2018.00061
- Fuentes, M., Hart-Johnson, T., & Green, C. R. (2007). The association among neighborhood socioeconomic status, race and chronic pain in black and white older adults. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 99(10), 1160–1169.

Galobardes, B., Lynch, J., & Smith, G. D. (2007). Measuring socioeconomic position in

health research. *British Medical Bulletin*, 81–82, 21–37. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldm001

- Geronimus, A. T., Hicken, M. T., Pearson, J. A., Seashols, S. J., Brown, K. L., & Cruz, T. D. (2010). Do US Black women experience stress-related accelerated biological aging?: A novel theory and first population-based test of Black-White differences in telomere length. *Human Nature (Hawthorne, N.Y.)*, 21(1), 19–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12110-010-9078-0
- Giummarra, M. J., Black, O., Smith, P., Collie, A., Hassani-Mahmooei, B., Arnold, C. A., Gong, J., & Gabbe, B. J. (2018). A population-based study of treated mental health and persistent pain conditions after transport injury. *Injury*, 49(10), 1787– 1795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2018.08.008
- Giurgescu, C., Nowak, A. L., Gillespie, S., Nolan, T. S., Anderson, C. M., Ford, J. L., Hood, D. B., & Williams, K. P. (2019). Neighborhood environment and DNA methylation: Implications for cardiovascular disease risk. *Journal of Urban Health*, 96(Suppl 1), 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-018-00341-1
- Gombert, S., Rhein, M., Winterpacht, A., Münster, T., Hillemacher, T., Leffler, A., & Frieling, H. (2019). Transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 promoter methylation and peripheral pain sensitivity in Crohn's disease. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *12*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0796-9
- Gore, M., Sadosky, A., Stacey, B. R., Tai, K.-S., & Leslie, D. (2012). The burden of chronic low back pain: Clinical comorbidities, treatment patterns, and health care costs in usual care settings. *Spine*, 37(11), E668-77. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e318241e5de
- Graham, G. N. (2016). Why your ZIP code matters more than your genetic code: Promoting healthy outcomes from mother to child. *Breastfeeding Medicine: The Official Journal of the Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine*, 11, 396–397. https://doi.org/10.1089/bfm.2016.0113
- Green, C. R., & Hart-Johnson, T. (2012). The association between race and neighborhood socioeconomic status in younger Black and White adults with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain*, *13*(2), 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2011.10.008
- Grégoire, S., Cheishvili, D., Salmon-Divon, M., Dymov, S., Topham, L., Calderon, V., Shir, Y., Szyf, M., & Stone, L. S. (2021). Epigenetic signature of chronic low back pain in human T cells. *Pain Reports (Baltimore, Md.)*, 6(4), e960. https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.00000000000000060
- Hackman, D. A., Robert, S. A., Grübel, J., Weibel, R. P., Anagnostou, E., Hölscher, C., & Schinazi, V. R. (2019). Neighborhood environments influence emotion and physiological reactivity. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45876-8

- Hall, J. M., Stevens, P. E., & Meleis, A. I. (1994). Marginalization: A guiding concept for valuing diversity in nursing knowledge development. ANS. Advances in Nursing Science, 16(4), 23–41. https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-199406000-00005
- Hallum, S. H., Hughey, S. M., Wende, M. E., Stowe, E. W., & Kaczynski, A. T. (2020). Healthy and unhealthy food environments are linked with neighbourhood socioeconomic disadvantage: An innovative geospatial approach to understanding food access inequities. *Public Health Nutrition*, 23(17), 3190–3196. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980020002104
- Hamczyk, M. R., Nevado, R. M., Barettino, A., Fuster, V., & Andrés, V. (2020). Biological versus chronological aging: JACC focus seminar. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 75(8), 919–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2019.11.062
- Handy, D. E., Castro, R., & Loscalzo, J. (2011). Epigenetic modifications: Basic mechanisms and role in cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, 123(19), 2145–2156. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.956839
- Hannum, G., Guinney, J., Zhao, L., Zhang, L., Hughes, G., Sadda, S., Klotzle, B., Bibikova, M., Fan, J.-B., Gao, Y., Deconde, R., Chen, M., Rajapakse, I., Friend, S., Ideker, T., & Zhang, K. (2013). Genome-wide methylation profiles reveal quantitative views of human aging rates. *Molecular Cell*, 49(2), 359–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.016
- Hatfield, L. A., Hoffman, R. K., Polomano, R. C., & Conley, Y. (2018). Epigenetic modifications following noxious stimuli in infants. *Biological Research for Nursing*, 20(2), 137–144. https://doi.org/10.1177/1099800417754141
- Heidari, B. (2011a). Knee osteoarthritis diagnosis, treatment and associated factors of progression: Part II. *Caspian Journal of Internal Medicine*, *2*(3), 249–255.
- Heidari, B. (2011b). Knee osteoarthritis prevalence, risk factors, pathogenesis and features: Part I. *Caspian Journal of Internal Medicine*, 2(2), 205–212.
- Hillary, R. F., Stevenson, A. J., McCartney, D. L., Campbell, A., Walker, R. M., Howard, D. M., Ritchie, C. W., Horvath, S., Hayward, C., McIntosh, A. M., Porteous, D. J., Deary, I. J., Evans, K. L., & Marioni, R. E. (2020). Epigenetic measures of ageing predict the prevalence and incidence of leading causes of death and disease burden. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *12*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00905-6
- Horvath, S. (2013). DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. *Genome Biology*, *14*(10), R115. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-r115
- Horvath, S., & Raj, K. (2018). DNA methylation-based biomarkers and the epigenetic clock theory of ageing. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 19(6), 371–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-018-0004-3

- Hsu, H., & Siwiec, R. M. (2022). Knee osteoarthritis. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Hu, M. D., Lawrence, K. G., Bodkin, M. R., Kwok, R. K., Engel, L. S., & Sandler, D. P. (2021). Neighborhood deprivation, obesity, and diabetes in residents of the US Gulf Coast. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 190(2), 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwaa206
- Hung, C.-I., Liu, C.-Y., & Fu, T.-S. (2015). Depression: An important factor associated with disability among patients with chronic low back pain. *International Journal* of Psychiatry in Medicine, 49(3), 187–198. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091217415573937
- Husky, M. M., Ferdous Farin, F., Compagnone, P., Fermanian, C., & Kovess-Masfety, V. (2018). Chronic back pain and its association with quality of life in a large French population survey. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 16(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-018-1018-4
- Irvin, M. R., Aslibekyan, S., Do, A., Zhi, D., Hidalgo, B., Claas, S. A., Srinivasasainagendra, V., Horvath, S., Tiwari, H. K., Absher, D. M., & Arnett, D. K. (2018). Metabolic and inflammatory biomarkers are associated with epigenetic aging acceleration estimates in the GOLDN study. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 10, 56. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-018-0481-4
- Jaul, E., & Barron, J. (2017). Age-related diseases and clinical and public health implications for the 85 years old and over population. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00335
- Jonsdottir, S., Ahmed, H., Tómasson, K., & Carter, B. (2019). Factors associated with chronic and acute back pain in Wales, a cross-sectional study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 20(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-2477-4
- Jordan, K. P., Thomas, E., Peat, G., Wilkie, R., & Croft, P. (2008). Social risks for disabling pain in older people: A prospective study of individual and area characteristics. *Pain*, 137(3), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2008.02.030
- Joyce, B. T., Gao, T., Zheng, Y., Ma, J., Hwang, S.-J., Liu, L., Nannini, D., Horvath, S., Lu, A. T., Bai Allen, N., Jacobs, D. R., Gross, M., Krefman, A., Ning, H., Liu, K., Lewis, C. E., Schreiner, P. J., Sidney, S., Shikany, J. M., ... Lloyd-Jones, D. (2021). Epigenetic age acceleration reflects long-term cardiovascular health. *Circulation Research*, *129*(8), 770–781. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.318965
- Jylhävä, J., Pedersen, N. L., & Hägg, S. (2017). Biological age predictors. *EBioMedicine*, 21, 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.03.046

Kawano, M. M., Araújo, I. L. A., Castro, M. C., & Matos, M. A. (2015). Assessment of

quality of life in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Acta Ortopedica Brasileira*, 23(6), 307–310. https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-785220152306150596

- Kennedy, J., Roll, J. M., Schraudner, T., Murphy, S., & McPherson, S. (2014). Prevalence of persistent pain in the U.S. adult population: New data from the 2010 national health interview survey. *The Journal of Pain*, 15(10), 979–984. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2014.05.009
- Kim, J., Yadav, M., Chaspari, T., & Ahn, C. R. (2020). Saliency detection analysis of collective physiological responses of pedestrians to evaluate neighborhood built environments. *Advanced Engineering Informatics*, 43, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2020.101035
- Klopack, E. T., Carroll, J. E., Cole, S. W., Seeman, T. E., & Crimmins, E. M. (2022). Lifetime exposure to smoking, epigenetic aging, and morbidity and mortality in older adults. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 14(1), 72. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-022-01286-8
- Kotter-Grühn, D., Kornadt, A. E., & Stephan, Y. (2015). Looking beyond chronological age: Current knowledge and future directions in the study of subjective age. *Gerontology*, 62(1), 86–93. https://doi.org/10.1159/000438671
- Krieger, N., Williams, D. R., & Moss, N. E. (1997). Measuring social class in U.S. public health research: Concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 18, 341–378.
- Kwiatkowska, K. M., Bacalini, M. G., Sala, C., Kaziyama, H., de Andrade, D. C., Terlizzi, R., Giannini, G., Cevoli, S., Pierangeli, G., Cortelli, P., Garagnani, P., & Pirazzini, C. (2020). Analysis of epigenetic age predictors in pain-related conditions. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *8*, 172. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00172
- Lanata, C. M., Chung, S. A., & Criswell, L. A. (2018). DNA methylation 101: What is important to know about DNA methylation and its role in SLE risk and disease heterogeneity. *Lupus Science & Medicine*, 5(1), e000285. https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2018-000285
- Lawrence, K. G., Kresovich, J. K., O'Brien, K. M., Hoang, T. T., Xu, Z., Taylor, J. A., & Sandler, D. P. (2020). Association of neighborhood deprivation with epigenetic aging using 4 clock metrics. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(11), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.24329
- Lawrence, R. C., Felson, D. T., Helmick, C. G., Arnold, L. M., Choi, H., Deyo, R. A., Gabriel, S., Hirsch, R., Hochberg, M. C., Hunder, G. G., Jordan, J. M., Katz, J. N., Kremers, H. M., Wolfe, F., & National Arthritis Data Workgroup. (2008). Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and other rheumatic conditions in the United States. Part II. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 58(1), 26–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23176

- Lei, M.-K., Berg, M. T., Simons, R. L., & Beach, S. R. H. (2022). Neighborhood structural disadvantage and biological aging in a sample of Black middle age and young adults. *Social Science & Medicine*, 293, 114654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114654
- Lei, M.-K., Simons, R. L., Beach, S. R. H., & Philibert, R. A. (2019). Neighborhood disadvantage and biological aging: Using marginal structural models to assess the link between neighborhood census variables and epigenetic aging. *The Journals* of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 74(7), e50–e59. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbx015
- Leite, S., Dias, M. S., Eloy, S., Freitas, J., Marques, S., Pedro, T., & Ourique, L. (2019). Physiological arousal quantifying perception of safe and unsafe virtual environments by older and younger adults. *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland)*, 19(11), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/s19112447
- Leue, C., Buijs, S., Strik, J., Lousberg, R., Smit, J., van Kleef, M., & van Os, J. (2012). Observational evidence that urbanisation and neighbourhood deprivation are associated with escalation in chronic pharmacological pain treatment: A longitudinal population-based study in the Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 2(4). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000731
- Levine, M. E. (2013). Modeling the rate of senescence: Can estimated biological age predict mortality more accurately than chronological age? *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 68(6), 667– 674. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gls233
- Li, G., Yin, J., Gao, J., Cheng, T. S., Pavlos, N. J., Zhang, C., & Zheng, M. H. (2013). Subchondral bone in osteoarthritis: Insight into risk factors and microstructural changes. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 15(6), 223. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar4405
- Li Yim, A. Y. F., Duijvis, N. W., Zhao, J., de Jonge, W. J., D'Haens, G. R. A. M., Mannens, M. M. A. M., Mul, A. N. P. M., Te Velde, A. A., & Henneman, P. (2016). Peripheral blood methylation profiling of female Crohn's disease patients. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 8, 65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0230-5
- Liang, L., Lutz, B. M., Bekker, A., & Tao, Y.-X. (2015). Epigenetic regulation of chronic pain. *Epigenomics*, 7(2), 235–245. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi.14.75
- Lin, J., & Kelley-Moore, J. (2017). Intraindividual variability in late-life functional limitations among White, Black, and Hispanic older adults. *Research on Aging*, 39(4), 549–572. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027516655583
- Litwic, A., Edwards, M. H., Dennison, E. M., & Cooper, C. (2013). Epidemiology and burden of osteoarthritis. *British Medical Bulletin*, 105, 185–199. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/lds038

- Livshits, G., Malkin, I., Freidin, M. B., Xia, Y., Gao, F., Wang, J., Spector, T. D., MacGregor, A., Bell, J. T., & Williams, F. M. K. (2017). Genome-wide methylation analysis of a large population sample shows neurological pathways involvement in chronic widespread musculoskeletal pain. *Pain*, 158(6), 1053– 1062. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000880
- Lo, J., Chan, L., & Flynn, S. (2021). A systematic review of the incidence, prevalence, costs, and activity and work limitations of amputation, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, back pain, multiple sclerosis, spinal cord injury, stroke, and traumatic brain injury in the United States: A 2019 update. *Archives of Physical Medicine* and Rehabilitation, 102(1), 115–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2020.04.001
- Loh, V. H. Y., Rachele, J. N., Brown, W. J., Ghani, F., & Turrell, G. (2018). Neighborhood disadvantage and physical function: The contributions of neighborhood-level perceptions of safety from crime and walking for recreation. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 15(8), 553–563. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2017-0423
- Lowe, R., Slodkowicz, G., Goldman, N., & Rakyan, V. K. (2015). The human blood DNA methylome displays a highly distinctive profile compared with other somatic tissues. *Epigenetics*, 10(4), 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294.2014.1003744
- MacKinnon, D. P., Fairchild, A. J., & Fritz, M. S. (2007). Mediation analysis. Annual Review of Psychology, 58, 593–614. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085542
- Malambo, P., Kengne, A. P., De Villiers, A., Lambert, E. V., & Puoane, T. (2016). Built environment, selected risk factors and major cardiovascular disease outcomes: A systematic review. *Plos One*, *11*(11), e0166846. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0166846
- Maly, A., & Vallerand, A. H. (2018). Neighborhood, socioeconomic, and racial influence on chronic pain. Pain Management Nursing: Official Journal of the American Society of Pain Management Nurses, 19(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2017.11.004
- Marioni, R. E., Shah, S., McRae, A. F., Chen, B. H., Colicino, E., Harris, S. E., Gibson, J., Henders, A. K., Redmond, P., Cox, S. R., Pattie, A., Corley, J., Murphy, L., Martin, N. G., Montgomery, G. W., Feinberg, A. P., Fallin, M. D., Multhaup, M. L., Jaffe, A. E., ... Deary, I. J. (2015). DNA methylation age of blood predicts all-cause mortality in later life. *Genome Biology*, *16*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0584-6
- Martin, C. L., Ward-Caviness, C. K., Dhingra, R., Zikry, T. M., Galea, S., Wildman, D. E., Koenen, K. C., Uddin, M., & Aiello, A. E. (2021). Neighborhood environment, social cohesion, and epigenetic aging. *Aging*, 13(6), 7883–7899. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.202814

- Matheson, F. I., Moineddin, R., Dunn, J. R., Creatore, M. I., Gozdyra, P., & Glazier, R. H. (2006). Urban neighborhoods, chronic stress, gender and depression. *Social Science & Medicine*, 63(10), 2604–2616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.07.001
- Meaney, M. J. (2010). Epigenetics and the biological definition of gene x environment interactions. *Child Development*, *81*(1), 41–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01381.x
- McEwen, B. S. (1998). Stress, adaptation, and disease: Allostasis and allostatic load. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 840, 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998.tb09546.x
- Mendelson, M. M. (2018). Epigenetic age acceleration: A biological doomsday clock for cardiovascular disease? *Circulation. Genomic and Precision Medicine*, 11(3), 1– 5. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.118.002089
- Menzies, V., Lyon, D. E., Archer, K. J., Zhou, Q., Brumelle, J., Jones, K. H., Gao, G., York, T. P., & Jackson-Cook, C. (2013). Epigenetic alterations and an increased frequency of micronuclei in women with fibromyalgia. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 2013, 795784. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/795784
- Montgomery, W., Vietri, J., Shi, J., Ogawa, K., Kariyasu, S., Alev, L., & Nakamura, M. (2016). The relationship between pain severity and patient-reported outcomes among patients with chronic low back pain in Japan. *Journal of Pain Research*, 9, 337–344. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S102063
- Moore, L. D., Le, T., & Fan, G. (2013). DNA methylation and its basic function. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *38*(1), 23–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.112
- Morrison, F. G., Miller, M. W., Logue, M. W., Assef, M., & Wolf, E. J. (2019). DNA methylation correlates of PTSD: Recent findings and technical challenges. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 90, 223–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.11.011
- Mouratidis, K. (2020). Neighborhood characteristics, neighborhood satisfaction, and well-being: The links with neighborhood deprivation. *Land Use Policy*, *99*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104886
- Mujahid, M. S., Diez Roux, A. V., Cooper, R. C., Shea, S., & Williams, D. R. (2011). Neighborhood stressors and race/ethnic differences in hypertension prevalence (the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis). *American Journal of Hypertension*, 24(2), 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajh.2010.200
- Mujahid, M. S., Diez Roux, A. V., Morenoff, J. D., Raghunathan, T. E., Cooper, R. S., Ni, H., & Shea, S. (2008). Neighborhood characteristics and hypertension. *Epidemiology*, 19(4), 590–598. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181772cb2

- Münzel, T., Gori, T., Babisch, W., & Basner, M. (2014). Cardiovascular effects of environmental noise exposure. *European Heart Journal*, 35(13), 829–836. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehu030
- Mutubuki, E. N., Beljon, Y., Maas, E. T., Huygen, F. J. P. M., Ostelo, R. W. J. G., van Tulder, M. W., & van Dongen, J. M. (2020). The longitudinal relationships between pain severity and disability versus health-related quality of life and costs among chronic low back pain patients. *Quality of Life Research*, 29(1), 275–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-019-02302-w
- Neogi, T. (2013). The epidemiology and impact of pain in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis* and Cartilage, 21(9), 1145–1153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.03.018
- Patrick, N., Emanski, E., & Knaub, M. A. (2014). Acute and chronic low back pain. *The Medical Clinics of North America*, 98(4), 777–89, xii. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2014.03.005
- Peciña, M., Love, T., Stohler, C. S., Goldman, D., & Zubieta, J.-K. (2015). Effects of the Mu opioid receptor polymorphism (OPRM1 A118G) on pain regulation, placebo effects and associated personality trait measures. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(4), 957–965. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.272
- Peffers, M. J., Balaskas, P., & Smagul, A. (2018). Osteoarthritis year in review 2017: Genetics and epigenetics. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 26(3), 304–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2017.09.009
- Perna, L., Zhang, Y., Mons, U., Holleczek, B., Saum, K.-U., & Brenner, H. (2016). Epigenetic age acceleration predicts cancer, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality in a German case cohort. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 8, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0228-z
- Peters, M. D. J., Godfrey, C. M., Khalil, H., McInerney, P., Parker, D., & Soares, C. B. (2015). Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. *International Journal of Evidence-Based Healthcare*, 13(3), 141–146. https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.0000000000000050
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (10th ed.). Wolters Kluwer.
- Polli, A., Ghosh, M., Bakusic, J., Ickmans, K., Monteyne, D., Velkeniers, B., Bekaert, B., Godderis, L., & Nijs, J. (2020). DNA methylation and brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression account for symptoms and widespread hyperalgesia in patients with chronic fatigue syndrome and comorbid fibromyalgia. *Arthritis & Rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 72(11), 1936–1944. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.41405
- Polli, A., Godderis, L., Ghosh, M., Ickmans, K., & Nijs, J. (2020). Epigenetic and miRNA expression changes in people with pain: A systematic review. *The*

Journal of Pain, 21(7-8), 763-780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.12.002

- Portela, A., & Esteller, M. (2010). Epigenetic modifications and human disease. *Nature Biotechnology*, 28(10), 1057–1068. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1685
- Prasad, S., Sung, B., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2012). Age-associated chronic diseases require age-old medicine: Role of chronic inflammation. *Preventive Medicine*, 54 Suppl, S29-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2011.11.011
- Quach, A., Levine, M. E., Tanaka, T., Lu, A. T., Chen, B. H., Ferrucci, L., Ritz, B., Bandinelli, S., Neuhouser, M. L., Beasley, J. M., Snetselaar, L., Wallace, R. B., Tsao, P. S., Absher, D., Assimes, T. L., Stewart, J. D., Li, Y., Hou, L., Baccarelli, A. A., ... Horvath, S. (2017). Epigenetic clock analysis of diet, exercise, education, and lifestyle factors. *Aging*, 9(2), 419–446. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101168
- Reyes, C., Garcia-Gil, M., Elorza, J. M., Mendez-Boo, L., Hermosilla, E., Javaid, M. K., Cooper, C., Diez-Perez, A., Arden, N. K., Bolibar, B., Ramos, R., & Prieto-Alhambra, D. (2015). Socio-economic status and the risk of developing hand, hip or knee osteoarthritis: A region-wide ecological study. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 23(8), 1323–1329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.03.020
- Reynard, L. N., & Barter, M. J. (2020). Osteoarthritis year in review 2019: Genetics, genomics and epigenetics. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 28(3), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2019.11.010
- Ribeiro, A. I., Amaro, J., Lisi, C., & Fraga, S. (2018). Neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and allostatic load: A scoping review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(6), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15061092
- Robertson, K. D. (2005). DNA methylation and human disease. *Nature Reviews*. *Genetics*, 6(8), 597–610. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1655
- Ronai, P., & Sorace, P. (2013). Chronic nonspecific low back pain and exercise. *Strength & Conditioning Journal*, 35(1), 29–32. https://doi.org/10.1519/SSC.0b013e3182822bb1
- Saini, G., Ogden, A., McCullough, L. E., Torres, M., Rida, P., & Aneja, R. (2019). Disadvantaged neighborhoods and racial disparity in breast cancer outcomes: The biological link. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 30(7), 677–686. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-019-01180-4
- Sawyer, P. J., Major, B., Casad, B. J., Townsend, S. S. M., & Mendes, W. B. (2012). Discrimination and the stress response: Psychological and physiological consequences of anticipating prejudice in interethnic interactions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(5), 1020–1026. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300620

- Schmeer, K. K., & Tarrence, J. (2018). Racial-ethnic disparities in inflammation: Evidence of weathering in childhood? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 59(3), 411–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146518784592
- Simons, R. L., Lei, M. K., Beach, S. R. H., Philibert, R. A., Cutrona, C. E., Gibbons, F. X., & Barr, A. (2016). Economic hardship and biological weathering: The epigenetics of aging in a U.S. sample of Black women. *Social Science & Medicine*, 150, 192–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.12.001
- Simons, R. L., Lei, M.-K., Klopack, E., Beach, S. R. H., Gibbons, F. X., & Philibert, R. A. (2021). The effects of social adversity, discrimination, and health risk behaviors on the accelerated aging of African Americans: Further support for the weathering hypothesis. *Social Science & Medicine*, 282, 113169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113169
- Simons, R. L., Lei, M.-K., Klopack, E., Zhang, Y., Gibbons, F. X., & Beach, S. R. H. (2021). Racial discrimination, inflammation, and chronic illness among African American women at midlife: Support for the weathering perspective. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 8(2), 339–349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00786-8
- Soriano-Tárraga, C., Mola-Caminal, M., Giralt-Steinhauer, E., Ois, A., Rodríguez-Campello, A., Cuadrado-Godia, E., Gómez-González, A., Vivanco-Hidalgo, R. M., Fernández-Cadenas, I., Cullell, N., Roquer, J., & Jiménez-Conde, J. (2017). Biological age is better than chronological as predictor of 3-month outcome in ischemic stroke. *Neurology*, *89*(8), 830–836. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000004261
- Souza Monteiro de Araujo, D., Nassini, R., Geppetti, P., & De Logu, F. (2020). TRPA1 as a therapeutic target for nociceptive pain. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, 24(10), 997–1008. https://doi.org/10.1080/14728222.2020.1815191
- Steptoe, A., & Feldman, P. J. (2001). Neighborhood problems as sources of chronic stress: Development of a measure of neighborhood problems, and associations with socioeconomic status and health. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 23(3), 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15324796ABM2303_5
- Stewart, W. F., Ricci, J. A., Chee, E., Morganstein, D., & Lipton, R. (2003). Lost productive time and cost due to common pain conditions in the US workforce. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 290(18), 2443–2454. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.290.18.2443
- Strath, L. J., Meng, L., Rani, A., Sinha, P., Johnson, A. J., Huo, Z., Foster, T. C., Edburg, J. D., Fillingim, R. B., & Cruz-Almeida, Y. (2022). Accelerated epigenetic aging mediates the association between Vitamin D levels and knee pain in communitydwelling individuals. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 26(4), 318–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-022-1758-z

- Sukenaga, N., Ikeda-Miyagawa, Y., Tanada, D., Tunetoh, T., Nakano, S., Inui, T., Satoh, K., Okutani, H., Noguchi, K., & Hirose, M. (2016). Correlation between DNA methylation of TRPA1 and chronic pain states in human whole blood cells. *Pain Medicine*, 17(10), 1906–1910. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnv088
- Tajerian, M., Alvarado, S., Millecamps, M., Dashwood, T., Anderson, K. M., Haglund, L., Ouellet, J., Szyf, M., & Stone, L. S. (2011). DNA methylation of SPARC and chronic low back pain. *Molecular Pain*, 7, 65. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8069-7-65
- Takenaka, S., Sukenaga, N., Ohmuraya, M., Matsuki, Y., Maeda, L., Takao, Y., & Hirose, M. (2020). Association between neuropathic pain characteristics and DNA methylation of transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 in human peripheral blood. *Medicine*, 99(8), e19325. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000019325
- Tammen, S. A., Friso, S., & Choi, S.-W. (2013). Epigenetics: The link between nature and nurture. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 34(4), 753–764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2012.07.018
- Tollefsbol, T. O. (2004). Methods of epigenetic analysis. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 287, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59259-828-5:001
- Treede, R.-D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., Cohen, M., Evers, S., Finnerup, N. B., First, M. B., Giamberardino, M. A., Kaasa, S., Kosek, E., Lavand'homme, P., Nicholas, M., Perrot, S., Scholz, J., Schug, S., Smith, B. H., ... Wang, S.-J. (2015). A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. *Pain*, 156(6), 1003–1007. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000160
- Tsui, J., Hirsch, J. A., Bayer, F. J., Quinn, J. W., Cahill, J., Siscovick, D., & Lovasi, G. S. (2020). Patterns in geographic access to health care facilities across neighborhoods in the United States based on data from the National Establishment Time-Series between 2000 and 2014. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(5), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.5105
- Ulirsch, J. C., Weaver, M. A., Bortsov, A. V., Soward, A. C., Swor, R. A., Peak, D. A., Jones, J. S., Rathlev, N. K., Lee, D. C., Domeier, R. M., Hendry, P. L., & McLean, S. A. (2014). No man is an island: Living in a disadvantaged neighborhood influences chronic pain development after motor vehicle collision. *Pain*, 155(10), 2116–2123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.07.025
- Visconti, V. V., Cariati, I., Fittipaldi, S., Iundusi, R., Gasbarra, E., Tarantino, U., & Botta, A. (2021). DNA methylation signatures of bone metabolism in osteoporosis and osteoarthritis aging-related diseases: An updated review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22084244
- Vos, T., Flaxman, A. D., Naghavi, M., Lozano, R., Michaud, C., Ezzati, M., Shibuya, K., Salomon, J. A., Abdalla, S., Aboyans, V., Abraham, J., Ackerman, I., Aggarwal,

R., Ahn, S. Y., Ali, M. K., Alvarado, M., Anderson, H. R., Anderson, L. M., Andrews, K. G., ... et al. (2012). Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990-2010: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, *380*(9859), 2163–2196. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61729-2

- Ward-Caviness, C. K., Pu, S., Martin, C. L., Galea, S., Uddin, M., Wildman, D. E., Koenen, K., & Aiello, A. E. (2020). Epigenetic predictors of all-cause mortality are associated with objective measures of neighborhood disadvantage in an urban population. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 12(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00830-8
- Wildsmith, E. M. (2002). Testing the weathering hypothesis among Mexican-origin women. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 12(4), 470–479.
- Wong, A. Y., Karppinen, J., & Samartzis, D. (2017). Low back pain in older adults: Risk factors, management options and future directions. *Scoliosis and Spinal Disorders*, 12, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13013-017-0121-3
- World Health Organization. (n.d.). Social determinants of health. https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab_1
- World Health Organization. (2022, July 14). *Musculoskeletal health*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/musculoskeletal-conditions
- Xiao, Q., Berrigan, D., Powell-Wiley, T. M., & Matthews, C. E. (2018). Ten-year change in neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and rates of total, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality in older US adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 187(12), 2642–2650. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwy181
- Xu, J., Murphy, S., Kochanek, K., & Arias, E. (2020). Mortality in the United States, 2018 (No. 355; NCHS Data Brief). National Center for Health Statistics. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db355-h.pdf
- Xu, R., Li, S., Li, S., Wong, E. M., Southey, M. C., Hopper, J. L., Abramson, M. J., & Guo, Y. (2021). Surrounding greenness and biological aging based on DNA methylation: A twin and family study in Australia. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 129(8), 87007. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP8793
- Young, D. A., Barter, M. J., & Soul, J. (2022). Osteoarthritis year in review: Genetics, genomics, epigenetics. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 30(2), 216–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2021.11.004
- Yu, D., Peat, G., Jordan, K. P., Bailey, J., Prieto-Alhambra, D., Robinson, D. E., Strauss, V. Y., Walker-Bone, K., Silman, A., Mamas, M., Blackburn, S., Dent, S., Dunn, K., Judge, A., Protheroe, J., & Wilkie, R. (2021). Estimating the population health burden of musculoskeletal conditions using primary care electronic health records. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*, 60(10), 4832-4843.

https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/keab109

- Zhang, Yan, Wilson, R., Heiss, J., Breitling, L. P., Saum, K.-U., Schöttker, B., Holleczek, B., Waldenberger, M., Peters, A., & Brenner, H. (2017). DNA methylation signatures in peripheral blood strongly predict all-cause mortality. *Nature Communications*, 8, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14617
- Zhang, Yanfei, Fukui, N., Yahata, M., Katsuragawa, Y., Tashiro, T., Ikegawa, S., & Lee, M. T. M. (2016). Identification of DNA methylation changes associated with disease progression in subchondral bone with site-matched cartilage in knee osteoarthritis. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 34460. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34460
- Zhao, X., Lynch, J. G., & Chen, Q. (2010). Reconsidering Baron and Kenny: Myths and truths about mediation analysis. *The Journal of Consumer Research*, 37(2), 197– 206. https://doi.org/10.1086/651257

APPENDIX A

UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA AT BIRMINGHAM INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL LETTER



IRB Personnel eForm

GENERAL INFORMATION

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Project Title Racial and Socioed nic Differences in Chronic Low Back Pain

IRB Project Number IRB-170119003

Investigator Assurance

All key personnel listed on the protocol have completed initial IRB training and have or will complete continuing IRB training as required, and
All personnel are qualified and licensed/credentialed for the procedures they will be performing, if applicable.

PERSONNEL

Click here to add new key personnel. See the Key Personnel Flowchart.

To remove personnel, enter an end date into the personnel record below.

See the Other Personnel section of this form for how to add UAB, Children's of Alabama, Lakeshore, or BVAMC staff members not in the picklist. All other non-affiliated personnel should be added via Project Revision/Amendment Form.

FDA: For studies involving investigational drugs, list all investigators who will be listed on FDA Form 1572 and include a copy of the 1572. Send the IRB a copy of Form 1572 any time you update the form with the FDA.

Name Jackson, Pame	ła					
Email	jacksop2@uab.edu					
Department	Nursing Acad Affairs					
Principal Investigator Start Date		Start Date			End Date	* Bole
		15-May-203	19			Other Personnel
Certifications						
	Certification		Begin	End		
IRB Initial Train	ning - CITI		04-Apr-2019	04-Apr-2022		
IRB ICH-GCP			06-May-2019	06-May-2022		
Financial Conflict of Interest		30-Jan-2020	30-Jan-2024			
Financial Conflict of Interest in Research - 4th Yr Refresher		12-Nov-2020	12-Nov-2024			
submission:						
Involved in	the design of the human sul	bjects research				
😴 Obtaining i	informed consent*					
Interacting	/intervening with participant	ts for research pu	irposes			
😴 Obtaining j	private identifiable data or io	ientifiable specim	nens			
Administer	ing investigational (non-FDA-					
	a second second as a	approved) produc	ct (e.g., drug, c	levice, or biologic)		
Named on	the FDA 1572 or device agree	approved) produc ement*	ct (e.g., drug, c	levice, or biologic)		
Named on Required to	the FDA 1572 or device agree o complete sponsor's conflict	approved) produc ement* t of interest form*	ct (e.g., drug, c	levice, or biologic)		
 Named on Required to Yes Is the indi 	the FDA 1572 or device agree o complete sponsor's conflict vidual named above <u>"respon</u>	approved) produc ement* t of interest form* <u>isible″ for the des</u>	ct (e.g., drug, c ign, conduct, i	levice, or biologic)	research?	
Named on Required to Yes Is the indi No Will the indi	the FDA 1572 or device agree o complete sponsor's conflict vidual named above <u>"respon</u> dividual named above be inv	approved) produc ement* t of interest form* <u>isible" for the des</u> olved in explainin	ct (e.g., drug, c ign, conduct, r ng the study, ri	levice, or biologic) or reporting of the sk-benefit, and/or	research? alternatives to potential participants	2
Named on Required to Yes Is the indi No Will the indi No Does this i	the FDA 1572 or device agree o complete sponsor's conflict vidual named above <u>"respon</u> dividual named above be inv ndividual have a financial int	approved) produc ement* t of interest form* <u>usible" for the des</u> volved in explainin erest in this proje	ct (e.g., drug, c ign, conduct, r ng the study, ri ect (see below	levice, or biologic) or reporting of the sk-benefit, and/or for definition)?	r <u>esearch</u> ? alternatives to potential participants	7

APPENDIX B

DATA TRANSFER AND USE AGREEMENT

Agreement ID: AGR00025510

FDP Data Transfer and Use	e Agreement ("Agreement")					
Provider: University of Florida Board of Trustees	The Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama for the University of Alabama at Birmingham					
Provider Scientist Name: Yenisel Cruz-Almeida Email: cryeni@ufl.edu	Recipient Scientist Name: Edwin Aroke Email: earoke@uab.edu					
Agreement Term Start Date: 6/13/2022	Project Title: Neighborhood Deprivation and Epigenetic Age Acceleration in					
End Date: Three (3) Years after the Start Da	te Attachment 2 Type: Limited Data Set					
Terms and Conditions						
 Provider shall provide the data set described in Attachment 1 (the "Data") to Recipient for the research purpose set forth in Attachment 1 (the "Project"). Provider shall retain ownership of any rights it may have in the Data, and Recipient does not obtain any rights in the Data other than as set forth herein. 						
2) If applicable, reimbursement of any costs associated with the preparation, compilation, and transfer of the Data to the Recipient will be addressed in Attachment 1.						
3) Recipient shall not use the Data except as authorized under this Agreement. The Data will be used solely to conduct the Project and solely by Recipient Scientist and Recipient's faculty, employees, fellows, students, and agents ("Recipient Personnel") and Collaborator Personnel (as defined in Attachment 3) that have a need to use, or provide a service in respect of, the Data in connection with the Project and whose obligations of use are consistent with the terms of this Agreement (collectively, "Authorized Persons").						
Except as authorized under this Agreement or otherwise required by law, Recipient agrees to retain control over the Data and shall not disclose, release, sell, rent, lease, loan, or otherwise grant access to the Data to any third party, except Authorized Persons, without the prior written consent of Provider. Recipient agrees to establish appropriate administrative, technical, and physical safeguards to prevent unauthorized use of or access to the Data and comply with any other special requirements relating to safeguarding of the Data as may be set forth in Attachment 2.						
5) Recipient agrees to use the Data in compliance w as all professional standards applicable to such re	ith all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, as well esearch.					
6) Recipient is encouraged to make publicly available a paper or abstract for publication or otherwise interesting results of the Project, the Provider will have thirty manuscripts and ten (10) days from receipt to rev appropriately protected. Provider may request in the disclosure be delayed for up to thirty (30) addition information.	e the results of the Project. Before Recipient submits ends to publicly disclose information about the (30) days from receipt to review proposed iew proposed abstracts to ensure that the Data is writing that the proposed publication or other al days as necessary to protect proprietary					
information.						

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E483B5C-4BED-4171-BB9B-911E408B187B

FDP Data Transfer and Use Agreement

Agreement ID: AGR00025510

- 7) Recipient agrees to recognize the contribution of the Provider as the source of the Data in all written, visual, or oral public disclosures concerning Recipient's research using the Data, as appropriate in accordance with scholarly standards and any specific format that has been indicated in Attachment 1.
- 8) Unless terminated earlier in accordance with this section or extended via a modification in accordance with Section 13, this Agreement shall expire as of the End Date set forth above. Either party may terminate this Agreement with thirty (30) days written notice to the other party's Authorized Official as set forth below. Upon expiration or early termination of this Agreement, Recipient shall follow the disposition instructions provided in Attachment 1, provided, however, that Recipient may retain one (1) copy of the Data to the extent necessary to comply with the records retention requirements under any law, and for the purposes of research integrity and verification.
- 9) Except as provided below or prohibited by law, any Data delivered pursuant to this Agreement is understood to be provided "AS IS." PROVIDER MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS AND EXTENDS NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED. THERE ARE NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR THAT THE USE OF THE DATA WILL NOT INFRINGE ANY PATENT, COPYRIGHT, TRADEMARK, OR OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHTS. Notwithstanding, Provider, to the best of its knowledge and belief, has the right and authority to provide the Data to Recipient for use in the Project.
- 10) Except to the extent prohibited by law, the Recipient assumes all liability for damages which may arise from its use, storage, disclosure, or disposal of the Data. The Provider will not be liable to the Recipient for any loss, claim, or demand made by the Recipient, or made against the Recipient by any other party, due to or arising from the use of the Data by the Recipient, except to the extent permitted by law when caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Provider. No indemnification for any loss, claim, damage, or liability is intended or provided by either party under this Agreement.
- 11) Neither party shall use the other party's name, trademarks, or other logos in any publicity, advertising, or news release without the prior written approval of an authorized representative of that party. The parties agree that each party may disclose factual information regarding the existence and purpose of the relationship that is the subject of this Agreement for other purposes without written permission from the other party provided that any such statement shall accurately and appropriately describe the relationship of the parties and shall not in any manner imply endorsement by the other party whose name is being used.
- 12) Unless otherwise specified, this Agreement and the below listed Attachments embody the entire understanding between Provider and Recipient regarding the transfer of the Data to Recipient for the Project:
 - I. Attachment 1: Project Specific Information
 - II. Attachment 2: Data-specific Terms and Conditions
 - III. Attachment 3: Identification of Permitted Collaborators (if any)
- 13) No modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and executed by dulyauthorized representatives of both parties.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E483B5C-4BED-4171-BB9B-911E408B187B

Agreement ID: AGR00025510

14) The undersigned Authorized Officials of Provider and Recipient expressly represent and affirm that the contents of any statements made herein are truthful and accurate and that they are duly authorized to sign this Agreement on behalf of their institution.

By an Authorized Official of Provider: Sharrie R. Sawar Name: Sherrie R. Bowen, JD, CRCP Title: OCR Contracting Team Lead Contact Information for Formal Notices: Name: Office of Clinical Research Address: 1300 Center Drive Rm 106 Gainesville FL 32611	Signature: Mudde H. Content Email: mcotten@uab.edu 07/19/2022 Name: Melinda T. Cotten Date Title: Associate Vice President Research Business Op. Contact Information for Formal Notices: Name: Office of Sponsored Programs Address: 1720 2nd Ave South AB 1170 Birmingham, AL 35294-0111
Email: OCR-Contracting@ahc.ufl.edu	Email: osp@uab.edu
Phone: 352-273-5946	Phone: 205-934-5266
FDP Data Transfer and Use Agreement

Agreement ID: AGR00025510

Attachment 1 Data Transfer and Use Agreement Project Specific Information

1. Description of Data:

More detail to be provided by UF Study Team

Epigenetic data, clinical measurements, socioeconomic variables, and demographics.

2. Description of Project:

This project will investigate the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and epigenetic age acceleration in chronic pain.

3. Provider Support and Data Transmission:

Provider shall transmit the Data to Recipient: (select one) velocitonically or by mail to:

Name:	Edwin Aroke	
Address:	s: 1720 2nd Avenue S Birmingham, AL 35294-1210	
Email:	earoke@uab.edu	
Phone:	205-975-5700	

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E483B5C-4BED-4171-BB9B-911E408B187B

FDP Data Transfer and Use Agreement

Agreement ID: AGR00025510

Upon execution of this Agreement, Provider shall send any specific instructions necessary to complete the transfer of the Data to the contact person listed above, if not already included below in this section of Attachment 1.

- * Format of the Data
- * Provision of the Data dictionary
- * Availability of the Provider to assist the Recipient in understanding the Data structure (e.g. variables, code lists, etc.) * If/how the Data will be revised and resent if errors are found by the Recipient
- * Specific instructions necessary to complete the transmission of the Data, if
- available/appropriate, and any support supplied by the Provider for the transmission * Specific instructions regarding public disclosures and other scholarly standards.

4. Reimbursement of Costs:

I,	7	None
		NONE

As governed by a separate written agreement between the parties Reimbursement Agreement Reference # (if required):



5. Disposition Requirements upon the termination or expiration of the Agreement: The Recipient will return or destroy all copies of the Data in accordance with the Provider's instructions at time of Agreement termination or expiration.

FDP Data Transfer and Use Agreement

Agreement ID: AGR00025510

Attachment 2
Data Transfer and Use Agreement
Data-specific Terms and Conditions:
Limited Data Set

Additional Terms and Conditions:

- 1. Nothing herein shall authorize the Recipient to use or further disclose the Data in a manner that would violate the requirements of Provider under 45 CFR 164.514.
- Recipient shall not use or further disclose the Data other than as permitted by this Agreement or as otherwise required by law.
- 3. Recipient shall report to the Provider any use or disclosure of the Data not provided for by this Agreement within 5 business days of when it becomes aware of such use or disclosure.
- 4. Provider is a HIPAA Covered Entity, and the Data will be a Limited Data Set as defined by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ("HIPAA"). In accordance with Section 164.514(e)(2) of the HIPAA Privacy Rule, the Data shall exclude the following direct identifiers of the individual or of relatives, employers, or household members of the individual:
 - (i) Names;
 - (ii) Postal address information, other than town or city, State, and zip code;
 - (iii) Telephone numbers;
 - (iv) Fax numbers;
 - (v) Electronic mail addresses;
 - (vi) Social security numbers;
 - (vii) Medical record numbers;
 - (viii) Health plan beneficiary numbers;
 - (ix) Account numbers;
 - (x) Certificate/license numbers;
 - (xi) Vehicle identifiers and serial numbers, including license plate numbers;
 - (xii) Device identifiers and serial numbers;
 - (xiii) Web Universal Resource Locators (URLs);
 - (xiv) Internet Protocol (IP) address numbers;
 - (xv) Biometric identifiers, including finger and voice prints; and
 - (xvi) Full face photographic images and any comparable images.

If the Data being provided is coded, the Provider will not release, and the Recipient will not request, the key to the code.

- 5. Recipient will not use the Data, either alone or in concert with any other information, to make any effort to identify or contact individuals who are or may be the sources of Data without specific written approval from Provider and appropriate Institutional Review Board approval, if required pursuant to 45 CFR 46. Should Recipient inadvertently receive identifiable information or otherwise identify a subject, Recipient shall promptly notify Provider and follow Provider's reasonable written instructions, which may include return or destruction of the identifiable information.
- 6. By signing this Agreement, Recipient provides assurance that relevant institutional policies and applicable federal, state, or local laws and regulations (if any) have been followed, including the completion of any IRB or ethics review or approval that may be required.
- The parties agree to take such action as is necessary to amend this Agreement, from time to time, in order for the Provider to remain in compliance with the requirements of HIPAA.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 8E483B5C-4BED-4171-BB9B-911E408B187B

FDP Data Transfer and Use Agreement

Agreement ID: AGR00025510

Attachment 3 Data Transfer and Use Agreement Identification of Permitted Collaborators (if any)

For all purposes of this Agreement, the definition of "Collaborator Personnel" checked below will pertain:

"Collaborator Personnel" means: None. No collaborators are permitted on the Project.

-OR-

"Collaborator Personnel" means as set forth below and agreed upon between the Parties: "Collaborator Personnel" means: faculty, employees, fellows, or students of an academic institution, which institution (i) has agreed to collaborate in the Project, (ii) has faculty, employees, fellows, or students who have a need to use or provide a service in respect of the Data in connection with its collaboration in the Project, and (iii) has executed an agreement that is substantially similar to this Agreement.